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1 P R O C E E D I N G S

2 THE COURT:  Is the State ready?

3 MS. GONZALEZ:  Yes, Your Honor, the State is ready.

4 THE COURT:  Ready, Mr. Kirby?

5 MR. KIRBY:  I renew my request for a continuance,

6 Judge.  I understand the Court's position in terms of

7 wanting to do this revocation here today.  I am asking for

8 that so I can make sure that Mr. Pittard understands all

9 the things that are going on here.

10 We have been in some talks with the State to resolve

11 this case globally, and with the new offer here today, my

12 concern is that I can't adequately advise Mr. Pittard about

13 that -- about some of the parole issues that might be

14 involved and some of the other issues.

15 So we're asking for that, and if not, we'll be ready

16 to go.

17 THE COURT:  I'll state for the record this hearing was

18 noticed on November the 17th of 2022, putting it out some

19 for today, which is further out than we typically do,

20 significantly further out, to allow for time to deal with

21 the complexities.  So the motion to continue is denied.

22 You may proceed.

23 MS. GONZALEZ:  Good morning, Your Honor.  This is case

24 State versus Miquan Pittard.  It is a probation revocation

25 hearing.  These are Case Numbers SU-22-CR-0200-R1 and   
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1 SU-21-CR-0872-R1.  

2 So the State will be presenting some witnesses and

3 evidence to prove these underlying violations of the

4 conditions, but especially special conditions that were set

5 on the probation and the sentence for Mr. Pittard.

6 THE COURT:  All right.

7 MS. GONZALEZ:  And that's my opening.

8 THE COURT:  I didn't know if an opening was necessary. 

9 Are you asking to make one?

10 MS. GONZALEZ:  No, no.  That was just the introduction

11 to the case.  I will be calling my witnesses now.

12 THE COURT:  Okay.  Anything preliminary, Mr. Kirby?

13 MR. KIRBY:  Yes, in fact, Judge.   We would ask the

14 Court to summarily dismiss the allegations in the addendum

15 for vagueness.  I understand what the Court's -- or what

16 the Probation has alleged is that Mr. Pittard had contact

17 with gang members on a certain date.  I don't know who

18 those gang members are, what gang they're in -- any ability

19 to identify who those people are.  

20 The State has turned over a number of Instagram posts

21 and phones and all that sort of thing, but I don't know who

22 they are, and for vagueness and due process concerns, we'd

23 ask the Court to dismiss those outright.

24 THE COURT:  Do you want to respond?

25 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, we will be bringing two
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1 witnesses to be validated as gang experts and will be going

2 over the verification process of gang members and the

3 individuals that Mr. Pittard was seen with.  We will be

4 introducing evidence in video form as well as photos that

5 indicate that those individuals are in fact gang members.

6 THE COURT:  I think his motion goes to identifying the

7 members in the addendum.  Am I correct?

8 MR. KIRBY:  That's correct, Judge, and we can get into

9 the -- I wasn't aware of gang experts or anything like

10 that.  If we're doing that under 418, then I would have

11 something to address with that, but for now it is a

12 vagueness issue on the addendum as well as the last count

13 on the -- as well as the last count on the original

14 petition.  It has to do with the contact of gang members

15 that I don't know who they are.  I don't know what that

16 contact was.  I don't know -- It's a due process issue, I

17 guess. 

18 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, those Instagram messages as

19 well as the other evidence was provided to the Defense. 

20 I'm not sure if he got through them, but that shouldn't be

21 a reason not to admit them in.

22 THE COURT:  I'll deny the motion at this time.

23 MR. KIRBY:  Okay.

24 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, we'd also like to invoke

25 the Rule of Sequestration.  We do not know if Defense is
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1 going to provide any witnesses, but we have received a

2 witness list so we just want to make sure that that Rule is

3 invoked.

4 THE COURT:  Okay.  The Rule of Sequestration has been

5 invoked.  If there is anyone that is going to testify, they

6 would need to leave the courtroom until they are called,

7 cannot discuss their testimony with anyone or allow anyone

8 to discuss their testimony with them.

9 MS. GONZALEZ:  Okay, Your Honor.

10 THE COURT:  All right.  You have no witnesses here?

11 MR. KIRBY:  None that would be speaking substantively

12 as part of the evidence -- as part of any fact-finding

13 issue.

14 THE COURT:  All right.  Okay.

15 You may proceed.

16 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you.  Your Honor, the State calls

17 as its first witness Officer Juan Guardado.

18 STATE'S CASE:

19 JUAN GUARDADO

20 having been duly sworn, testified as follows:

21 DIRECT EXAMINATION

22 BY MS. GONZALEZ:

23 Q You can take your seat, and as you do that, please

24 speak directly into the microphone so that we can hear you and

25 state your name and spell it for the record.
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1 A Juan Guardado, J-U-A-N.  My last name is G-U-A-R-D-A-

2 D-O.

3 Q Thank you.

4 And where are you employed, Officer Guardado?

5 A With the Athens-Clarke County Police Department.

6 Q In what capacity?

7 A Right now I'm assigned to the gang unit as a gang

8 investigator.

9 Q Thank you.

10 And how long have you served in that current capacity?

11 A Since March of 2018.

12 Q What are your professional duties in that capacity?

13 A Most of my duties are to gather information about

14 current gangs, their trends, where they hang out, their rivals,

15 and primarily identifying members of said gangs.

16 Q Thank you.

17 And are you POST certified?

18 A I am.

19 Q What sort of specialized training have you received to

20 perform these particular duties in the gang unit?

21 A Since I became a gang investigator in 2018 I have

22 attended several classes that are 36, 8 hours, 40 hours long. 

23 Some of those classes have been through the Georgia Gang

24 Investigator Association.  Some of them have been through our

25 basic POST gang certification.  Some of them have been through
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1 the Regional Counterdrug Training Academy.  Since I became a

2 gang investigator, I have been attending most of the GGIA gang

3 conferences that are about a week long.

4 Q And what does GGIA stand for?

5 A Georgia Gang Investigator Association.

6 Q Thank you so much.

7 And do you hold any degrees or certifications through

8 those trainings?

9 A I hold a degree, a bachelor's degree, for criminal

10 justice.

11 Q Okay.  Thank you.

12 And are you a member of any law enforcement

13 organizations?

14 A I am.  I am a member, extended member, of GGIA. 

15 Q And have you received any awards or recognition for

16 your law enforcement service?

17 A I have.  I have been recognized as the employee of the

18 quarter on a couple of occasions.  I also was nominated as the 

19 Sherm Applebaum recipient in 2018.

20 Q Thank you.

21 Have you ever been asked to make presentations on law

22 enforcement topics including gangs to any professional

23 organizations or other law enforcement agencies?

24 A Not presentations, but I have helped within our

25 department to present gang class to our new officers.  I've also

9



1 been part of presentations to the D.A. personnel and our judges

2 and our commissioners and our Mayor.

3 Q Thank you so much.

4 I want to transition now to the issue of gangs or

5 criminal street gangs.  What are your duties as a gang

6 investigator? -- if you can just reiterate.  I know you spoke a

7 little bit to that before.

8 A Yes, ma'am.  So essentially one of my primary jobs is

9 to gather intelligence on gangs, on local gangs, its members,

10 its trends, their territories, their rivals, and the crimes that

11 they may be engaged in.

12 Q Thank you.

13 Are you familiar with the laws of Georgia or any other

14 jurisdiction when it comes to criminal street gangs?

15 A I am.

16 Q And how did you come across with being familiar with

17 those laws?

18 A I attended the courses that I have mentioned before.

19 Q Okay.  And you said that you studied some gang trends. 

20 Is it just in Georgia?  Is in the area of Athens-Clarke County?

21 A It's mostly in Athens-Clarke County, but I'm familiar

22 with some of our national gangs across the nation.

23 Q Okay.  And what sources do you rely on for that?

24 A The training classes that I have taken.  Also I have

25 attended intel meetings that we have or that they host
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1 throughout the Atlanta area.

2 Q Okay.

3 A I've also received -- We receive newsletters from GGIA

4 explaining current trends about gangs and keeping us up to date.

5 Q Thank you.

6 In terms of your personal experience and your role as

7 gang investigator for the ACCPD, can you provide an estimate

8 about how many gangs you have investigated and how many cases

9 during that time that you've been there?

10 A Yes.  I would say that I have come across members of,

11 I would say, more than 20 gangs.  As far as cases, it's hard for

12 me to put a number, but I would say -- sorry, about members --

13 over a hundred.

14 Q Thank you.

15 And during your work do you come in contact with gang

16 members?

17 A I do.

18 Q How many times do you think in that time that you've

19 had contact with gang members?

20 A Since I first became a patrol officer working the

21 streets, obviously you come into contact with people that you

22 believe are gang members.  I didn't have the training to

23 properly identify them as that, but once I became an

24 investigator and that was my job, I constantly deal, talk to,

25 and engage with gang members.
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1 Q Thank you.

2 And have -- Your contacts with them, have they been

3 part official investigations or been part of intelligence

4 gathering?

5 A It's a little bit of everything.  Like I said, my

6 primary job is to gather intel and a lot of them, most of them,

7 have been investigations where the gang members have been the

8 victims, witnesses, or the actual suspects.

9 Q Thank you.

10 And you did say that you stay current on the gang

11 trends and then you share that information that you learn?

12 A I try to, yes, ma'am.

13 Q And who do you share them with?

14 A So we share it within our unit.  I also work closely

15 with the GBI and the FBI Safe Streets here in Athens.

16 Q Okay.  In that experience and training that you just

17 described, have you developed a familiarity with criminal street

18 gangs, their activities, customs, and behavior in Athens-Clarke

19 County?

20 A Yes, ma'am.

21 Q Can you provide -- When you've done some of that

22 intelligence gathering, have those been with individuals who

23 were in custody?

24 A No, ma'am.  So they can come -- So we deal a lot with

25 social media, and as I'm looking through social media, I may see
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1 something that sparks my attention that's gang related and we

2 immediately start looking into that person to see what we can

3 learn about them and to see if we can validate them as suspected

4 gang members.

5 Q Okay.  Thank you.

6 Have you testified in Athens-Clarke County before on

7 this issue?

8 A Yes, ma'am.

9 Q About how many times have you testified on the issues

10 of gangs and criminal street gang activity?

11 A Several times.  What I can tell you is that I have

12 been rendered as a gang expert twice in Magistrate Court.

13 Q Okay.

14 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, the State moves to have

15 Officer Juan Guardado be declared as an expert in criminal

16 street gangs and criminal gang activity.

17 THE COURT:  Any objection?

18 MR. KIRBY:  A brief voir dire, Judge?

19 THE COURT:  Yes.

20 VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION

21 BY MR. KIRBY:

22 Q Officer Guardado, you -- I guess the testimony that I

23 heard was that you had spoken with a hundred gang members; is

24 that right?

25 A At least, sir, yes.
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1 Q Okay, at least.  And how do you know if someone's a

2 gang member?

3 A We have a -- We have what we call a validation process

4 in which we look at certain things that will indicate that

5 they're members of a gang.  We look at things that are listed in

6 the gang code section as far as a common name, tattoos, hand

7 signs, terms, clothing, and other characteristics that apply to

8 a particular gang.

9 Q Okay.  Could you refer -- I guess repeat what it is

10 that you -- how you describe that in terms of having -- Is it

11 like a grid?  Is it published guidelines?

12 A Well, we base it off our code section, and it's

13 something that we gathered from -- that I have gathered from my

14 training.  It's essentially 14 criteria that we use.

15 Q Okay.  And what are those criteria?

16 A If you give me one second.  So we have report of being

17 beat in, blessed in, or sexed in.

18 Q I'm sorry.  What is that?

19 A Being beat in.

20 Q Oh, beat in.  I see.

21 A Yeah.  Sorry.  Blessed in, sexed in.  That's one

22 criteria.  

23 The second one is statement of a gang or statement of

24 a said affiliation; graffiti on clothing or personal items; 

25 hand signs or stacking; using gang colors, symbols and/or terms;
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1 known gang associates; outside jurisdiction information as far

2 as gang affiliation.  We look at violent crime and/or weapons

3 arrests.  We look at branding and/or tattooing; validation from

4 outside agency gang unit.  We look at correspondence that has a

5 gang member named.  We look at pattern of criminal activity in

6 regards as to felonies and misdemeanors.  We look at custodial

7 gang admission under Miranda.  And we also look at possession of

8 gang writings or gang knowledge.

9 Q Okay.  And how many of these criteria does someone

10 have to meet to be labeled as a gang member?

11 A I'm glad you asked that.  In order to be validated as

12 an associate, we look at people -- so -- Let me back up.

13 From the criteria, each criteria is issued different

14 points.  If you meet a minimum of five points all the way up to

15 nine, the person's considered an associate of a gang.

16 Once a person meets more -- ten or more, they're

17 considered a member through our validation process.

18 Q And who came up with this validation process?

19 A It's something that I obtained from the basic gang

20 investigator course at GPSTC and through GGIA.

21 Q Do you know where they got it from?

22 A I have no clue, sir.

23 Q All right.  So is each one of these one point?

24 A No, sir.  I can give you the points for each one if

25 you want.
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1 Q Okay.

2 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, objection here.  The

3 objection I understand is about him being qualified as an

4 expert, not necessarily going into the next part of, you

5 know, the discussions of how you identify a gang member or

6 not.

7 MR. KIRBY:  I haven't made an objection yet, Judge. 

8 I'm just trying to do some voir dire.  I think in order for

9 him to be admitted as an expert that the foundation of how

10 he's making an assessment and his knowledge has to be based

11 on principles, reliable principles.  This certainly would

12 help the Court understand those principles.

13 THE COURT:  I appreciate your help with me

14 understanding, but I think that's further than voir dire to

15 determine if he's an expert goes -- as far as the

16 assignment of points was your last question that was

17 objected to -- how many points for which acts or which

18 criteria.

19 MR. KIRBY:  I wasn't going to have him read off the

20 points.

21 THE COURT:  I thought you were.

22 MR. KIRBY:  Oh, no.  He offered to do that.

23 THE COURT:  Okay.

24 MR. KIRBY:  I just wanted to know if each one was a

25 point.
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1 THE COURT:  I'll sustain the objection.  You can ask

2 another one.

3 MR. KIRBY:  Okay.

4 Q (by Mr. Kirby)  And so is it just you who is in charge

5 of validating gang members?

6 A No, sir.  So currently there's -- well, we just lost

7 one.  There's a total of four gang investigators -- well, three

8 gang investigators and then we have a supervisor.

9 MS. GONZALEZ:  Again, Your Honor, I'm going to object

10 that this is beyond trying to find out his qualifications.

11 THE COURT:  This is just to determine about him being

12 qualified as an expert.

13 MR. KIRBY:  Okay.  And Judge, I'm just trying to

14 understand the process here.

15 THE COURT:  There will be an opportunity perhaps to do

16 that, but I don't think that is relevant to determining

17 whether he can testify as an expert of not.

18 MR. KIRBY:  Okay.  Then I guess we'll get to that.

19 I would object to Officer Guardado being admitted as

20 an expert because I don't think that the Court has

21 sufficient evidence of the principles on which he is going

22 to offer opinions on.  Without an ability to get into that,

23 we would object.

24 THE COURT:  The objection is noted.  I will overrule

25 the objection and allow the witness to testify as an expert
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1 in the area of criminal street gangs and criminal street

2 gang activity.

3 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you, Your Honor.

4 CONTINUED DIRECT EXAMINATION

5 BY MS. GONZALEZ:

6 Q If we can continue, Officer Guardado, thank you very

7 much.

8 Are you aware of the legal definition of criminal gang

9 activity and criminal street gang under Georgia law?

10 A Yes, ma'am.

11 Q Okay.  Can you just define for us what those are?

12 A Yes.  So a criminal gang is any organization,

13 association, or group of three or more associated in fact,

14 whether formally or informal, and whose members participate in

15 criminal street gang crime.  Those organizations, associations,

16 or groups can be established through a common name, common

17 symbols, signs, attire, and other characteristics pertaining to

18 that gang, criminal street gang.  

19 Criminal street gang crime or activity is defined as

20 any crime listed under the racketeering state law, which I

21 cannot begin to tell you.  It's a very big list, but mostly to

22 include most aggravated assaults, robberies, possession of

23 marijuana with intent to distribute, and so on and so forth.

24 Q Okay.  Thank you.

25 Is there something called a gang triangle or something
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1 about a nexus?

2 A Yes, ma'am.

3 Q And can you explain that for the Court, please.

4 A So that's just a visual aid for gang investigators to

5 be able to look at the crime, at the criminal, crime -- sorry --

6 at the crime and to be able to link it to the gang and to the

7 gang member.

8 Q Thank you so much.

9 And you had talked about, you know, you've been doing

10 a lot of work within Athens-Clarke County and the gangs.  Can

11 you tell us a little bit about what sort of crimes that you've

12 identified some gang members as being responsible for?

13 A Yes, ma'am.  So it extends from --

14 MR. KIRBY:  I'm going to object to relevancy here.  If

15 Officer Guardado has been admitted as an expert, then what

16 other people have done or other investigations that he's

17 done no longer seem relevant.

18 THE COURT:  How is that relevant?

19 MS. GONZALEZ:  We were just trying to get a little bit

20 more of his expertise on the table and this will lead to

21 why Officer Guardado actually verified and validated that

22 the Defendant is a gang member.

23 THE COURT:  Well, he has been -- 

24 MS. GONZALEZ:  Okay.

25 THE COURT:  -- admitted as an expert so I think you
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1 can move on past that and as it gets into the direct

2 evidence, you can expand if you need to.

3 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you, Your Honor.  We'll do that. 

4 Thank you.

5 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Now, you've already spoken about

6 the criteria that you use to identify the gang members.

7 Are you familiar with the Red Tape Gang?

8 A Very so, ma'am.

9 Q Okay.  Does the Red Tape Gang go by any other names?

10 A Yes, ma'am.  The Red Tape Gang uses monikers

11 associated with the Dodge -- Dodge vehicles.  They often refer

12 themselves as to RT, SRT, Hemi Gang, GYG, which is Graveyard

13 Gang.  They use the moniker of 392.  They use terms as far as in

14 their clothing, Gloxks Break Bones.  This is just to name a few

15 of the things that they use.

16 Q Thank you.

17 And is there Reg Tape Gang members in Athens-Clarke

18 County?

19 A There is.

20 Q Okay.  Thank you.

21 And how are you familiar with this gang?

22 A Unfortunately, Red Tape Gang is associated with a lot

23 of violent crime in our city.  They have an ongoing rivalry

24 where they're shooting at each other back and forth since I have

25 been a gang investigator.
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1 Q Okay.  And can you estimate about how many Red Tape

2 Gang members there are and associates in Athens-Clarke County?

3 A Yes, ma'am.  So that I'm aware of that we have

4 validated is over 20.  Now, it is hard to put a number on that

5 because there's so many unknown members that we haven't

6 accounted for.

7 Q Okay.  And you did describe their colors and symbols

8 and some of those.

9 Does the Red Tape Gang have specific expectations for

10 its members and associates?

11 MR. KIRBY:  Judge, I'm going to object.  I would

12 assume speculation or hearsay, but if we're getting into

13 this evidence under 418 that would allow the State to do

14 that, I've not been provided any of the material that

15 Officer Guardado is talking about in terms of the Red Tape

16 Gang, certainly not within the time frame or given notice

17 of a summary of his statements about the Red Tape Gang.

18 THE COURT:  Do you want to respond?

19 MS. GONZALEZ:  Can you just repeat that again? -- the

20 first part.

21 MR. KIRBY:  The objection is to speculation.  If we

22 are getting into evidence under 418, which is the gang

23 evidence statute, I have not been given information about

24 what Officer Guardado is testifying to as far as this gang

25 is concerned.
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1 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you.

2 I'll withdraw the question, Your Honor.

3 THE COURT:  All right.

4 MS. GONZALEZ:  Okay.

5 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Are you familiar with the Defendant

6 in this case?

7 A I am.

8 Q Okay.  How are you familiar with the Defendant?

9 A From past investigations.

10 Q Okay.  Can you identify the Defendant in this

11 courtroom by location and an item of clothing they are wearing?

12 A Yes.  His name is Miquan Pittard.  He's sitting to my

13 right next to his attorney wearing an orange jumpsuit.

14 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, may the record show that

15 Officer Guardado has identified the Defendant, Miquan

16 Pittard?

17 THE COURT:  It will.

18 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you.

19 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  In your opinion, is the Defendant a

20 member of the criminal street gang?

21 A Yes, ma'am.

22 Q And what criminal street gang do you believe the

23 Defendant to be a member of?

24 A Locally he's part of the Red Tape.

25 Q And what do you base this opinion on?
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1 A On long-term intelligence gathering, evidence that we

2 have through social media, and from past arrests and

3 investigations.

4 Q Okay.  Do you have any opinion as to whether Mr.

5 Pittard's actions in this case were consistent with what Red

6 Tape Gang members would do?

7 A Yes, ma'am.

8 Q And what is that opinion?

9 A As I mentioned before, Red Tape is responsible for a

10 lot of the crime, ongoing crime, ongoing shootings within our

11 city.  They take a lot of credit for a lot of the violence

12 that's going on right now.

13 Q Okay.  Do you have an opinion as to whether Mr.

14 Pittard's action would maintain or increase his status in the

15 Red Tape Gang?

16 MR. KIRBY:  Objection, Judge, speculation.

17 THE COURT:  Do you want to respond?

18 MS. GONZALEZ:  One moment, Your Honor.

19 (Off-the-record discussion between Ms. Gonzalez and Mr.

20 Kegley.)

21 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, he has been qualified as an

22 expert based on his prior training and experience to be

23 able to give this opinion.

24 THE COURT:  I'll overrule the objection.

25 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you.
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1 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  What is your opinion to that?

2 I'll repeat the question for you.  Do you have an

3 opinion as to whether Mr. Pittard's action would maintain or

4 increase his status in the Red Tape gang?

5 A Yes, ma'am.

6 Q And what is that opinion?

7 A My opinion is that based on the illegal activities

8 that Mr. Pittard is involved in and suspected of does

9 demonstrate to the rest of the gang members below him that he's

10 doing that to maintain his status or to get a bigger status.

11 Q Okay.  Again, you're basing this opinion in this case

12 on your experience and training in law enforcement and your

13 study of gangs and gang customs and behaviors in particular?

14 A Yes, ma'am.

15 Q Thank you.

16 I'd like to focus your events [sic] now on events that

17 happened in downtown Athens that occurred on August 25th, 2022. 

18 Are you familiar with that incident?

19 A I am.

20 Q Okay.  How were you involved and in what capacity?

21 A Sure.  So I came into work on August 26th, and I

22 immediately started going -- Part of the things I do is go

23 through my social media, because gang members like to use social

24 media to tell the whole world what they're doing, when I noticed

25 a post on Facebook by an unknown individual that showed a video
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1 where Mr. Pittard comes into --

2 MR. KIRBY:  Judge, I'm going to object if we're going

3 to be testifying about what's on a video or not if that's

4 not going to be admitted into evidence.

5 MS. GONZALEZ:  Well, without talking about the

6 specific content, Your Honor?

7 THE COURT:  Do you intend to show the video?

8 MS. GONZALEZ:  We do intend to show surveillance video

9 and we do have images of some social media posts, yes.

10 THE COURT:  Well, it may be -- I'm going to sustain

11 the objection at this time.

12 MS. GONZALEZ:  Yes, Your Honor.

13 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Do you know if the Defendant was in

14 downtown Athens at the time of this incident?

15 A Yes, ma'am.

16 Q Okay.  Thank you.

17 And based on your investigation, was the Defendant

18 involved in the incident on August 25th?

19 A Yes, ma'am.

20 Q Okay.  Thank you.

21 (State's Exhibit Number 1 was marked for purposes of

22 identification.)

23 MS. GONZALEZ:  May I approach, Your Honor?

24 THE COURT:  Yes.

25 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Officer Guardado, I am showing you
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1 what is marked as State's Exhibit Number 1.  Please take a look

2 at that and let us know what it is.

3 A This is a still picture from the surveillance video

4 inside Lay-Z-Shopper Convenience Store in downtown Athens.

5 Q And is that a true and accurate depiction --

6 A Yes, ma'am.

7 Q -- of what occurred there?

8 A Yes, ma'am.

9 Q Thank you.

10 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, the State would like to

11 have admitted State's Exhibit Number 1.

12 MR. KIRBY:  Can I see that?

13 (Mr. Kirby reviewing the exhibit.)

14 THE COURT:  Any objection?

15 MR. KIRBY:  Yes, sir.  That's a marked-up version of a

16 photograph.  I don't know who marked it up.

17  THE COURT:  I haven't seen it so I don't know. 

18 MR. KIRBY:  Yeah --

19 THE COURT:  Well, I don't want to see it until it's

20 admitted.  I don't know what the markings are.

21 MR. KIRBY:  It's a labeled photograph, and I don't

22 know who labeled it, and I think that --

23 THE COURT:  Maybe he can answer that question.

24 MR. KIRBY:  Sure.

25 A I apologize for --
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1 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Can you describe it in a little bit

2 more detail, and if there are any markings, who made the

3 markings on that image?

4 A Yes, ma'am.  So this is a still picture from the

5 incident on August 25th at the Lay-Z-Shopper.  It has boxes with

6 people's names of the subjects involved in this incident.  I can

7 name the names:  Mr. Miquan Pittard, Raekwon Smith, Jaylan

8 Martin, Jyterious Turner, Antonio Thomas, and then the victim,

9 Jaiden Goolsby and Detrick Hubbard.

10 Q And who put those markings on there?

11 A I did.

12 Q You did --

13 A Yes, ma'am.

14 Q -- as part of your --

15 A As part of my investigation, I looked at the video and

16 I took a snippet of it and labeled it as who I recognized in

17 this.

18 Q Thank you.

19 MR. KIRBY:  Very briefly, Judge, if I could just ask

20 Officer Guardado.

21 THE COURT:  You may.

22 MR. KIRBY:  Did you identify those people personally

23 or did you speak with someone who identified those people

24 for you?

25 THE WITNESS:  So I identified Mr. Pittard immediately
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1 when I saw the video and Mr. Raekwon Smith and Jyterious

2 Turner.  The rest of them -- As the investigation moved on,

3 other members of the gang unit and other officers were able

4 to help me identify the rest of them.

5 MR. KIRBY:  To the extent that is based on hearsay,

6 Judge, I would object.

7 THE COURT:  So we've got a choice.  I will admit it --

8 the picture itself with the identifications that this

9 witness made.  So we can do it a couple of ways.  If

10 there's another clean exhibit or perhaps could redact --

11 doesn't have to be done necessarily right now -- redact the

12 other names would be another way to do it.

13 MS. GONZALEZ:  We can redact the names, Your Honor,

14 fairly quickly instead of trying to find a new one.

15 THE COURT:  That'll be fine.

16 MS. GONZALEZ:  Can you let us know the names that

17 you're objecting to so we can have them redacted?

18 MR. KIRBY:  I think it would be everyone but Miquan

19 Pittard, Raekwon Smith, and -- Was it Jantavious?

20 THE WITNESS:  Jyterious, sir.

21 MR. KIRBY:  Jonterious, sorry.

22 THE WITNESS:  Jyterious.

23 (Brief pause.)

24 THE COURT:  Any other objections?

25 MR. KIRBY:  No, sir.
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1 THE COURT:  1 is admitted with redactions as

2 indicated.

3 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you, Your Honor.  May I use the

4 Hovercam to show it?

5 THE COURT:  Sure.  Who you're going to show it to?

6 MS. GONZALEZ:  You and the Defense.

7 THE COURT:  Well, I don't know that it's -- You can,

8 but I don't think that it's necessary unless you're going

9 to testify from it because I'm going to have it.

10 MS. GONZALEZ:  I may ask him --

11 THE COURT:  Well, then, you can.  Hovercam?

12 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you, Your Honor.

13 (Exhibit displayed.)

14 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Officer Guardado, I don't know if

15 you can --

16 THE COURT:  Can you see it on your monitor down there,

17 too?

18 THE WITNESS:  Yes, Your Honor, I see it.

19 THE COURT:  Okay.

20 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Now, I'm going to use my pen and

21 point, and this is just to verify.  You said you personally were

22 able to identify certain people in this photograph.  And who is

23 this person?

24 A That's Mr. Miquan Pittard.

25 Q And you said he was the first one that you were able
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1 to identify.

2 A Yes, Your Honor.  I mean Ms. Gonzalez.  Sorry.

3 Q Thank you.

4 And then this person here with the white T-shirt?

5 A That's Raekwon Smith.

6 Q And then the last person here with his back -- and the

7 logo on the back of his T-shirt?

8 A Jyterious Turner.

9 Q And you were able to identify these individuals based

10 on what?

11 A Past investigations that I have done.

12 Q And each of these individuals, have they been verified

13 as gang members based on the criteria that you explained prior?

14 A Yes, ma'am, they all have been validated as members of

15 Red Tape Gang.

16 Q Okay.  And the date that this photo was taken?  I mean

17 this still from the surveillance tape, I'm sorry.

18 A August 25th of 2022.

19 Q Okay.  Thank you so much.

20 Now, where was this surveillance from?

21 A The Lay-Z-Shopper Convenience Store in downtown

22 Athens.

23 Q Okay.  And why did you have this surveillance footage?

24 A Because I learned of a shooting that occurred on

25 August 25th, 2022, where several officers responded to the call.
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1 Q Okay.  Thank you.

2 (State's Exhibit Number 2 was marked for purposes of

3 identification.)

4 MS. GONZALEZ:  May I approach?

5 THE COURT:  Yes.

6 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Officer Guardado, I am showing you

7 what has been marked as State's Exhibit Number 2.  Can you

8 please tell me what that is.

9 A Yes, ma'am.  This is a flash drive, and inside of it 

10 -- Well, I have initialed it this morning.  This is part of the

11 surveillance video.  It will show part of the -- the

12 surveillance video within Lay-Z-Shopper, specifically Camera 12

13 which is a camera that's on the inside of the front door of the

14 business looking towards the cash registers.

15 Q Okay.  And just to repeat, it has your initials

16 because you saw --

17 A I saw the video and I initialed it.

18 Q On that flash drive?

19 A Yes, ma'am.

20 Q And you personally reviewed this flash drive.

21 A Yes, ma'am.

22 Q Okay.  You told us what it contains.  Did you do

23 anything or notice that anybody did anything to alter, delete,

24 change, filter, or modify the video that was contained on this

25 flash drive?
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1 A No, ma'am.

2 Q Thank you.

3 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, we would like to offer

4 State's Exhibit Number 2 for admission into evidence.

5 THE COURT:  Any objection?

6 MR. KIRBY:  No objection, Judge.

7 THE COURT:  2's admitted.

8 MS. GONZALEZ:  May I publish it, Your Honor?

9 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Officer Guardado, is there sound to

10 the video?

11 A No, ma'am.

12 Q Okay.  Thank you.

13 (Video recording being shown.)

14 Q Can you explain what we're seeing here?

15 A You're looking at the inside of the Lay-Z-Shopper

16 Convenience Store.  Obviously there's some customers going about

17 their business, and on the far left, this is the security guard

18 that's hired by Lay-Z-Shopper to be there.

19 Q Okay.

20 A Mr. Goolsby, Jaiden Goolsby, just walked in with his

21 friend, Detrick Hubbard.  They're over there by the coolers

22 grabbing something to drink.

23 (Video recording continuing to be shown.)

24 A That's Mr. Goolsby approaching the register now with a

25 drink in his hand.
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1 Q Okay.  Thank you.

2 Is this a popular place?

3 A Downtown it is, yes, ma'am.

4 Q And where is it located?

5 A I believe it's 361 East Clayton Street.  I need to

6 verify that.  361 East Clayton Street.

7 Q Thank you.

8 (Video recording continuing to be shown.)

9 A That's Mr. Pittard walking in.

10 Q Is that the person with the hat on?

11 A Yes.

12 Q And these individuals who came in with him?  They came

13 in with him?

14 A Yes, ma'am.  

15 I would point out the person in the white hoodie with

16 the SRT written on it and in the front you'll be able to see the

17 Hemi logo in the front which are monikers used by Red Tape.

18 Also the gentleman in the orange hoodie, he has

19 writing on it that says Gloxks Break Bones, which is also terms

20 and monikers used by Red Tape Gang.

21 Q Okay.  Again, this is Mr. Goolsby and this is Mr.

22 Pittard?

23 A Pittard, yes.

24 Q Pittard, sorry.  Thank you.

25 (Video recording continuing to be shown.)
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1 Q And the other individuals that you had identified,

2 Raekwon Smith, is that him?

3 A He's the gentleman in the white shirt, yes.

4 Q And then Jyterious Turner is this gentleman?

5 A Yes, he's the gentleman with the dreads and the white

6 shirt with the logo on the back.

7 Q Okay.  So those are the ones that you identified in

8 the photo.

9 A Yes, ma'am.

10 (End of the video recording.)

11 Q Thank you.

12 Now, Raekwon Smith and Jyterious Turner who were also

13 seen there with Mr. Pittard, you said they were validated as

14 gang members?

15 A Yes, ma'am.

16 Q Validated as Red Tape Gang members?

17 A Yes.  And they also have associations with national

18 gangs.

19 Q With national gangs as well, okay.

20 And you also mentioned Jaiden Goolsby in that

21 videotape.  How do you know Jaiden, Mr. Goolsby?

22 A As the investigation moved on, I believe Sergeant

23 Howard, who's the supervisor of the gang unit, was able to

24 identify him, and also we received --

25 MR. KIRBY:  Judge, I'm going to object to hearsay
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1 unless Officer Howard's here to testify.

2 THE COURT:  I'll sustain the objection.

3 MS. GONZALEZ:  Yes, Your Honor.

4 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Was Jaiden Goolsby verified as a

5 gang member as well?

6 A He's an associate of a gang.

7 Q He's an associate.  What's the difference between a

8 gang member and an associate of the gang?

9 A So going back to our validation process, an associate

10 is someone that meets anywhere from five to nine points, and

11 he's considered somebody that's with the gang, doing activities

12 with the gang, perhaps using clothing, doing the hand signs,

13 using terms, communicating with gang members.  Once you hit the

14 ten points, they're considered a full member.

15 Q Okay.

16 A So they're -- They're associates of the gang but not

17 full members yet based on our criteria.

18 Q Just based on your criteria --

19 A Yes, ma'am.

20 Q -- the way that you are identifying them.  Thank you.

21 And is there a particular gang that he would be an

22 associate member of?

23 A Mr. Goolsby?

24 Q Uh-huh (affirmative response).

25 A Yes.  He was very close with EBE, which stands for
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1 Everybody Eats.

2 Q Everybody Eats.  And is Everybody Eats close or in a

3 rival relationship with the Red Tape Gang?

4 A From past investigations and from the ongoing

5 shootings that we have and violent crimes, yes, ma'am.

6 Q Okay.  And when you investigated the Lay-Z-Shopper

7 incident, what was that incident that occurred on August 25th?

8 A My understanding is that Mr. Goolsby -- He came in for

9 an interview.  Agent Herold and I interviewed him several days

10 past the incident once he was identified.  He essentially stated

11 that --

12 MR. KIRBY:  I'm going to object to hearsay.

13 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Can you please focus only on what

14 you observed and heard in that interview without indicating the

15 other officer?

16 A Yes, ma'am.

17 THE COURT:  Just a moment.  Just a moment.  Did you

18 want to say something?  You wanted to follow up?  There's

19 an objection.  I need to first sustain the first objection.

20 MR. KIRBY:  Okay.  I think it would be related to

21 information either gained through Mr. Goolsby's

22 conversation, what he told the officers.  I am less

23 concerned about Agent Herold.  I believe she's here to

24 testify.

25 MS. GONZALEZ:  Yes, she is.
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1 MR. KIRBY:  So anything that Mr. Goolsby said or

2 knowledge gained through that conversation from Mr.

3 Goolsby.

4 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, the witness officer,

5 Guardado, was in that interview.  He was part of the

6 conversation with Mr. Goolsby.  He heard directly from Mr.

7 Goolsby what was said.

8 MR. KIRBY:  I don't know if -- that the -- the other

9 portion of this that will add to this, just because I have

10 a case that's very specific to this, is that it would also

11 be a violation of the confrontation -- of Mr. Pittard's

12 confrontation rights from a due process standpoint of both

13 the Federal and Georgia Constitution.

14 THE COURT:  I'm going to sustain the objection --

15 MS. GONZALEZ:  Yes, Your Honor.

16 THE COURT:  -- at this point.  Now, I don't have any

17 idea what the rest of your case is about as far as

18 evidence.

19 MS. GONZALEZ:  I appreciate that, Your Honor.  Thank

20 you.

21 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Let's turn now to some events of

22 August 30th, 2022.  Were you part of seeking a search warrant

23 for 288 Bailey Street, Apartment J-3, in Pinewood apartment

24 complex in Athens, Georgia?

25 A I was.  I wrote the search warrant and secured it
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1 through a judge.

2 Q And in getting that search warrant did you have

3 probable cause for it?

4 A I did.

5 Q And what was that probable cause?

6 A Mr. Pittard was arrested on that day based on a

7 probation violation secured by Mr. Viola, probation officer. 

8 When he was arrested, he was arrested at the probation office

9 off of Hawthorne.  He was in a vehicle.  Mr. Viola was aware

10 that Mr. Pittard had previously signed a Fourth Amendment

11 waiver.  During his arrest a search with probation officers

12 present was conducted of the vehicle.  We found -- or the search

13 revealed ammunition, 9 millimeter ammunition.  It revealed a

14 micro conversion kit which turns a pistol into a rifle platform. 

15 It revealed two cell phones belonging to Mr. Pittard and also a

16 half of an unidentified pill in the center console.

17 Mr. Pittard was surveilled coming from Apartment J-3. 

18 Based on the evidence that I found or that we found in the car

19 during his arrest led me to believe that there may be more

20 firearms or accessories or ammunition and also narcotics based

21 on the pill that we found inside the vehicle.

22 Q Okay.  And so in that apartment where you're

23 identifying J-3, was that -- Did you consider that that was the

24 Defendant's residence?

25 A Yeah.  Let me add, during the search of the vehicle
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1 there were several documents from the rent office which had Mr.

2 Pittard's name attached to it and also his mother's name

3 attached to it.  Several pictures of those documents were taken.

4 Q Thank you.

5 And if we go back to the search of the residence

6 itself, you have the search warrant now based on the probable

7 cause.  Are you alone in doing the search in the residence?

8 A No, ma'am.

9 Q Okay.  What was found in the residence?

10 A So the search of the residence revealed a red bag that

11 was found in a kitchen cabinet.  In that red bag there were some

12 scales, packaging material for narcotics, and suspected

13 marijuana.  Also in the living room around a couch officers

14 found a tactical vest which contained two fully-loaded AR

15 magazines loaded with ammunition.  I also -- I personally

16 searched what I believed to be Mr. Pittard's room.  In there I

17 found several gang lyrics and writings.  I also found a couple

18 of T-shirts that I had previously witnessed on social media that

19 Mr. Miquan wore, and I also found some correspondence from --

20 with an inmate from a prison.

21 Q Okay.  Thank you.

22 (State's Exhibit Number 3 was marked for purposes of

23 identification.)

24 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, may I approach?

25 THE COURT:  Yes.
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1 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you.

2 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Officer Guardado, I am handing you

3 what has been marked as State's Exhibit Number 3.  Can you

4 please let us know -- describe what that is.

5 A This is the red bag that was found in the kitchen

6 cabinet.  As you can see, there's what -- what I would call a

7 gallon-size bag with suspected marijuana in it.  You can also

8 see the cellophane bags used -- commonly used to package

9 marijuana, and inside there was a scale which is not shown in

10 this picture.

11 Q Okay.  Is this a true and accurate depiction of that

12 bag as seen when it was opened in that way?

13 A Yes.

14 Q Thank you.

15 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, the State would like to

16 admit State's Exhibit Number 3 into evidence.

17 MR. KIRBY:  No objection.

18 THE COURT:  3's admitted.

19 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you.

20 May I publish on the Hovercam?

21 THE COURT:  Yes.

22 (Exhibit displayed.)

23 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  And I know that you were describing

24 a little bit about what we see in this image but if I can just

25 focus you right here.  So where again did you find this
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1 particular book bag?

2 A That bag was found at Apartment J-3 at 288 Bailey

3 Street in Athens, Georgia, and it was inside one of the kitchen

4 cabinets.

5 Q Okay.  And was that done on August 30th of 2022 as

6 labeled on this image?

7 A Yes, ma'am.

8 Q Okay.  Thank you.

9 And again, you said -- What is this?

10 A So those are cellophane bags or sandwich bags, if you

11 may.  Based on my knowledge, training, and experience, people

12 that distribute narcotics use those bags to package their

13 illegal drugs for sale.

14 Q Okay.  And when you look at -- What is this piece

15 right here?

16 A So that's what I would call a gallon-size bag

17 containing suspected marijuana in it.

18 Q Okay.  Thank you so much.

19 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, you can turn off the

20 Hovercam now.

21 Q Based on what you observed, these different

22 activities, these different incidents, do you have an opinion as

23 to whether or not the acts of the Defendant constitute criminal

24 street gang activity?

25 MR. KIRBY:  Judge, I'm going to object.  That's the
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1 ultimate issue here.

2 THE COURT:  I'll sustain the objection.

3 MS. GONZALEZ:  Okay.  Thank you, Your Honor.

4 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Is there a nexus between the

5 activities that we've been discussing today and furtherance of

6 the gang on the part of the Defendant?

7 MR. KIRBY:  I think that that's also the ultimate

8 issue, Judge.  I would object.  I mean, I think that they

9 have to prove that on -- in order to prove the crimes.

10 THE COURT:  I'm going to overrule that objection.  I 

11 think that's a different question.

12 A Based on my knowledge, training, and experience I do

13 believe that the selling of narcotics and the possession of

14 firearm accessories and ammunition is part of being a gang

15 member and doing illegal criminal things for the gang.

16 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Thank you.

17 And did you know that Mr. Pittard had a special

18 condition of probation that he was not to be in contact with

19 other gang members?

20 A Yes, ma'am.

21 Q Okay.  And is it your opinion based on the video that

22 you saw that he was in fact in contact with other gang members?

23 A Yes, ma'am.

24 Q Thank you so much.

25 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, if I can just have one
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1 minute.

2 THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am.

3 (Off-the-record discussion between Ms. Gonzalez and Mr.

4 Kegley.)

5 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, if I can just have a couple

6 of minutes to locate a piece of evidence.

7 (Brief pause.)

8 MS. GONZALEZ:  Judge, can we get a recess for five

9 minutes?

10 THE COURT:  Can you tell me why?

11 MS. GONZALEZ:  Yes.  I just want to make sure that I

12 have the correct piece of evidence to introduce in this

13 last part of the questioning.

14 THE COURT:  Okay.  Five-minute recess.

15 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you.

16 (Recess taken.)

17 THE COURT:  Are we ready?

18 MS. GONZALEZ:  Yes, we are, Your Honor.  Thank you. 

19 Thank you, sir, for the interruption.

20 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Officer Guardado, thank you for

21 coming back.  I just want to go over a few things before we

22 close out with that.

23 You had talked about, you know, the Red Tape Gang. 

24 Can you explain a little bit about their leadership structure?

25 A Yes, ma'am.  So the Red Tape Gang has -- My
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1 understanding based on my knowledge, training, and experience,

2 they do have a leadership rank within.  Most of the time, you

3 know, you start off as a new -- a new member, and some of the

4 things that the gang may ask you to do is to put in work for

5 them, which translates into committing crime, from property

6 crimes, distribution of narcotics, drive-by shootings, and as

7 members commit certain crimes, they move up the ladder.

8 Q Okay.  And you did say that it was in your opinion

9 that the Defendant is a member of the Red Tape Gang and that

10 this activity would actually affect his reputation in that gang. 

11 And why is that?  Where is the Defendant in terms of that

12 structure of leadership with the Red Tape Gang?

13 A My opinion, I believe that Mr. Pittard holds a

14 leadership role.

15 Q Okay.  And can you discuss -- We sort of bypassed this

16 as I was asking you about this before -- the issue of respect in

17 the gang.

18 A Yes.  So gangs, their primary function and the way

19 that --

20 MR. KIRBY:  Judge, I'm going to object to this as

21 speculation especially as it relates to respect.  That

22 necessarily comes from a third party, and to ask Officer

23 Guardado to testify about what a third party would expect

24 or would feel seems to be speculation to me.  Again, if

25 this is being offered under 418, I haven't gotten the
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1 information that they're going off of -- that they're

2 basing this information on, and I would object to it coming

3 in.

4 THE COURT:  I'll sustain the objection.

5 MS. GONZALEZ:  Okay, Your Honor.

6 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Can we go back and discuss a little

7 bit -- You said there might be a rivalry between the Red Tape

8 Gang and Everybody Eats Gang?

9 A Yes, ma'am.

10 Q Can you describe -- Is that based on your experience

11 and what you've seen out there as the gang investigator about

12 this?

13 A Yes, ma'am.

14 Q Okay.  Can you discuss what that rivalry looks like in

15 some instances here?

16 A Yes.  So --

17 MR. KIRBY:  Judge, I'm going to object to hearsay

18 because I suspect this is based on hearsay.  If that's not

19 the case, then, you know, we can hear what Officer Guardado

20 has to say, but if it is based on hearsay and other

21 investigations that he has done, that other people have

22 told him things, then that opinion is still based on

23 hearsay and we have no way of confronting that.

24 THE COURT:  I'll overrule the objection.

25 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you.
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1 A Can you repeat the question, please?

2 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  The question is if you can describe

3 why you believe that there was that rivalry between the two

4 gangs based on your experience and what you've been dealing with

5 as a gang investigator in Athens-Clarke County.

6 A Yes.  So the information that I have gathered, the

7 evidence that I have gathered off of social media, through -- We

8 have a gang tip line and a gang email, and this is an open

9 community problem where people reach out to us and tell us about

10 the rivalry that's ongoing with EBE.

11 MR. KIRBY:  Judge, again --

12 A What I have --

13 THE COURT:  Just a minute.  I am going to sustain the

14 objection as to information through a tip line, anonymous

15 emails, things like that.  It would have to be related to

16 his direct knowledge, information, observations.

17 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you, Your Honor.

18 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  If you can just limit your answer

19 to your direct experience and knowledge.

20 A So one of the founders of EBE, his name is Ketravian

21 Cole.  Mr. Cole was murdered back in May, 2021.  He was on the

22 way to a concert, as we understand, and was gunned down at a

23 traffic stop.  From working closely with GBI agents, it is

24 suspected that Red Tape members are the primary suspects within

25 this investigation.  Ketravian Cole at some point, based on my
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1 knowledge, training, and experience, was an associate of Red

2 Tape but they essentially had a falling out.  I don't know the

3 cause of that falling out, but he was essentially really close

4 to Mr. Pittard.

5 Q Okay.  Thank you.

6 And I wanted to get back to something that you said. 

7 If you recall -- I believe it was State's Exhibit 3 with the red

8 bag.

9 A Yes.

10 Q And is that color significant?

11 A Yes.  Red Tape, as the name states, they like to use

12 the color red primarily.

13 Q And had you seen that bag previously?

14 A I had.

15 Q And where?

16 A On Mr. Pittard's social media platform I saw it maybe

17 two months, two and a half months prior to us executing the

18 search warrant at 288 Bailey Street.

19 Q Okay.  And going back to the Lay-Z-Shopper, can you

20 just remind us the address.  I believe you gave it before.  I

21 just want to make sure that it is in the record.

22 A I believe it's 361 East Clayton Street, Athens,

23 Georgia.

24 Q Thank you.  And is that particular address and that

25 Lay-Z-Shopper store, is that in a particular gang territory?
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1 A No.  It's downtown.  Downtown is not considered --

2 It's considered a neutral zone, if you may.

3 Q Okay.  Thank you so much.

4 MS. GONZALEZ:  Just one moment.

5 (State's Exhibit Number 4 was marked for purposes of

6 identification.)

7 MS. GONZALEZ:  May I approach, Your Honor?

8 THE COURT:  Yes.

9 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Mr. Guardado, I am showing you what

10 is marked as State's Exhibit 4.  Can you tell us what it is and

11 what it contains.

12 A This is again a video from Lay-Z-Shopper and it's

13 Camera 13.

14 Q And do you know if this has been altered or modified

15 in any way?

16 A It has not.

17 Q Thank you.

18 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, the State would like to

19 have admitted State's Exhibit Number 4, a video of the

20 outside of the Lay-Z-Shopper store.

21 THE COURT:  Any objection?

22 MR. KIRBY:  No objection.

23 THE COURT:  It's admitted.

24 MS. GONZALEZ:  May I publish it?

25 THE COURT:  All right.
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1 (The video recording was shown.)

2 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Again, there's no sound to these.

3 A Correct.

4 Q So can you tell us what we're seeing here.

5 A That's a camera facing the front door of Lay-Z-Shopper

6 downtown focusing on the front entrance.  The gentleman in red,

7 he's actually an employee that I interviewed during the process

8 of this investigation.

9 MS. GONZALEZ:  I'm sorry, Your Honor.  I started it

10 halfway through.  I'm just returning it to the beginning.

11 THE COURT:  Okay.

12 MS. GONZALEZ:  It came up at seven; sorry.

13 (The video recording continued.)

14 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  And that is the employee that you

15 indicated?

16 A Yes, ma'am, the gentleman in the black hat, red shirt.

17 I also spoke to the gentleman with the blonde hair and that bag

18 across his back very briefly.

19 Q Standing next to the employee?

20 A Yes.

21 Q Now, these surveillance cameras are from the Lay-Z-

22 Shopper themselves?

23 A Yes, ma'am.

24 Q Okay.  And is that the security for the store?

25 A Yes, ma'am.
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1 Q And who are those individuals walking in?

2 A The first person with the black shirt is Mr. Miquan

3 Pittard.  Behind him is Kentrevis Daniel, and behind him in the

4 white is Jaylan Martin.

5 Q And those were the ones that you identified before in

6 the still and the other video?

7 A They were identified through the course of my

8 investigation.

9 Q So please just limit to the ones that you personally

10 identified.

11 A Okay.  That's Jyterious Turner and Raekwon Smith.

12 Q Okay.

13 A Watching this video just triggered my memory.  There's

14 a gentleman in the still picture wearing a black shirt, black

15 hat with a red bill.  I recognized him from the video as Antonio

16 Thomas.  Watching this part of the video just brought that back

17 to memory, but he's the one seen grabbing who I became to know

18 as Jaiden Goolsby and tossing him to the ground.

19 Q Can you let us know when you see Jaiden walking out.

20 (Video recording continuing.)

21 A That's him walking out now with Antonio Thomas wearing

22 all black in the red shoes.

23 Q So is that Mr. Goolsby back there?

24 A Yes, ma'am.

25 Q Okay.  So who is walking out behind him?
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1 A That's Antonio Thomas, Raekwon Smith, Jyterious

2 Turner, and last is Mr. Miquan Pittard.  There you see Mr.

3 Thomas grab Jaiden Goolsby and slings him to the ground.

4 Q And at that point did they all leave?

5 A I'm sorry?

6 Q At that point were -- All the individuals that you

7 spoke about had left now the Lay-Z-Shopper?

8 A No.  You're still looking at footage.  Some of it is

9 off camera where Mr. Goolsby is on the ground and being

10 physically attacked.

11 MR. KIRBY:  Judge, I'm going to object to what is not

12 on the video.  If this is based on hearsay, I would object

13 to it.  I'd ask that it be stricken.  I'd ask that we not

14 talk about things that are outside the scope of this

15 hearing or witnesses that aren't going to be here.

16 THE COURT:  Well, do you want to respond to that?

17 MS. GONZALEZ:  No, Your Honor.  I just wanted to show

18 what was on the video.

19 THE COURT:  I'll sustain that objection.

20 MS. GONZALEZ:  Okay.

21 (Video recording was ended.)

22 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Thank you, Mr. Guardado, for that.

23 Now, Mr. Guardado, after seeing that surveillance

24 video, you did do an interview with Mr. Goolsby?

25 A I did.
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1 Q Okay.  Thank you.

2 (State's Exhibit Numbers 5, 6, 7, and 8 were marked for

3 purposes of identification.)

4 MS. GONZALEZ:  May I approach, Your Honor?

5 THE COURT:  Yes.

6 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Officer Guardado, I am showing what

7 are listed as Exhibits 5, 6, 7 and 8.  Can you please take a

8 look at them and let us know what they are.

9 A This is a picture of Jaiden Goolsby.  He's at our

10 police department in our interview room.  These are pictures of

11 injuries that he sustained on August 25th. 

12 MR. KIRBY:  Judge, I'm going to object to that if it

13 is not within the personal knowledge of Officer Guardado as

14 to when those injuries were suffered or even the fact that

15 they're injuries.  I don't -- I think that he can testify

16 that the photographs are a true and accurate representation

17 or purport to be what they are, and that's it, unless he

18 has other personal knowledge.

19 THE COURT:  I'll sustain the objection.

20 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Are these true and accurate

21 depictions of Mr. Goolsby when he was there at the interview

22 room with you?

23 A Yes, ma'am.

24 Q Thank you.

25 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, the State would like to
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1 have admitted State's Evidence 5, 6, 7, and 8.

2 THE COURT:  Any objection?

3 MR. KIRBY:  No objection.

4 THE COURT:  They're admitted.

5 MS. GONZALEZ:  May I publish on the Hovercam?

6 THE COURT:  You may.

7 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Officer Guardado, on State's

8 Exhibit 5, you indicated that this was in fact a photo of Mr.

9 Goolsby.

10 A It is.

11 Q Okay.  And that was the way that he appeared when he

12 came to be interviewed by you on August 31st?

13 A Yes, ma'am.

14 Q Okay.  Thank you.

15 And then State's Exhibit 6, 7, and 8 seem to be close-

16 ups.  What are they close-ups of?

17 A This is what Mr. Goolsby stated were injuries.

18 MR. KIRBY:  Judge, whatever comes next is hearsay.

19 THE COURT:  I'll sustain the objection as to hearsay.

20 MS. GONZALEZ:  Okay.

21 THE COURT:  I think he can talk about what he

22 observed.

23 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Can you please let us know what you

24 observed in this photo of Mr. Goolsby.

25 A They're pictures of injuries on Mr. Goolsby's person.
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1 Q Okay.  Does that look like the leg?

2 A Yes, his right knee.

3 Q And can you tell us what you observed in this photo

4 when this was taken?

5 A It's another injury to his right arm.

6 Q Okay.  And then can you tell us what you observed in

7 Exhibit 8 and what part of the body is that?

8 A That's just a close-up of the same injury to the right

9 leg.

10 Q I'm sorry.  So is that the same one as --

11 A Just a close-up of the right leg.

12 Q -- this one?

13 A Yes, ma'am.

14 Q And that's just a close-up of that.

15 A Yes, ma'am.

16 Q Okay.  Thank you so much.

17 (State's Exhibit Number 9 was marked for purposes of

18 identification.)

19 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, may I approach?

20 THE COURT:  Yes.

21 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Officer Guardado, I am showing you

22 what has been marked as State's Exhibit 9.  Can you please let

23 me know what that is and what it contains.

24 A This is another flash drive containing surveillance

25 from the Lay-Z-Shopper, specifically Camera 5.
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1 Q Thank you.

2 And to your knowledge, has it been altered, modified,

3 or deleted --

4 A It has not.

5 Q -- in any way?

6 A No, ma'am.

7 Q Thank you.

8 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, the State would like to

9 enter State's Exhibit 9 into evidence.

10 THE COURT:  Any objection?

11 MR. KIRBY:  No, sir.

12 THE COURT:  9's admitted.

13 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, may I publish?

14 THE COURT:  Yes.

15 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you.

16 (Video recording was shown.)

17 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  So this is Camera 5 from a

18 different angle.  What are we looking at?

19 A So you're looking at a shot from inside the store from

20 a different angle.  This is focused on the front exit/entrance. 

21 And you have the security guard and also the gentleman in the

22 orange shirt with the black hat backwards.  That's another

23 employee.

24 Q Thank you.

25 (Video recording continued.)
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1 A You have Mr. Goolsby walking in in the black hoodie

2 and Detrick Hubbard behind him.

3 That's Mr. Goolsby going to the register holding a

4 drink.

5 That's Mr. Hubbard to his right.

6 There you have Mr. Pittard walking in with a black

7 shirt and black hat.  You have Antonio Thomas walking in

8 followed by Raekwon Smith and Jyterious Turner.  It appears

9 they're having a verbal confrontation with Jaiden and they all

10 walk outside.

11 (End of video recording.)

12 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Now, when we talk about the RBG

13 Gang and the Red Tape Gang and the Everybody Eats Gang, are

14 those considered hybrid criminal street gangs?

15 A They are.

16 Q And what does that mean?

17 A So normally you have three types of gangs.  You have

18 your traditional gangs.  This is the gangs that are known across

19 the nation.  For example, you have the Bloods, you have the

20 Crips, you have the Gangster Disciples, you have Pirus, so on

21 and so forth.

22 Then you have your non-traditional gangs.  Okay, your

23 non-traditional gangs are what you would call your neighborhood

24 gangs.  For example, back in the day when I first started

25 working in Athens-Clarke County --
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1 MR. KIRBY:  Your Honor, I'm going to object to

2 relevancy.  Either Red Tape Gang is a gang or it's not, and

3 they can introduce evidence about that for the trier of

4 fact.

5 THE COURT:  How is that relevant?

6 MS. GONZALEZ:  I did not expect for the witness to go

7 into that deep of that explanation.  I just wanted the

8 definition of hybrid criminal gang.

9 THE COURT:  Okay.  So I'll sustain the objection.

10 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you, Your Honor.

11 THE COURT:  You can ask another question.

12 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Was there a national affiliation

13 between the Red Tape Gang and the Everybody Eats Gang?

14 A Yes, there is from within its members.

15 Q What does that mean? -- "from within its members."

16 A Members of Red Tape have affiliations with national

17 gangs, your traditional gangs.

18 Q Okay.  In the video that we saw, Mr. Pittard and the

19 others that you identified wore specific clothing.  Can you

20 indicate the significance of the clothing that they were

21 wearing?

22 A Yes.  As I stated before, the two gentlemen, one of

23 them wearing an orange hoodie, has writing consistent with Gloxk

24 -- Gloxks Break Bones.  This is a term normally used by Red Tape

25 Gang.  And also the gentleman in the white hoodie, you can see
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1 the Hemi logo up front which is a moniker used by Red Tape Gang,

2 and in the back you can see in big letters, SRT, which is also

3 used by Red Tape Gang.

4 Q Okay.  And when you did that search on August 30th,

5 you said -- Along with a book bag that you found that we

6 indicated earlier in one of the exhibits, did you also find any

7 particular clothing?

8 A Yes.  In what I believe to be Mr. Pittard's room, I

9 found a shirt and also a -- if I may refresh my memory -- a

10 hoodie with Gloxks or a shirt with Gloxks Break Bones.  Give me

11 one second.

12 Q Yes.  Thank you.

13 (Brief pause.)

14 A It's a Gloxk Boyz shirt.

15 Q And the significance of that would be -- Why did that

16 stand out to you?

17 A It's terms used by members of Red Tape Gang.

18 Q And are you stating that opinion based on your

19 experience and knowledge and training?

20 A Yes, ma'am.

21 Q Okay.  Thank you.

22 Just remind me again.  You were talking about the

23 types of crimes that members of the Red Tape Gang had

24 participated in before.  Can you just give us some of those?

25 A Yes, ma'am.  Based on my investigations, they have
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1 participated in the distribution of narcotics.  They've also

2 participated in drive-by shootings and also with some property

3 crimes.

4 Q Okay.  Thank you.

5 And so part of that would be possession with intent to

6 distribute?

7 A Yes, ma'am, that would be distribution of narcotics.

8 Q Okay.  And what is the narcotics in question?

9 A From what I have learned, it's mostly marijuana.

10 Q Okay.  Thank you.

11 And so was it marijuana that was found in the

12 apartment on August 30th when you did the search?

13 MR. KIRBY:  Judge, I'm going to object unless Officer

14 Guardado has personal knowledge of that -- he's done the

15 testing or something.

16 MS. GONZALEZ:  We will be having -- I withdraw the

17 question.  We will be having the chemist here.

18 THE COURT:  All right.

19 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you.  No further questions at

20 this time.

21 THE COURT:  You may cross-examine.

22 MR. KIRBY:  Thank you, Judge.

23 CROSS-EXAMINATION

24 BY MR. KIRBY:

25 Q Officer Guardado, one of the last things you testified
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1 to was about the other crimes that the Red Tape Gang commits. 

2 Is that based on information that has been provided to you

3 through other sources or have you seen individuals from the Red

4 Tape Gang commit those crimes?

5 A I have investigated members of Red Tape Gang and have

6 charged them with those crimes.

7 Q Okay.  And so how -- When you're coming up with the

8 validation of a gang member, we were talking earlier about the

9 different criteria that you use.  

10 How many points does someone get for graffiti and

11 clothing?

12 A Give me one second, I'll tell you.

13 Q Okay.

14 A So for graffiti, you get two points.  I think clothing

15 is part of the same criteria, so two points.

16 Q Two points for clothing.

17 A And graffiti.

18 Q Does it have to be both graffiti and clothing? 

19 A Either or.

20 Q So two points for clothing, then.

21 A Yes, sir.

22 Q Okay.  And what about gang writings?

23 A Gang writings, that would give you four points --

24 Q Four points.

25 A -- for gang writings.
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1 Q Okay.  What about -- Now, one of them you said was

2 gang associations.

3 A Yes, sir.

4 Q That was under symbols.  What does gang association

5 mean?  Does that mean hang out with somebody?  Talking to them? 

6 What does it mean?

7 A So it's known gang associates.

8 Q Okay.

9 A So it's people that we have looked into, gather

10 evidence to name them a gang associate or a gang member.  So one

11 Red Tape Gang member hanging out with other Red Tape Gang

12 members that have been validated through our unit.

13 Q Okay.  But if it's a person you haven't validated yet. 

14 Let's say a new person comes in, okay?

15 A Okay.

16 Q And you see them around and you just have to validate

17 them.  You see them hanging out with some of these Red Tape --

18 who you think are Red Tape Gang members and you are trying to do

19 a validation.  Is it just from being there, being present?  Do

20 they have to talk to them?  Do they have to -- I'm trying to get

21 a sense of what it means to be "associated with."

22 A Right.  So the reason that we have this criteria is 

23 to avoid just looking at somebody that's hanging out with

24 someone's that considered a validated gang member.  

25 Now, we want to avoid just mislabeling someone, so

61



1 when this new person, as you mentioned, comes in, we're looking

2 at that person.  We're studying their social media.  We're

3 looking at their criminal background.  We're looking at --

4 talking with other agencies to see if they have any history with

5 them, and also we're looking at them to see if they're wearing

6 the attire that Red Tape wears, the logos, the symbols, the hand

7 signs, the tattoos.  So we're looking at all that.

8 Q And I understand there's a number of these things that

9 are on here, but this is a process by which you determine

10 whether someone is a gang member; is that correct?

11 A Correct.

12 Q Or associate.

13 A Correct.

14 Q And so that label is how you all are classifying an

15 individual as to whether they are part of a gang; is that

16 correct?

17 A Based on our criteria, yes, sir.

18 Q Okay, based on the criteria.  And so if this were a --

19 If this were a valid way of determining if someone were a gang

20 member, then you would be able to apply it to anyone, correct,

21 and determine whether they were a gang member?

22 A Correct.  So if you recall, being in a gang, it's a

23 group of three or more, so if we all of a sudden see a new group

24 come up and they're using the same hand signs, the same symbols,

25 the same clothing, the same colors, then we start looking at
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1 them, but yeah, it could potentially be anyone.

2 Q Right.  And if they met these criteria, then you would

3 label them a gang member or gang associate, correct?

4 A We will validate them as gang members or gang

5 associates.

6 Q Okay.  They go on a list.

7 A Yes, sir.

8 Q In your department.

9 A Yes, sir.

10 Q Okay.  And so who came up with this list of criteria

11 in order to classify someone or validate them in fact as a gang

12 member?

13 A So going back to when I defined a gang, it says that,

14 you know, it can be established through a common name, common

15 hand signs, commons symbols, attire, clothing, and other

16 characteristics.  So it's based off of that.

17 Q Okay.  Where did you get -- What did you say it was? 

18 -- 14 different criteria?

19 A Yes.

20 Q Okay.  Where did you get that 14 -- 14 different

21 criteria from?

22 A Through my training at GPSTC, I believe.

23 Q Okay.  Do you know who came up with this as a way of

24 determining if someone was a gang member?

25 A I do not know the history behind it, no, sir.
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1 Q Okay.  Now, back to the question of being a gang -- or

2 associated with members of a gang.  Does that mean if someone is

3 present near gang members that that qualifies for that

4 particular criteria?

5 A I believe I'm not explaining myself correct.  So when

6 we say gang associate, they have already met criteria to -- and

7 when -- the word associate I think is very loose in this term.  

8 So I can hang out with someone in a gang but that does

9 not automatically make me an associate of that gang.

10 Q I know, and I apologize because those words are being

11 used interchangeably as it relates to this criteria.  

12 One of the criteria is being associated with known

13 gang members.

14 A Correct.

15 Q Okay.  Now, when you say associated with known gang

16 members, what does that mean?  Does that mean that I'm

17 associated with known gang members if I am in their presence, if

18 I talk to them, if I -- How does that work?

19 A Gotcha.  Gotcha.  So when we -- Or when I mark that as

20 part of the criteria, I'm going to have evidence showing that

21 this person is not only hanging out with them but this person is

22 using clothing, using the same hand signs.  This person may have

23 a tattoo related to that gang.  So it's just not the mere

24 hanging out with them.  When they're marked as a known gang

25 associate, they're people that have already been validated
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1 through this criteria.

2 Q I understand that part of it.  One of the -- One of

3 the criteria for being an associate, right, is being associated

4 with known gang members, just like wearing clothing, just like

5 symbols, just like hand signs, all of those are criteria.  My

6 understanding is that another one of those criteria is being

7 associated with known gang members.  

8 When you are going through your list, right -- Let's

9 say it's me.  And you go down the list, and you say, "Has he

10 been beaten in?"  He gets no points for that, having been beaten

11 in.  

12 A Okay.

13 Q Well, he drives a Dodge Charger.  Okay, we know the

14 Red Tape Gang loves Dodges.  So we're going to give him how many

15 points?  Three points.

16 A Okay.

17 Q When you get down to the "associating with known gang

18 members," how do you make that -- how do you determine whether

19 someone is associated?  Is presence enough?

20 A No, sir.  I have stated before we're going to have

21 evidence that shows that the person's not just hanging out with

22 them.  This person's going to be throwing up hand signs. 

23 They're going to be in videos where they're possessing firearms,

24 where they're possessing marijuana.  So it's not just the

25 hanging out part with them.
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1 Q Okay.  How many points is associating with known gang

2 members?

3 A Four points.

4 Q Four points, okay.  

5 So if I've got on a Gloxks Break Bones shirt and I am

6 hanging out with Jaiden Goolsby --

7 A Okay.

8 Q -- and I have these rap lyrics that someone has given

9 to me to publish a song --

10 A Uh-huh (affirmative response).

11 Q -- that puts me at ten points, doesn't it?

12 A Well, first of all, you wouldn't be hanging out with

13 Jaiden Goolsby if you were wearing a Gloxks Break Bones T-shirt

14 because he's your rival gang so you wouldn't be with him,

15 period.

16 Q Sure.  Okay.  Great.  So you're having to make

17 judgment calls about who is and who isn't a gang member

18 regardless of these criteria, right?

19 A I'm looking at what they're doing, what they're

20 wearing, if they're using hand signs, if they have tattoos to

21 base this criteria on.

22 Q Okay.  But if it doesn't fit in your mind, these

23 criteria aren't the end all be all of whether someone's a gang

24 member.

25 A Based on our code section, a lot of the criteria that
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1 we use is stated in the State law describing a gang.

2 Q Okay.  Who validates someone?  You said that there are

3 three people.  Is it a committee that votes on -- Do they -- Do

4 they -- Is there a committee that votes on who gets put on this

5 list?

6 A It's not a committee, sir.  It's a gang unit.  It's

7 composed of one supervisor and right now four investigators.

8 Q Okay.  And does each person get a vote as to whether

9 this person gets put on a list or is each officer able to

10 validate someone on their own as a gang member?

11 A Each investigator -- We have been trained to identify

12 symbols, signs, so each investigator is able to validate

13 someone.

14 Q Okay.  So there's a list of known gang members in

15 Clarke County.

16 A Yes, sir.

17 Q Okay.  Is that public?

18 A No.  It's kept within our unit.  When somebody -- When

19 a crime occurs, let's just say a shooting, and investigators

20 develop a lead on someone, those investigators come to us with

21 that name and they ask, "Do you guys know this person?  Is this

22 person associated with any gangs?"  And based on our previous

23 investigations we're able to tell robbery/homicide investigators

24 if said person is associated with a gang.

25 Q Okay.  So it's -- You'll tell another officer whether
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1 someone's a gang member.

2 A Correct.

3 Q Do you tell the public that?  Do you have that list

4 published anywhere?

5 A No.

6 Q Okay.  If I asked you, "Can I have that list?" will

7 you give it to me?

8 A I believe you can submit a public -- or open records

9 request and get that.

10 Q Great.  Perfect.  So I can get a list of all the known

11 gang members in Clarke County with an open records request.

12 A Yes, sir.

13 Q Great.

14 You said one of the Red Tape Gang, I guess, things, is

15 they like Dodge -- Is it Dodge vehicles?  Is it anything Dodge? 

16 What's the -- Could you clarify that a little bit better?

17 A Sure.  They use Dodge monikers, especially the Hemi

18 engine.  I don't know much about cars, but Hemis have what I

19 believe is a 392 engine size.  I don't know.  But this is

20 something that I often see members of Red Tape use.

21 Q Okay.  So you label that as something that the Red

22 Tape Gang uses.  Do you ever stop people or watch people just

23 because -- like if I were wearing a Dodge shirt, would you

24 suspect me of being a Red Tape Gang member?

25 A No, sir.

68



1 Q Why not?

2 A Because of I know nothing of you, and just me seeing

3 you wouldn't tell me that.

4 Q Okay.  If it were a red Dodge shirt, would that make

5 you more suspicious that I was in a gang? -- that I was in the

6 Red Tape Gang.

7 A No, sir.

8 Q Okay.  When you're coming up with that as a thing that

9 Red Tape Gang members use, is that because you've tested that

10 and said, "I'm going to stop every person with a Red Tape" -- or

11 "with a Dodge shirt on and see if they're a Red Tape Gang

12 member"?

13 A No, sir.  So let me explain.  So when we start looking

14 at someone that we may suspect is associated with a gang, we

15 look at a lot of different variables.  Some of those variables

16 could be -- I could be looking at your Instagram, and within

17 your Instagram account you develop a lot of friends.  In your

18 Instagram account you start posting in territories that we know

19 based on investigations are common ground for Red Tape Gang, and

20 then you post pictures of yourself throwing up common hand signs

21 used by Red Tape Gang, and all of this compiled is when we start

22 looking at someone to see if they're -- or their name comes up

23 in an investigation as a suspect or a victim, that's when we

24 start looking at someone.

25 Q When you're coming up with those commonalities, did
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1 you come up with those commonalities before or after you started

2 considering the Red Tape Gang a gang?

3 A Say that again, please.

4 Q So when you're coming up with this list of things that

5 Red Tape Gang members do, is that just from observation?

6 A It's from intelligence gathering.  If you want me to

7 go a little bit deeper into Red Tape Gang, I can.

8 Q I'm just asking about the process.  It could be for

9 EBE.  It could be for any -- You're a gang expert, okay, so I am

10 asking you about the process through which you make a

11 determination about different aspects of a gang.

12 A That's mostly led by investigations.

13 Q And so you see a group that you call Red Tape Gang. 

14 When you observe different trends, that's a commonality that you

15 use to now define a Red Tape Gang member, correct?

16 A And a lot of times that group will make it public that

17 that's what they claim, that's what they belong to.

18 Q Okay.  So that becomes a commonality through your

19 observation of a gang you think already exists.

20 A Yes, sir.

21 Q Okay.  There we go.

22 So you said that a number of Red Tape Gang members

23 have national associations.

24 A Correct.

25 Q Who is that?
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1 A Mr. Miquan Pittard is one of them.

2 Q Okay.  And what are the national affiliations?

3 A Sex Money Murder.

4 Q What is the -- Who are the rest of the -- Are any of

5 the other three people we talked about here today, do they have

6 national affiliations?

7 A They do.

8 Q Okay.  And what are those affiliations?

9 A So when you are looking at Mr. Jyterious Turner, he's

10 got alliance to the Rolling 20's which is a Blood set.  When

11 you're looking at Antonio Thomas, he has allegiance to Nine Trey

12 Bloods.

13 Q Okay.

14 A And Mr. Raekwon Smith, also Sex Money Murder.

15 Q All right.

16 In the search of the apartment, you mentioned letters

17 addressed to Miquan and his mother; is that right?

18 A No.  In the search of the vehicle there was --

19 Q Okay.

20 A -- mail with Mr. Pittard's name and his mother.

21 Q All right.  And how old was that?

22 A Let me see if I can find a picture, because from what

23 I recall, if I recall correct, it was an eviction notice.  Give

24 me one second to search.

25 (Witness looking through documents.)
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1 A Unfortunately I don't have a picture of that letter

2 but it is part of my report or documents that were attached to

3 my report digitally.

4 Q Okay.  You said that you found gang lyrics.  What were

5 those gang lyrics?

6 A They were rap gang lyrics.  Again, I took a picture of

7 them and they were attached to the report digitally.

8 Q How do you know that they were gang lyrics?

9 A I read them.

10 Q What did they say that indicated they were gang

11 lyrics?

12 A I would have to look at the picture to tell you

13 verbatim.  I don't recall exactly.

14 Q Well, that's fine.  Do you have them with you?

15 A Not on me, no.

16 Q Okay.  And so did they specifically mention Red Tape

17 Gang?

18 A Again, I would have to look at the pictures that I

19 took to tell you that.

20 Q Where are those pictures located?

21 A They should be attached to my report.  I keep looking

22 at them because I sent everything to the D.A.'s office.

23 Q All right.

24 MR. KIRBY:  If I could have just a second, Judge.

25 THE COURT:  Yes.
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1 (Off-the-record discussion between counsel.)

2 MR. KIRBY:  I'll try to come back to that if it's

3 relevant.  I haven't seen them, so I'm going to go back.

4 Q (by Mr. Kirby)  You testified about a condition of

5 probation that Mr. Pittard not have any contact with gang

6 members.

7 A Correct.

8 Q Okay.  And have any of these individuals that have

9 been identified here today admitted to being in a gang?

10 A Not that I recall.

11 Q Okay.  And has there been any -- You said that this

12 list of people wasn't published; is that right?

13 A No one has asked for it.

14 Q Okay.  Do you go tell these people that you put on the

15 list of gang members that they are gang members?

16 A No, sir.

17 Q And you don't tell anybody else, right?

18 A No, sir.

19 Q So you testified that part of Red Tape Gang's -- I

20 kind of half caught it, but I think the gist was that they're in

21 the business of selling marijuana.

22 A Correct.

23 Q Okay.  Where does that money go to?

24 A I believe it goes towards the benefit of the person

25 that's selling the drugs.
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1 Q Okay.

2 A But I would also, based on my knowledge, training, and

3 experience, say that it is used to portray the gang, the gang's

4 power, their money, because a lot of times members that are

5 doing that will picture them with money fanned out, with bags of

6 marijuana, showing to the rest of the gang members that that's

7 something that they do.

8 Q Okay.  Does the money get shared amongst them?

9 A I could not answer that.

10 Q Okay.  Has anyone told you that in Red Tape Gang that

11 that money gets shared?

12 A No one has told me that.

13 Q Okay.  And -- So -- So your -- The purpose of this as

14 it relates to the gang, then, is some sort -- in your opinion is

15 some sort of notoriety, I guess, if they sell marijuana.

16 A Correct.  They have to sell themselves.

17 Q And in this -- For Red Tape Gang, has Mr. Pittard ever

18 been -- Has he ever posted marijuana on Instagram or social

19 media or anything like that?

20 A He has.

21 Q Okay.  What about other members of the gang?

22 A They have.

23 Q Did they label it for sale?

24 A A lot of times they do.

25 Q Okay.
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1 A Yes.

2 Q Great.  And how do they -- Do they have a price on

3 there?

4 A They do; the quantity and the price.

5 Q Great.  Okay.  And the rivalry in the murder of

6 Kentavious -- Is it Kentavious?

7 A Ketravian.

8 Q Ketravian; I'm sorry.  You don't have any personal

9 knowledge of that.  You didn't witness anything, did you?

10 A The murder itself?  No.

11 Q Okay.  You talked to people about it.  You did an

12 investigation.

13 A I was contacted by the investigating agency to see if

14 I had any information on Ketravian Cole.

15 Q So all of your knowledge about that is based on what

16 other people have told you, correct?

17 A And we looked at Ketravian Cole and he was an

18 associate when we first began looking at him of Red Tape Gang

19 and we then learned through investigations that he had a falling

20 out, a problem, or an issue with Red Tape and then --

21 Q Okay.  When you say investigation, that's someone else

22 telling you that, right?

23 A No.  This is investigations from drive-bys, from

24 shootings where he was the victim, that kind of intelligence.

25 Q Okay.  Is anyone currently doing any under -- Have you
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1 done any undercover work with the -- any of the gangs in Athens?

2 A I'm sorry.  Say that again.

3 Q Have you or anyone you've talked to done undercover

4 work with any of the gangs in Athens?

5 A We have.

6 Q And do you know any of your information about this

7 case from any undercover work in Athens?

8 A I do.

9 Q Okay.  The video that we saw from the Lay-Z-Shopper

10 doesn't show Mr. Pittard hitting anyone, does it?

11 A No, not hitting.

12 Q Okay.  The video itself doesn't show Mr. Pittard

13 kicking anyone, correct?

14 A Correct.

15 Q Okay.  What it shows is Antonio Thomas throwing Mr.

16 Goolsby to the ground.

17 A It does show that.

18 Q And Miquan was the -- Mr. Pittard was the last one out

19 of that store, wasn't he?

20 A Correct.

21 Q Okay.

22 MR. KIRBY:  That's all the questions I have, Judge.

23 THE COURT:  Any redirect?

24 MS. GONZALEZ:  Yes, Your Honor.

25 REDIRECT EXAMINATION
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1 BY MS. GONZALEZ:

2 Q Thank you, Officer Guardado.  Just to return to

3 something that Mr. Kirby has asked you.  You were going through

4 each of the individuals and stating, you know, what was their

5 national affiliation, and I just want to make sure that we got

6 that correct.

7 When you talked about the Defendant, Mr. Pittard, how

8 was he validated?  I mean, what gang was he validated for?

9 A So he is locally through the hybrid gang Red Tape Gang

10 but he also has affiliations with Sex Money Murder which is a

11 national gang.

12 Q Okay.  And Mr. Smith?

13 A Mr. Raekwon Smith is also Red Tape and also has

14 affiliations with Sex Money Murder.

15 Q And again, that's the national one, right?

16 A Correct.

17 Q And Mr. Turner?

18 A Mr. Turner is nationally tied with Rolling 20's and

19 Red Tape.

20 Q So Red Tape is local.

21 And the last one was Mr. Thomas, I believe that you --

22 A Antonio Thomas, yes, also locally Red Tape and

23 nationally Nine Trey Bloods.

24 Q Okay.  Thank you.

25 And the other thing that Mr. Kirby had asked you and
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1 you had responded about, showing money in the social media and

2 also the notoriety of the Red Tape Gang in terms of selling

3 marijuana in this case.

4 A Correct.

5 Q And that reputation being of importance to Red Tape

6 gang members?

7 A Correct.

8 Q And does that affect the leadership that you saw from

9 Mr. Pittard in the Red Tape Gang?

10 A It does.

11 Q And how is that shown?

12 A Once you -- Based on my knowledge, training, and

13 experience, from past investigations, in order to maintain

14 status, you have to put in work.  You put in work by committing

15 crimes such as selling marijuana, and you show other gang

16 members that you're doing this by constantly putting it on your

17 social media, and if I can say, bragging about it.

18 Q Okay.  Thank you.

19 If you are a leader in this kind of situation, do you

20 necessarily do the actually activities or might you be instead

21 guiding and facilitating other lower level gang members to that

22 activity?

23 A Based on my investigations and dealing with Mr.

24 Pittard directly, he does both.  He sells marijuana and he also

25 helps others.
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1 Q Okay.

2 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you, Your Honor.  No further

3 questions.

4 THE COURT:  Any recross?

5 MR. KIRBY:  No, sir.

6 THE COURT:  All right.  Can he be excused or just go

7 down?

8 MS. GONZALEZ:  He can be excused, Your Honor.

9 THE COURT:  Any objection, Mr. Kirby, to him being

10 excused?

11 MR. KIRBY:  I just want to take a look at those rap

12 lyrics.  I can do that right now if we're going to break

13 for lunch and just clarify that for him.

14 THE COURT:  Okay.  I don't understand.  You're going

15 to do that right now?

16 MR. KIRBY:  Yeah, I will do that right now and search

17 for it and if that -- If there's nothing that's relevant,

18 then we can come back.

19 THE COURT:  Okay.  How long do you think it will take

20 you to do that?

21 MR. KIRBY:  Just a couple of minutes.  I just haven't

22 seen it, so I don't know if I'm missing something.

23 THE COURT:  You can take a minute and do that.

24 MR. KIRBY:  Okay.

25 (Brief pause.)

79



1 MR. KIRBY:  If I could just briefly, Judge, while

2 Officer Guardado is here.

3 THE COURT:  Yes.  You have a question?

4 MR. KIRBY:  I just have a question.

5 THE COURT:  Sure.

6 MR. KIRBY:  Yeah, just a follow-up.

7 RECROSS-EXAMINATION

8 BY MR. KIRBY:

9 Q You are positive that those lyrics that you found in

10 the search of Apartment J-3 are gang lyrics?  You would classify

11 them as gang lyrics.

12 A So what I would tell you, again, dealing with

13 investigations with Mr. Pittard is that he has produced and

14 published several rap videos with lyrics where he tells everyone

15 that he's a member of Red Tape and the crimes that he's involved

16 with.

17 Q Okay.  So are you not sure whether the lyrics that 

18 you --

19 A I would have to look at the picture, sir.

20 Q Okay.

21 MR. KIRBY:  Judge, if I could just approach, maybe it

22 will help the witness.

23 THE COURT:  You may.

24 (The witness reviewing Mr. Kirby's laptop.)

25 A I mean, it's really hard to read off the computer, but
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1 one of the lines here says, "A kitchen full of bags and setting

2 guns in my mama couch."  

3 If you recall earlier, we recovered a red bag

4 containing suspected marijuana and also a chest rig with two

5 fully-loaded magazines for an AR rifle by the couch.  So it's

6 all related to the illegal activities that he does.

7 Q (by Mr. Kirby)  But my question is:  You as an expert

8 in gang activity classify or categorize these or describe them

9 as gang lyrics.  And I'd like just to know what about them you

10 as the expert think they're related to the gang.

11 A Yes.  So in my opinion when he brags about the illegal

12 crimes he does, again, he's showing -- he's doing it to show his

13 position within the gang.

14 Q Okay.  Isn't that a lot of rap music?

15 A (No response.)

16 Q Doesn't it talk about crime?  Doesn't it talk about

17 that sort of thing?

18 A Yeah, but he's being specific in his writings, things

19 that have happened.

20 Q Specific to the Red Tape Gang?

21 A Correct.  He's saying that he has drugs and that he

22 has guns on his mama's couch.  That's something that I

23 investigated and looked at and can tell you that has happened.

24 Q Right.

25 A Like I said, it's really hard to read the rest of it

81



1 on the computer.  I wish I had the actual lyrics, the actual

2 paper, to read it off to you, and I could give you more examples

3 on what makes me think that's gang related.

4 Q Okay.  Thank you.

5 MR. KIRBY:  That's all the questions I have, Judge.

6 THE COURT:  All right.  So he can be excused; is that

7 correct?

8 MS. GONZALEZ:  Yes, Your Honor.

9 MR. KIRBY:  From our standpoint, he can.

10 THE COURT:  Okay.  You're excused.

11 THE WITNESS:  Thank you, Your Honor.

12 THE COURT:  We're going to stop for lunch.  Here's my

13 thought.  We'll be back at 1:30 and I'll leave word for Mr.

14 Cain to get his things ready.  Back at 1:30.

15 MS. GONZALEZ:  Okay.

16 THE COURT:  As far as this case is concerned, 1:45.

17 MS. GONZALEZ:  Gotcha.

18 THE COURT:  Does that make sense?

19 MS. GONZALEZ:  Yes, Your Honor.

20 THE COURT:  This doesn't really -- I'm taking a plea

21 at 1:30.  That's what it amounts to.

22 MR. KIRBY:  Yes, sir.

23 MS. GONZALEZ:  I have the memorandum ready for the

24 plea, so I will bring that in early.

25 THE COURT:  Okay.  That'll be fine.

82



1 MS. GONZALEZ:  Okay.  Thank you.

2 THE COURT:  All right.

3 MR. KIRBY:  Thank you, Judge.  

4 THE COURT:  We're in recess.

5 (Lunch recess was taken.)

6 THE COURT:  Y'all ready?

7 MS. GONZALEZ:  Yes, we are, Your Honor.  The State

8 calls Rebecca Herold to the stand.

9 (Brief pause.)

10 THE COURT:  You may proceed.

11 MS. GONZALEZ:  Okay.  Thank you.

12 REBECCA HEROLD

13 having been duly sworn, testified as follows:

14 DIRECT EXAMINATION

15 BY MS. GONZALEZ:

16 Q Can you please state and spell your name.

17 A My name is Rebecca Herold, R-E-B-E-C-C-A H-E-R-O-L-D.

18 Q Thank you.

19 Where are you employed?

20 A I'm employed as a special agent with the Georgia

21 Bureau of Investigation.

22 Q And you said in the capacity of special agent.  And

23 how long have you served in your current capacity?

24 A I've been employed for a little bit over 20 years.

25 Q Twenty years, okay.
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1 And what are your professional duties?

2 A Right now I'm assigned to the GBI Gang Task Force and

3 I'm also detached to the FBI Safe Streets Gang Task Force here

4 in Athens.

5 Q Okay.  And what sort of specialized training have you

6 received to perform those duties?

7 A I have received over 2584 hours of training and 282 of

8 those hours have been in specialized gang training.

9 Q Thank you.

10 Have you ever held any other positions in law

11 enforcement?

12 A No, ma'am.

13 Q Do you have any additional prior law enforcement

14 training?

15 A No, ma'am.

16 Q Do you hold any degrees or certifications pertaining

17 to law enforcement?

18 A Yes, I do.  I'm a POST certified officer and I also

19 have a certification -- I'm a POST instructor for the State of

20 Georgia.

21 Q Thank you.

22 Are you a member of any law enforcement organizations?

23 A I am.  I've been a member of the Georgia Gang

24 Investigators Association since 2016 and I've got a

25 certification in basic investigations of gang -- I'm sorry --
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1 basic gang investigations.  I got that in 2016 and then in 2018

2 I got a certification in intermediate gang investigations.

3 Q Have you received any awards or recognition for this

4 type of service?

5 A I have received awards in law enforcement but not

6 specifically for gang investigations.

7 Q Okay.  You mentioned you were an instructor?

8 A Yes, ma'am.

9 Q Have you ever been asked to make presentations on law

10 enforcement topics to any professional organizations?

11 A I have.

12 Q Okay.  Can you tell me where?

13 A Yes, ma'am.  I have taught the basic academy for the

14 Georgia Bureau of Investigation.  I've taught wire taps

15 involving gang cases and drug trafficking cases.  I've also done

16 presentations throughout the country to teach FBI supervisors

17 about wire tap investigations.

18 Q Thank you so much.

19 I'm going to transition a little bit now to the gangs

20 and criminal street gangs.

21 A Okay.

22 Q What are your duties specific to being a member of the

23 gang unit for the GBI?

24 A Well, with the GBI, I'm currently detached to the FBI

25 Safe Streets Gang Task Force, so every day I report to Athens
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1 and I work with the federal agencies in conjunction with Athens-

2 Clarke County Gang Unit and we conduct investigations into, you

3 know, shootings or other felonies committed by gang members.

4 Q Thank you.

5 A Uh-huh (affirmative response).

6 Q Do you hold any offices or positions in the

7 organizations that you have spoken about?

8 A No, ma'am.

9 Q Okay.  Have you ever been asked to teach on the

10 subject of criminal street gangs?

11 A No, ma'am.

12 Q Are you familiar with the laws of Georgia or any other

13 jurisdiction when it comes to criminal street gangs?

14 A Yes, ma'am.

15 Q Okay.  And how are you knowledgeable in that area?

16 A We use the statute every day in our investigations.

17 Q Okay.  Do you study gang trends in Georgia?

18 A Yes, ma'am, I do.

19 Q And what sources do you rely on for that?

20 A We rely on several different sources; intelligence

21 gathering.  We do search warrants.  We do surveillance,

22 interviews, a lot of different sources.  We talk with other law

23 enforcement officers, rely on some of the experiences that

24 they've had and share that kind of information.

25 Q And in terms of your personal experience with the
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1 years in the GBI and now the FBI Safe Streets, can you provide

2 an estimate of maybe how many gangs you have investigated?

3 A The gangs themselves, I would say probably over ten.

4 Q Okay.  And how many cases involving gang members?

5 A Over a hundred.

6 Q And how many times have you come in contact with gang

7 members?

8 A Over a hundred.

9 Q Have those contacts been part of official

10 investigations or intelligence gathering?

11 A Both.

12 Q Thank you.

13 And can you tell us approximately how many gang

14 members you've investigated or interviewed?

15 A I would say probably well over a hundred, probably

16 more than that.

17 Q Thank you.

18 And have you ever been asked to provide assistance to

19 investigations or prosecutions of criminal street gangs?

20 A Yes, ma'am.

21 Q How many times and under what circumstances?

22 A A large portion of my background is conducting

23 investigations into homicides and other kinds of aggravated

24 assaults and violent crimes so a lot of those crimes have been

25 committed by gang members, so I've had to testify and be apart
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1 of those investigations for the last 20 years.

2 Q Thank you.

3 And are you part of sharing information and

4 intelligence with law enforcement and other agencies?

5 A Yes, ma'am.

6 Q Is that part of your everyday duties?

7 A Yes, ma'am.  We have intelligence meetings and we

8 share that information with other law enforcement. 

9 Q Okay.  Thank you.

10 Do you stay current on gang trends including

11 rivalries, alliances, customs, and habits?

12 A Yes, ma'am.

13 Q Is that in Georgia or do you have any specific

14 experience and training, familiarity specific to Athens-Clarke

15 County?

16 A Yes, ma'am.  This is the area that I work in so this

17 is where most of my knowledge would be based.

18 Q Gotcha.

19 When you come into contact with those gang members,

20 what's the purpose of speaking to them?

21 A It depends.  Sometimes they're a witness, a suspect

22 interview.  Sometimes they just have information to provide.  It

23 just kind of depends on what the investigation is.

24 Q And is this done with gang members who are both in and

25 out of custody?
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1 A Yes, ma'am.

2 Q Okay.  Are these gang members always forthcoming when

3 it comes to giving you information about the gang?

4 A No, ma'am.

5 Q Are there other agencies that share information about

6 gangs with you?

7 A Yes, ma'am.

8 Q And who are they?

9 A Other federal agencies, other FBI agencies, ATF, DEA,

10 other GBI offices, local law enforcement.

11 Q Have you ever testified in Athens-Clarke County

12 before?

13 A Yes, ma'am.

14 Q And in what capacity?

15 A As a special agent, as a lead investigator in several

16 cases.

17 Q Okay.  And about how many times would you say you've

18 testified here?

19 A Well over a hundred.

20 Q Over a hundred.  Thank you.

21 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, the State moves to have

22 Agent Rebecca Herold declared as an expert in criminal

23 street gangs and criminal gang activity.

24 THE COURT:  Any objection?

25 MR. KIRBY:  Judge, I just don't know what the purpose
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1 is for that that would necessarily help you understand

2 what's going on that Officer Guardado did not help you

3 understand what's going on.  I've heard a lot of answers

4 about general knowledge and work with gangs.  I don't know

5 how that particularly relates to anything that we've heard

6 here that you would need help understanding.

7 THE COURT:  I'll allow the witness to testify as an

8 expert in criminal street gangs and criminal street gang

9 activity.

10 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you, Your Honor.

11 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Are you familiar with the Red Tape

12 Gang?

13 A Yes, ma'am.

14 Q Are you familiar with the ACCPD criteria to identify

15 or confirm gang members?

16 A Yes, ma'am.

17 Q Is there a similar criteria used by the GBI Gang Unit

18 and by the FBI Safe Streets Unit?

19 A The FBI Safe Streets Gang Task Force usually does not

20 do validations, but I personally have used the Athens-Clarke

21 County Gang Unit validation forms and their criteria.

22 Q Okay.  Thank you.

23 And how are you familiar with the Red Tape Gang?

24 A We have had several investigations that involved

25 crimes committed by the Red Tape Gang and also against them.
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1 Q Okay.  Have these investigations been in the Athens-

2 Clarke County area?

3 A Yes, ma'am.

4 Q Thank you.

5 And how did you identify them as Red Tape Gang

6 members?

7 A Any one in particular you're asking about or just in

8 general?

9 Q In general.

10 A Okay.  Red Tape Gang is a hybrid gang.  They're

11 comprised of several national sets to include Sex Money Murder,

12 Brims, and Rolling 20's.  They kind of use -- Well, they use the

13 common monikers like RTG or R/T, Hemi Gang, also SRT.  These are

14 Dodge package vehicle logos and they kind of have adopted that

15 as symbols for their gang and they also display red -- obviously

16 their color would be red, and they have -- They have a clothing

17 line that has SRT or Hemi Gang, those kind of logos on it, so

18 those are some of the symbols that they use.

19 Q Are you familiar with the Defendant in this case?

20 A I am.

21 Q And how are you familiar with the Defendant?

22 A I'm familiar with him through several investigations

23 that have involved him.

24 Q Can you identify the Defendant in the courtroom by

25 location and an item of clothing they are wearing?
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1 A I can.  He's sitting at the Defense table and he's

2 wearing an orange jail-issued outfit.

3 Q Thank you.

4 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, let the record show that

5 Agent Herold has identified the Defendant, Miquan Pittard.

6 THE COURT:  It will.

7 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you.

8 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  In your opinion and based on the

9 work that you've done and that you've seen the Defendant before,

10 is the Defendant a member of a criminal street gang?

11 A Yes, ma'am.

12 Q And what criminal street gang do you believe the

13 Defendant to be a member of?

14 A Red Tape Gang.

15 Q And what do you base this opinion on?

16 A A lot of different investigative techniques through

17 interviews, observations, social media, monitoring records.

18 Q And how did you get involved in this case?

19 A Detective Juan Guardado spoke with me the morning

20 after this incident happened and asked for my assistance.

21 Q Is that the common process to get your assistance in

22 an investigation like this?

23 A Yes, ma'am.

24 Q And how many other times have you been asked to assist

25 in that process?
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1 A Several times.

2 Q Thank you.

3 Did you obtain a search warrant for the Instagram

4 social medial platform?

5 A Yes, ma'am.

6 Q And what was the search warrant for?

7 A I obtained a search warrant for the Instagram records

8 for Miquan Pittard along with the other Co-Defendants in this

9 case.

10 Q Okay.  Thank you.

11 (State's Exhibit Numbers 10 and 11 were marked for purposes

12 of identification.)

13 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, may I approach?

14 THE COURT:  Yes.

15 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  I am going to show you what's

16 marked as State's Exhibits 10 and 11.  Can you please take a

17 look at them and let us know what they are.

18 A Yes, ma'am.  Exhibit 10 is an individualized report

19 taken from the Instagram records belonging to Miquan Pittard of

20 a conversation that he had with Instagram Account --

21 MR. KIRBY:  Judge, I'm going to object to the contents

22 of that until it's admitted.

23 THE WITNESS:  I wasn't going into content.

24 MR. KIRBY:  Okay.  I didn't know -- before we got into

25 it.
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1 THE WITNESS:  Okay.

2 A I was going to say who the conversation is with --

3 underscore DiegoRich underscore. 

4 And Exhibit 11 is an individualized report that's

5 taken from the Instagram records from Miquan Pittard's Instagram

6 account with Daysuave. 

7 Q Are these true and accurate depictions of what you

8 received from Instagram?

9 A Yes, ma'am.

10 Q When you submitted that did Instagram send you a

11 certificate with it?

12 A In the records?

13 Q Yes.

14 A Yes, ma'am.  I believe so.

15 MS. GONZALEZ:  Judge, the State would like to admit

16 State's exhibits marked 10 and 11 into the record.

17 THE COURT:  Any objection?

18 MR. KIRBY:  Yes, sir, Judge.  They're hearsay.  The

19 records are not self-authenticating.  I haven't seen a

20 record, I don't believe, that those are records of normal

21 business activities or anything like that to admit the

22 contents of that.  I don't know where those came from.  The

23 contents of those records, I think, would still need to be

24 authenticated.

25 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, she just testified that in
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1 fact she did get a certificate.

2 THE COURT:  The certificate, that was as a result of a

3 response from the --

4 MS. GONZALEZ:  Search warrant.

5 THE COURT:  -- search warrant.  And has that been

6 filed?

7 MS. GONZALEZ:  The search warrant?

8 THE COURT:  The search warrant.

9 MS. GONZALEZ:  It hasn't been introduced.

10 THE COURT:  No, no.  Was the search warrant filed and

11 the return filed?

12 MS. GONZALEZ:  Yes.

13 THE COURT:  Okay.  Anything else?

14 MR. KIRBY:  No, sir.  I think that in order to

15 introduce the records that we would still need some

16 authentication from Instagram.

17 THE COURT:  I'll overrule the objection and I'll admit

18 them.

19 MS. GONZALEZ:  Okay.

20 THE COURT:  The thing from Instagram is the response,

21 sir.

22 MR. KIRBY:  Okay.  Is that being -- Has that been

23 introduced?

24 THE COURT:  I assume that's what she's about to --

25 Were you not shown that?
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1 MR. KIRBY:  Not the certificate from Instagram.

2 THE COURT:  The response from -- I haven't seen it.

3 MR. KIRBY:  Okay.

4 MS. GONZALEZ:  Do you want me to show you these before

5 I --

6 THE COURT:  The records that you're seeking to

7 introduce that are 10 and 11, do they include a formal

8 response from Instagram indicating that those are their

9 records -- from their records?

10 MS. GONZALEZ:  No, Your Honor.  These are just the

11 records that we received.

12 THE COURT:  With no other attachment?

13 MS. GONZALEZ:  No.

14 THE COURT:  I'm not going to admit those.

15 MS. GONZALEZ:  Okay, Your Honor.

16 THE COURT:  I thought they were attached to the search

17 warrant response.

18 MS. GONZALEZ:  If you give us a moment, we can find

19 it.

20 THE COURT:  Well, I'll give you a minute to look if

21 you want to do that.

22 MS. GONZALEZ:  We can continue this and then come back

23 to that.

24 THE COURT:  Okay.  That'll be fine.

25 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you, Your Honor.
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1 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  For a moment I want to turn to the

2 events of August 30th, 2022, and on August 30th, 2022, which of

3 your capacities were you working with?

4 A I'm sorry.  I don't understand your question.

5 Q On August 30 of 2022 were you participating in a

6 surveillance?

7 A Yes, ma'am.

8 Q With what group?

9 A We were all working in conjunction with each other. 

10 Safe Streets Task Force works with Athens-Clarke County Police

11 Department, so our groups were working together that day.

12 Q Thank you.

13 A Uh-huh (affirmative response).

14 Q And was that surveillance at 288 Bailey Street,

15 Apartment J-3, Pinewoods Apartment complex in Athens, Georgia?

16 A Yes, ma'am.

17 Q Okay.  Thank you.

18 And why was there this surveillance happening in that

19 apartment?

20 A Because we were trying to locate Mr. Pittard.  He was

21 going to be meeting with his probation officer that day, or he

22 had an appointment that day, and we were going to arrest him.

23 Q Okay.  And then was there a search warrant made for

24 the search of the apartment that you were surveilling?

25 A Yes, ma'am.
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1 Q Did you take part in that search?

2 A Yes, ma'am.

3 Q Who else took part in that search?

4 A FBI Safe Streets Gang Task Force and Athens-Clarke

5 County Gang Unit.

6 Q And did that include Officer Guardado?

7 A Guardado?  Yes, it did.

8 Q Thank you.

9 And during that search did you and Officer Guardado

10 seize any substance that looked like and appeared to you in your

11 experience and training to be marijuana?

12 A Yes, ma'am.

13 Q And where did you find that?

14 A There was a large bag of what appeared to be marijuana

15 in the kitchen in a book bag.

16 Q In a book bag?

17 A Yes.

18 Q Do you remember the color of the book bag?

19 A It was red.

20 Q And what did you do once you saw the marijuana in the

21 book bag?

22 A The items of evidence that were seized from the

23 apartment were transported back to the Athens-Clarke County

24 Police Department where Detective Guardado and I entered it into

25 their system.
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1 Q Okay.  And once you entered it into their system, what

2 happens with it?

3 A Then the items that were submitted to the GBI Crime

4 Lab, a submission form was done and it was transported there.

5 Q Okay.  Thank you.

6 Can you please tell us how you assisted Officer

7 Guardado in his investigation of the Defendant?

8 A I assisted him with the interviews and reviewing

9 footage from the different surveillance camera angles, writing

10 search warrants and executing those search warrants.  I assisted

11 him in searching the vehicle that was transported from downtown

12 to the police department.

13 Q Thank you very much for that.

14 A Yes, ma'am.

15 MS. GONZALEZ:  I have no further questions at this

16 moment, Your Honor.

17 THE COURT:  You may cross-examine.

18 MR. KIRBY:  Nothing, Judge.  Oh, I actually do have

19 one question.

20 CROSS-EXAMINATION

21 BY MR. KIRBY:

22 Q Why doesn't the FBI use validation like the Clarke

23 County Police Department?

24 A I don't know.  I don't know the answer to that one.

25 Q That hasn't been a part of any of your training as to
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1 like whether or not there's a split in other experts?

2 A It has not.  Normally the FBI Safe Streets Gang Task

3 Force is comprised of FBI agents but also TFOs or TFAs from

4 other agencies.  In particular in our case we've got people from

5 the Athens-Clarke County Police Department that are part of our

6 task force, the GBI, and also Corrections.  So Corrections has

7 their own validation process.  GBI uses something very similar

8 or whoever -- whatever agency they're working with, they'll use

9 their process and kind of go that way.  But as far as FBI having

10 their own validation, I'm not aware of anything like that, and

11 we haven't received any training on that.

12 Q So there's not a standard set of criteria that are

13 used in any particular validation.  Department by department has

14 different ones?

15 A They have different ones, but I think generally

16 they're all very similar if not the same.  People kind of use

17 them as templates or they take that from other agencies like the

18 Department of Community Service, that sort of thing.

19 Q Or they just don't use them at all?

20 A True.

21 Q Okay.

22 MR. KIRBY:  That's all the questions I have, Judge.

23 MS. GONZALEZ:  Follow-up, Your Honor.

24 THE COURT:  Sure.

25 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you.
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1 REDIRECT EXAMINATION

2 BY MS. GONZALEZ:

3 Q In your review and while you're doing this

4 investigation, do you also review social media?

5 A Yes, ma'am.

6 Q And in your review of Mr. Pittard's Instagram records,

7 did you come across any contact with known gang members?

8 MR. KIRBY:  Judge, I'm going to object to that in

9 terms of where were -- you know, what exactly she would be

10 talking about or the opportunity to see what it is that she

11 would be talking about.  I haven't been introduced with any

12 of that.

13 MS. GONZALEZ:  We're not discussing the content.

14 THE COURT:  Well, we're not there yet, so I don't

15 know.  I'll overrule that objection, but we'll see what

16 else we --

17 MS. GONZALEZ:  We're not discussing the content, Your

18 Honor.

19 THE COURT:  You may continue.

20 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you.

21 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  So as you're reviewing Mr.

22 Pittard's Instagram records, did you come across contact with

23 known gang members?

24 A Yes, ma'am.

25 Q About the dates of August 23rd, 2022?
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1 A Yes, ma'am.

2 Q And were they validated gang members?

3 A Yes, ma'am.

4 Q Were they validated for a specific criminal gang?

5 A If you're referring to a conversation on the 23rd,

6 yes, ma'am, Red Tape Gang.

7 Q Thank you.

8 MS. GONZALEZ:  No further questions, Your Honor.

9 THE COURT:  Anything else?

10 MR. KIRBY:  No, Judge.

11 THE COURT:  Can she be excused?

12 MS. GONZALEZ:  Yes, she may, Your Honor.

13 THE COURT:  Any objection?

14 MR. KIRBY:  No, sir.

15 THE COURT:  You're excused.

16 THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

17 THE COURT:  You may call your next witness.

18 MS. GONZALEZ:  The State calls Mary Powell to the

19 stand.

20 THE COURT:  Mary Powell.

21 MR. KEGLEY:  Your Honor, I think she's in the law

22 library.

23 THE COURT:  Okay.

24 MARY POWELL

25 having been duly sworn, testified as follows:
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1 DIRECT EXAMINATION

2 BY MS. GONZALEZ:

3 Q If you can take your seat, please come forward to the

4 mic so that we can hear you, and if you can state and spell your

5 name.

6 A Mary Powell, M-A-R-Y P-O-W-E-L-L.

7 Q Thank you.

8 What is your occupation and profession?

9 A I am a forensic chemist at the Georgia Bureau of

10 Investigation Division of Forensic Sciences in the chemistry

11 lab.

12 Q Okay.  How long have you been a forensic chemist with

13 the GBI?

14 A For about six and a half years.

15 Q And where did you receive your education?

16 A From the University of Georgia.

17 Q And where did you receive your training in

18 microanalysis and forensic chemistry?

19 A Within the GBI chemistry lab for about eight years

20 worth of training.

21 Q And exactly what does microanalysis involve?

22 A Testing all different types of controlled substances.

23 Q And are you a member of any specialized medical or

24 scientific groups or associations because of your work?

25 A Yes.
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1 Q What are those groups?

2 A I belong to SAFS.

3 Q And what does that stand for?

4 A I do not recall off the top of my head.

5 Q Understood.  Many --

6 COURT REPORTER:  What are the letters?

7 MS. GONZALEZ:  I'm sorry?

8 COURT REPORTER:  What are the letters?

9 THE COURT:  What are the letters?

10 THE WITNESS:  S-A-F-S.

11 THE COURT:  S-A-S-S.

12 THE WITNESS:  S-A-F-S.

13 MS. GONZALEZ:  F-S.

14 THE WITNESS:  F as in Frank.

15 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you so much.

16 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Okay.  Do you follow any

17 publications or journals in your field?

18 A Yes.

19 Q Okay.  And do you teach or conduct seminars in your

20 field?

21 A No.

22 Q And what are your duties as a forensic analyst with

23 the GBI?

24 A I test for the presence or absence of controlled

25 substances.
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1 Q Okay.  And during your experience in the GBI office,

2 you said about six and a half years, how many microanalysis have

3 you performed?

4 A I've done approximately twenty-five hundred cases.

5 Q Okay.  Have you ever been called to testify in court

6 before?

7 A Yes.

8 Q In testifying have you ever been declared as an expert

9 witness before?

10 A Yes.

11 Q In what areas have you testified as an expert?

12 A What do you mean exactly by --

13 Q What were you declared an expert witness in?

14 A Oh.  In chemistry.

15 Q Thank you.

16 A Drug identification; excuse me.

17 Q And approximately how many times have you testified as

18 an expert witness?

19 A Approximately ten times.

20 Q Okay.  And have you testified as an expert in Athens-

21 Clarke County before?

22 A No.

23 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, the State moves Mary Powell

24 be declared an expert in the field of microanalysis and

25 forensic chemistry.
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1 THE COURT:  Any objection?

2 MR. KIRBY:  No objection, Judge.

3 THE COURT:  The witness will be allowed to testify as

4 an expert in the area of forensic chemistry, drug

5 identification.

6 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you.

7 (State's Exhibit was marked for purposes of

8 identification.)

9 MS. GONZALEZ:  May I approach, Your Honor?

10 THE COURT:  Yes.

11 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Ms. Powell, I am now handing you

12 what is now listed as State's Exhibit 10.  Would you take a look

13 at that and let us know what it is.

14 A This is my report.

15 Q What is it a report of?

16 A A report of Item or DOFS Item Number 7 that I tested.

17 Q And so that's results of the testing that you did?

18 A Yes.

19 Q Is that a true and accurate depiction of the report?

20 A Yes.

21 Q Thank you.

22 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, the State would like to

23 have admitted into evidence State's Exhibit 10.

24 THE COURT:  Any objection?

25 MR. KIRBY:  No objection, Judge.
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1 THE COURT:  10's admitted.  Let me go back.  The two

2 items -- I want to mark that as another number because the

3 record's going to talk about State's 10 and 11 that were

4 not admitted, and I don't want there to be any confusion. 

5 So that should be 12.

6 (State's Exhibit Number 12 was marked for purposes of

7 identification.)

8 MS. GONZALEZ:  May I publish on the Hovercam?

9 THE COURT:  Yes.

10 (The exhibit was displayed.)

11 Q (by Ms. Gonzalez)  Ms. Powell, if you can just look,

12 I'm going to point with the pen so you can see it there on your

13 screen.

14 This is indicating what here in this part right here

15 of your report?

16 A Those are the items I received.

17 Q Okay.  And can you describe how samples are received

18 in the GBI forensics lab.

19 A They're received through our lockbox system.  It's

20 similar to a P.O. Box where the agent will drop the evidence

21 within a lockbox, close the door where it's no longer

22 accessible.  It's only assessable within the evidence receiving

23 lab, and once it's received by the technicians in the evidence

24 receiving lab, they will look at it, compare it to the

25 submission form that the agent placed with it, make sure there's
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1 no -- make sure the seal is complete, compare the AC case number

2 and the agent and the agency with the evidence.  It will then be

3 processed into our laboratory information management system, or

4 LIMS, where it is given its own DOFS case number and its own

5 unique barcode.  Then it is stored in our vault until it's

6 assigned to an analyst.

7 Q Thank you.

8 Were you assigned to do the testing on these

9 particular samples?

10 A Yes.

11 Q And how is that assignment made?  Is it random?

12 A I request cases, and my manager will give me whatever

13 cases are available.

14 Q Okay.  Thank you.

15 And what tests did you run on these particular

16 samples?

17 A I weighed it first on the electronic balance.  I then

18 performed microscopy to look at the identification on the leaves

19 and also the gas chromatography/mass spectrometry or GCMS.

20 Q Okay.  Now, you say you weigh it first.  Could you

21 tell us what was the weight of those samples that you received?

22 A Yes.  The total net weight was 288.34 grams plus or

23 minus .08 grams.

24 Q Okay.  Thank you.

25 And what was the result of the microscopy and the gas
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1 chromatography test?

2 A It was positive for the plant material of the genus

3 cannabis.

4 Q And did that mean that in essence the test gave

5 results that there was a presence of cannabis?

6 A Yes.

7 Q Okay.  Thank you.

8 And were there any other results of the tests you

9 conducted?

10 A It is above .3 percent of tetrahydrocannabinol.

11 Q You noted here that 3 percent.  Why was that

12 significant in your report?

13 A It's defined in the law as .3 percent is the division

14 between hemp and marijuana.

15 Q Okay. 

16 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you, Your Honor.  No further

17 questions.

18 THE COURT:  You may cross-examine.

19 CROSS-EXAMINATION

20 BY MR. KIRBY:

21 Q Do you all do any testing that differentiates

22 tetrahydrocannabinol 8, 9, or 10 or any other variation of THC?

23 A We can.

24 Q Okay.  But did you on this?

25 A No.
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1 MR. KIRBY:  That's all the questions I have.

2 THE COURT:  Any redirect?

3 MS. GONZALEZ:  No redirect, Your Honor.

4 THE COURT:  Can she be excused?

5 MS. GONZALEZ:  Yes, she may.

6 THE COURT:  Any objection, Mr. Kirby?

7 MR. KIRBY:  No objection.

8 THE COURT:  You're excused, ma'am.

9 THE WITNESS:  Thank you, Your Honor.

10 THE COURT:  You may call your next witness. 

11 MS. GONZALEZ:  The State has no more witnesses to

12 call, Your Honor.

13 THE COURT:  Okay.  Mr. Kirby, any evidence?

14 MR. KIRBY:  No, sir.

15 THE COURT:  Okay.  I'll hear from the State and

16 Defense and the State, if necessary.

17 CLOSING ARGUMENT

18 MS. GONZALEZ:  Your Honor, I just want to reiterate

19 what the allegations of probation violations are in terms

20 of the conditions:  Do not violate the criminal laws of any

21 government unit.  Do not violate -- in that -- in that the

22 Defendant committed the new offenses of aggravated assault,

23 robbery by force, unlawful for person who occupies criminal

24 street gang position, organizer, supervision or leadership

25 to engage, consider criminal gang activity and violation of
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1 the Street Gang Terrorism and Prevention Act on or about

2 August 25th, 2022, in Clarke County, Georgia.  Violation of

3 Condition Number 1, do not violate the criminal laws of any

4 government unit, in that the Defendant committed the new

5 criminal offense of purchase, possession, manufacture,

6 distribution or sale of marijuana in violation of Street

7 Gang Terrorism and Prevention Act on or about August 30th,

8 2022, in Clarke County, Georgia, in that the Defendant did

9 in fact violate the special condition of street gang

10 activity, the Defendant shall not knowingly have any

11 contact of any kind or character with any other member or

12 associate of a criminal street gang.

13 And with the witnesses --

14 THE COURT:  I don't know if you're asking for this,

15 but I don't -- It talks about aggravated assault, robbery

16 by force.  We didn't hear any evidence on either one of

17 those, did we?

18 MS. GONZALEZ:  No, we did not, Your Honor.

19 THE COURT:  Okay.  So am I -- So what does that leave

20 us with?  Participation in criminal street gang activity

21 and possession of some 288 grams of marijuana?

22 MS. GONZALEZ:  Yes, Your Honor.

23 THE COURT:  Is that what it leaves us with?

24 MS. GONZALEZ:  And the special conditions, Your Honor.

25 THE COURT:  Right.  Was there anything else?  There's
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1 a lot of things mentioned here, but I don't think we had

2 those things.

3 MS. GONZALEZ:  No, Your Honor.

4 THE COURT:  Okay.  I wanted to narrow that down so you

5 didn't have to go there.

6 I'll hear from you and then --

7 Are you finished now?

8 MS. GONZALEZ:  No, not yet.  I'm sorry.

9 THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.

10 MS. GONZALEZ:  I just wanted to get through your

11 questions first.

12 THE COURT:  Okay.  That's fine.

13 MS. GONZALEZ:  But, you know, the evidence that we did

14 present as you heard from Officer Guardado and the evidence

15 presented through the videos, the various videos that

16 you've seen, the photos that we had here, and specifically

17 if you look at the book bag that had the particular bags

18 and the contents of the marijuana, that those were there

19 because they were evidence of intent to sell that

20 particular substance but especially when you see the

21 special conditions, street gang activity, not knowingly

22 have contact, we see him over and over again in the videos

23 and in the Instagram messages having that contact with

24 known gang members who have been verified and authenticated

25 by two gang -- criminal gang experts.
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1 Thank you, Your Honor.

2 THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am.

3 Yes, sir, Mr. Kirby.

4 MR. KIRBY:  I just kind of want to get this straight

5 as much for myself as I think for the Court.

6 There were a number of gang act statute violations

7 there were related to the aggravated assault and the armed

8 robbery.  I would assume that those go away.  If they

9 predicated -- You know, they require a predicate act, and

10 if the predicate act has not been proven, then the gang act

11 cases go away that were based on those predicate acts of

12 armed robbery and aggravated assault.

13 THE COURT:  Well, when you say "go away," this is a

14 probation revocation issue.

15 MR. KIRBY:  Oh, I'm not -- a hundred percent.

16 THE COURT:  Okay.

17 MR. KIRBY:  I just mean in terms of consideration for

18 whether or not -- because there are gang acts based on the

19 agg assault and then there are the actual underlying agg

20 assaults, I believe, or maybe they're all --

21 So condition one is new criminal offenses.

22 THE COURT:  Uh-huh (affirmative response).

23 MR. KIRBY:  And under those we have two counts of

24 aggravated assault, robbery by force, and then we have the

25 Gang Act charges.  I would assume that the Gang Act charges

113



1 -- Well, it says that they're based off of -- it says times

2 three on there, and I would imagine that that has to do

3 with the agg assault and the armed robbery, but it doesn't

4 list that under the first violation.  So there would have

5 to be some predicate act for the Gang Act -- violation of

6 the Gang Prevention and Terrorism Act and all that. 

7 THE COURT:  Well, I'm listening to you, but I haven't

8 started digesting all of that at this point.

9 MR. KIRBY:  Okay.

10 As I read Violation 1 under Condition 1 of the

11 petition is that -- Do not violate the criminal laws.  Did

12 commit the new offense of aggravated assault, two counts,

13 times two, "x 2."  Those go away because we haven't heard

14 any proof of that, as agreed to by the State.

15 We have robbery by force.  That goes away without any

16 evidence, as agreed to by the State.

17 We have the Gang Act leadership is three counts of

18 that; Gang Act, let's say regular, which I believe -- I've

19 got the way that you can prove these.  One of them -- I

20 think that they're the same basic thing.  It's just that

21 under the different statutes, either 16-15-4(d) or (b),

22 it's the same conduct that's prohibited.  It's just the

23 sentencing is different under (d) because it's a -- on an

24 actual criminal offense, it's five years consecutive rather

25 than five years that is required as a minimum.
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1 So the petition itself does not outline the Gang Act

2 was violated, but with the underlying criminal -- We can

3 assume that the underlying criminal offenses are the

4 predicate acts for the violation of the Gang Act.  Then

5 those should all go away based on a lack of proof.

6 There is an allegation that Mr. Pittard violated the

7 Gang Act through the -- possession with intent is what is

8 charged in the indictment.  I don't know that this

9 particularly gives us an indication as to how the State was

10 intending to prove the marijuana, but what I will say is

11 that from a proof issue -- I think that there's where the

12 main focus as it relates to Mr. Pittard and the proof that

13 we heard today should be directed.  

14 What I will say to the Court is that I know that the

15 standard of proof is lower in a case like this when we're

16 talking about a violation, and the Court mentioned 288

17 grams of marijuana, and that is what is -- what Ms. Powell

18 testified to, that she tested some 288 grams of marijuana. 

19 I don't know if that's what the police and the agents

20 seized.

21 THE COURT:  Well, actually I think there were two

22 others.  Nobody asked, but I suspect that she didn't test

23 the other two.

24 MR. KIRBY:  I don't know.  That's what I'm saying.  I

25 don't know what it proves to the Court that this test was
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1 done.  I just heard the Court mention the 288 grams and

2 that was tested, but I don't know that we heard that that's

3 the same marijuana that was seized from either the house or

4 the car.  You know, there are a couple of different places

5 that they're alleged to have happened.  I don't know if

6 that's the same marijuana or not.

7 So you have proof that it was done, but we don't have,

8 you know, the -- Ms. Powell testified about the chain of

9 custody procedure but did not testify about the chain of

10 custody in this particular case.  So maybe it's the same,

11 maybe it's not.  

12 The marijuana that was discussed as it relates to Mr.

13 Pittard here today was found in an apartment that he was

14 not occupying or that he was not present at.  I think it's

15 arguable whether he was occupying it or not.  But strictly

16 from a proof issue, what we've heard today as it relates to

17 this test that was done, I don't know if it's the same or

18 not.  I don't know that you've heard testimony that it's

19 the same marijuana or not.  I did not hear it.  That is the

20 main -- Aside from the special conditions of contact, I

21 think that that is the main substantive question here for

22 the Court.  

23 If -- I'm happy to address the other, armed robbery,

24 aggravated assaults as predicates if the Court is

25 considering that the Gang Act applies in this particular
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1 charge, but I will be happy to hold off on doing that to

2 save everyone some time.  In reading the petition itself, I

3 don't see it there.

4 As to the contact in the special conditions that are

5 out there, I think this is a very concerning example of how

6 this Gang Act is used in the process by which they go to --

7 that they classify these young men, and it's that it's a

8 known gang participant or known gang member.

9 The testimony that we heard from Officer Guardado is

10 none of these people have admitted to being in a gang; that

11 they have a list of people but they don't give it out, that

12 it's not public, that -- We haven't heard any evidence that

13 Mr. Pittard was told who these people were, and if they are

14 -- If it's just we can later talk about them being gang

15 members and not put someone on notice of who they can or

16 can't contact, that is a due process violation.  I don't

17 think it's fair.

18 But even setting that aside, the contact that we've

19 heard about, I just don't -- I don't know what that contact

20 was, and it relates back to my initial concern with

21 especially the contact that is outlined in the addendum --

22 is that we don't know who he was with.  We don't know who

23 these people were.  

24 The only testimony before the Court is that of Agent

25 Herold saying that those were Red Tape Gang members and
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1 someone contacted them.  Mr. Pittard contacted them.  I

2 don't know what it was.  I don't know who it was.  And I

3 think that that should give pause to the Court as it

4 considers how this case was proven.

5 THE COURT:  You have last say, Ms. Gonzalez.

6 MS. GONZALEZ:  Thank you, Your Honor.

7 So one of the things I would say about that Condition

8 1 and the violation of the street acts, I mean, we have

9 some new criminal offenses here that were proven through

10 the testimony of the two witnesses that we had here that

11 were declared as experts.  So we think -- You know, when we

12 look at Agent Herold and what she was saying, she was

13 admitted as an expert and as an expert is entitled to give

14 her opinion and that opinion does carry weight, as well as

15 Officer Guardado, in terms of what they're talking about in

16 gang leadership and gang possession with intent to

17 distribute.  And also, Your Honor, just want to point out

18 that these probation revocations are done while he is

19 actually on probation for an earlier charge.  So we did

20 have the possession with intent to distribute.  

21 And the special conditions, again, you heard from two

22 witnesses who were declared as experts who understand and

23 can identify and validate who is a gang member, who is not,

24 based on the criteria that has been outlined here.  They've

25 done it through photos.  They've done it through the
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1 videos.  They've done it through the Instagram messages

2 that are here.  

3 And so we are asking, Your Honor, in addition to the

4 fact that during that first plea negotiation he was granted

5 the First Offender status, that we would like you to look

6 at this and revoke Mr. Pittard's sentence to the full

7 maximum allowed by law to 30 years.  Thank you.

8 THE COURT:  I'm going to take ten minutes.

9 (Proceedings in recess.)

10 THE COURT:  The Court does find by a preponderance of

11 the evidence that the Defendant did violate conditions and

12 terms of probation by criminal -- participating in criminal

13 street gang activity by contact with known street gang

14 members or associates on or about 8/25/2022.

15 Additionally, the Court finds that the Defendant

16 possessed 288 grams of marijuana on or about 8/30/2022 for

17 the purposes of sale and distribution.

18 That is in SU-22-CR-0200-R1 and SU-21-CR-0872-R1.

19 As to disposition, I have a thought.  I'm willing to

20 withhold disposition if both parties agree to withhold

21 disposition in order to see if there's an opportunity for

22 further resolution of the underlying case.  I will say that

23 that doesn't -- I don't want to imply that I am agreeing

24 for you all to take over and try to reach a negotiated

25 settlement in this deposition.  Certainly I will have the
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1 ability to take that under consideration, whatever there

2 was.  If neither side -- If somebody wants to go forward,

3 I'm prepared to do that.

4 I mean, I will go ahead and tell you that it's a

5 situation where I'm certainly -- Several things are on the

6 table here, not the least of which is resentencing --

7 revoking First Offender and resentencing in the 872 case,

8 10 plus 5, 15 years, and in the 200 case, 10 years and 12

9 months, and that could be consecutive.  I mean that's what

10 -- where I've got.  We can go forward with -- I'm not

11 saying that's what I'm going to do.  I'm just saying those

12 are the parameters.

13 So can you tell me if you think it would be of any

14 benefit to see if there's another resolution of the

15 underlying case or do you want to just go forward?

16 MR. KIRBY:  Do you want us first?

17 THE COURT:  It doesn't really matter to me, but I

18 think certainly that tells a lot if you don't, but I don't

19 have any strong feelings.

20 MR. KEGLEY:  Your Honor, I do think the ball is in the

21 Defendant's court at this point.  As we talked about this

22 morning, an offer was made pre-hearing and we weren't able

23 to get to a resolution on that side so I do think the ball

24 is in their court, so that's kind of where I would leave

25 it.
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1 MR. KIRBY:  Judge, I don't see what -- Let's put off

2 sentencing, and we can try to figure out what is going to 

3 -- what the trial itself looks like because that -- You

4 know, what I am most concerned about for the immediate

5 future if there was a sentencing that involved prison time

6 is Mr. Pittard not being here to consult with on the

7 underlying trial and that making that case which is already

8 going to be plenty complicated with the number of

9 defendants and attorneys that are there even more so.  

10 So I don't have any problem waiting on disposition if

11 we want to do it later.  It shouldn't be a huge production

12 to get that done.  You're catching me a little bit off

13 guard but that's my initial thought.

14 MR. KEGLEY:  The one thing I would say, Your Honor,

15 and thank you for the opportunity, is when I said kind of

16 the ball was in Defense counsel's court, it was if y'all

17 want to try to do it today, let's go ahead and try to

18 resolve it.  If they want to accept that offer that was

19 made, let's go ahead and resolve it.  But if it's, "Hey,

20 let's just withhold and we'll go through the trial and

21 we'll go through the motions," the State would object and

22 we'd ask that you go ahead and sentence him.

23 MR. KIRBY:  Well, there's the answer, I guess.  If the

24 Court's -- if either party objected, then that would be it.

25 I don't -- In terms of resolving the case itself right
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1 now, I need more time.  The reason that we did this was not

2 because we wanted to have this hearing.  It was because we

3 ran out of time on the negotiations, and I need to go back

4 and be comfortable about advising Mr. Pittard.  This isn't

5 about Mr. Pittard not wanting to do anything.  It is about

6 getting information to him so that he is making an informed

7 decision.  That's my job. 

8 THE COURT:  All right.  Well, I just thought it was

9 worth a discussion.  So I will go forward with disposition.

10 In the SU-22-CR-0200-R1 I will revoke First Offender

11 and resentence as follows:  Count 2, possession of

12 marijuana with intent to distribute, 10 years in the

13 Department of Corrections.  Count 4, 12 months concurrent

14 to the 10 years.  That will be the sentence in the 200

15 case.

16 In SU-21-CR-0872-R1, Count 2, 10 years in prison.

17 Count 4, 5 years in prison consecutive to Count 2.

18 The SU-21-CR-0872 case is consecutive to the previous

19 case.

20 That will be the sentence on both.

21 You'll prepare those and get those to me?

22 PROBATION OFFICER VIOLA:  Yes, Your Honor.  Is it your

23 intention that he receives credit for time served while

24 he's been on probation so far?

25 THE COURT:  Yes.
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1 MR. KEGLEY:  And Your Honor, just briefly, I didn't

2 hear it.  In the 872 case that First Offender is revoked as

3 well?

4 THE COURT:  That's correct.

5 MR. KEGLEY:  Thank you, Your Honor.

6 THE COURT:  Anything else?

7 MR. KIRBY:  No, sir.

8 THE COURT:  Okay.  We're adjourned.

9

10 (The proceedings were concluded at 3:26 p.m.)
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G E O R G I A:

ATHENS-CLARKE COUNTY:

C E R T I F I C A T E

The foregoing proceedings were taken down by me as an

Official Court Reporter for the Superior Courts of the

Western Judicial Circuit, and the questions and answers,

colloquy of counsel, and rulings by the Court were reduced

to typewriting by me personally.  I hereby certify that

pages 4 - 123, inclusive, comprise a complete and correct

transcript of said proceedings, and that pages 124 - 134

display exhibits as admitted.

This the 20th day of February, 2023.
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 IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF ATHENS-CLARKE COUNTY 

 STATE OF GEORGIA 

 

STATE OF GEORGIA, § 

 

Complainant, § 

 

  vs. § INDICTMENT NO.:  SU21CR0846 

 

QUATRAVIS HULL, §   

 

Defendant. § 

 

CONSOLIDATED MOTIONS 

 

1. 

 

NOTICE OF DEFENDANT'S ELECTION TO PROCEED 

UNDER O.C.G.A. §17-16-1 ET SEQ. 

 

The Defendant, QUATRAVIS HULL, provides written notice, pursuant to O.C.G.A. §17-

16-2(a), that he elects to have the provisions of O.C.G.A. §17-16-1 et seq. apply to this case. 

 

2. 

 

REQUESTS BY DEFENDANT FOR 

PRODUCTION OF DISCOVERABLE MATERIAL 

 

The Defendant, QUATRAVIS HULL, having elected to have the provisions of O.C.G.A. 

§17-16-1 et seq. apply to his case, hereby requests in writing that the State disclose to the defense 

or produce to the defense for inspection, copying, photographing, examination, testing or analysis, 

as required by O.C.G.A. §17-16-4(a), all materials, items, buildings, places or information 

described in O.C.G.A. §17-16-4(a). 

 

3. 

 



MOTION TO SET DATES FOR PRODUCTION OR 

DISCLOSURE OF DISCOVERABLE MATERIAL OR INFORMATION 

 

The Defendant, QUATRAVIS HULL, having elected to have the provisions of O.C.G.A. 

§17-16-1 et seq. apply to his case, and having requested in writing the production and/or disclosure 

of all materials or information described in O.C.G.A. §17-16-4(a), requests that the Court set the 

following dates for the State's compliance with its discovery duties: 

(1) The State shall disclose to the defense and make available for inspection, copying 

or photographing all material or information  described in  O.C.G.A. §17-16-4(a)(1), no later than  

thirty (30) days from the date of the filing of this Motion. 

(2) The State shall furnish to the defense a copy of the Defendant's Georgia Crime 

Information Center criminal history, as required by O.C.G.A. §17-16-4(a)(2), no later than thirty 

(30) days from the date of the filing of this Motion. 

(3) The State shall make available to the defense for inspection, copying or 

photographing all items, buildings or places described in O.C.G.A. §17-16-4(a)(3) no later than 

thirty (30) days from the date of the filing of this Motion, with the exception of 

items in the possession or control of the Forensic Sciences Division of the Georgia Bureau of 

Investigation or other laboratory, which items shall be made available for examination, testing or 

analysis at the facility where the evidence is being held no later than forty-five (45) days from the 

date of the filing of this Motion. 

(4) The State shall make available for inspection or copying all material described in 

O.C.G.A. §17-16-4(a)(4) no later than  thirty (30) days from the date of the filing of this Motion. 



 

4. 

 

DEFENDANT'S REQUEST FOR INFORMATION 

DESCRIBED IN O.C.G.A. §17-16-8 

 

The Defendant, QUATRAVIS HULL, hereby requests in writing that the State furnish to 

counsel for the Defendant all information required to be disclosed under O.C.G.A. §17-16-8.  The 

Defendant makes this request also under the provisions of Article 1, Section 1, Paragraph 14 of 

the Georgia Constitution.  The Defendant further requests that the Court order that this information 

be furnished to counsel for the Defendant no later than  thirty (30) days after the filing of this 

Motion. 

 

5. 

 

MOTION FOR PRETRIAL DISCLOSURE OF EVIDENCE OF 

INDEPENDENT AND SEPARATE OFFENSES, WRONGS OR ACTS 

 

The above-named Defendant moves this Court to order the prosecution to disclose 

immediately all evidence of independent and separate offense, wrongs or acts which the 

prosecution may attempt to introduce at trial to show motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, 

knowledge, identity or absence of mistake or accident regarding the Defendant's actions or 

conduct, including any evidence to be offered as alleged "prior difficulties" between the Defendant 

and the alleged victim.  See, Uniform Superior Court Rules 31.1 and 31.3; Maxwell v. State, 262 

Ga. 72 (2) (1992). 

6. 

 

MOTION FOR DISCOVERY, INSPECTION, PRODUCTION AND 

COPYING OF EVIDENCE FAVORABLE TO THE ACCUSED AND 

IN CAMERA INSPECTION WITH INCORPORATED AUTHORITY 

 



The Defendant, QUATRAVIS HULL, respectfully moves this Court, pursuant to the Fifth, 

Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and Article 1, §1, ¶¶ 1, 11 

and 14 of the Georgia Constitution, as construed and applied in the case of Brady v. Maryland, 

373 U.S. 83 (1970) and its progeny including, Giles v. Maryland, 386 U. S. 66 (1967); Giglio v. 

United States, 405 U. S. 105 (1972); and Hicks v. State, 232 Ga. 393 (1974), to order the District 

Attorney to permit defense counsel to inspect and copy all evidence in the possession and control 

of the State which may be favorable to the Defendant and material to the issues of guilt or 

punishment or could reasonable weaken or affect any evidence proposed to be introduced against 

the Defendant at trial or at sentencing.  The evidence sought is to include, but not be limited to: 

1. 

All evidence, including statements to individuals, physical evidence or test results 

indicating or tending to indicate that the Defendant is not guilty of the offense charged or 

mitigating on the issue of sentence. 

  2. 

All statements of any witness which contradict in any way the statements of other 

witnesses, or which contradict other statements made by that witness. 

 3. 

All reports, memoranda, or other information in possession of the State which contain 

information exculpatory, helpful, favorable or arguable favorable to the Defendant on guilt or 

innocence or as to sentence. 

 4. 



The criminal records and any lists or summary reflecting criminal records of all persons 

whom the State intends to call as witnesses in the trial of the Defendant or at sentencing. 

 5. 

Memoranda, documents or reports of any scientific tests or experiments or studies made in 

connection with the above-styled case, including any polygraph examinations of any witness, 

which may be arguable favorable to the defense. 

6. 

All material now known to the State, or which may become known which is exculpatory 

in nature or favorable to the accused or which may lead to exculpatory material.  This request 

includes reports of any investigations conducted by the State, or its agents, of individuals other 

than the Defendant. 

 7. 

The State is required to reveal to the defense not only information "in its file” but should 

also be ordered to make inquiry of all law enforcement or other agencies involved in this 

prosecution and to require those agencies to review their files and to provide to the prosecution 

any information arguably favorable to the defendant, including information specifically described 

above.  At a minimum, inquiry should be made of QUATRAVIS HULL.  See, e.g., Pennsylvania 

v. Ritchie, 480 U. S. 54 57-61 (1987) (In child molestation case Brady required disclosure of 

favorable information in the files of the Pennsylvania children and Youth Services Agency); 

Freeman v. Georgia, 599 F.2d 64, 69 (5th Cir. 1975) (State held accountable for information known 

only to investigating police detective).  Brown v. State, 261 Ga. 66, 401 S.E.2d 492 (1992); Issacs 

v. State, 259 Ga. 717, 386 S.E.2d 316 (1989)



8. 

 

The State may well provide to the defense its complete file, including everything requested 

herein.  If not, the Defendant does not wish to entrust to the prosecution the unilateral power to 

ascertain, from its perspective as an advocate, which information is exculpatory, and which is not.  

Accordingly, should the State not provide to the defense for inspection its entire file, the Defendant 

insists on the court conducting an in-camera review of the State's file to identify and isolate 

information to which the 

Defendant is constitutionally entitled.  Tribble v. State, 248 Ga. 274, 275 (1981); Osborn v. State, 

161 Ga. App. 132, 137 (5) (1982). 

WHEREFORE, the Defendant respectfully prays his motion be granted. 

 

6. 

 

MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS AND FOR JACKSON V. DENNO HEARING 

COMES NOW the Defendant in the above-styled case, by and through his undersigned 

attorney, and moves this Honorable Court to suppress any and all statements, if any, made by him 

after his arrest.  In support of this Motion, Defendant states, upon information and belief, the 

following: 

1. Defendant is charged with Malice Murder, Felony Murder, Aggravated Assault, 

and Firearm/Knife Possession During Crime/Attempt. 



2. The State, by and through the Prosecutor, may introduce into evidence at the trial, 

oral admissions, transcript(s), a written statement, and/or tape recordings of statements allegedly 

made by the Defendant. 

3. Any such statements made to law enforcement officers which may incriminate the 

Defendant were the result of persistent and repeated interrogations of skilled law enforcement 

officers, and in the absence of counsel and without an intelligent or knowing waiver of counsel.  

Other statements were the result of other serious extraordinary influences which shall be made 

known to the Court at the appropriate time. 

4. The acts of the law enforcement officers worked to overcome the Defendant's will 

and rendered any such admissions involuntary and coerced in violation of the Fifth and Fourteenth 

Amendments to the United States Constitution.  Miranda v. Arizona,  384 U.S. 436 (1966);  

Escobedo v. Illinois,  378 U.S. 478 (1964); and  Spano v. New York,  360 U.S. 315 (1959). 

WHEREFORE, Defendant prays for a  Jackson v. DENNO  hearing to determine among 

other things, whether any such statements were made, and if so, the voluntariness of the statements 

in the totality of the circumstances and to determine the validity of any waiver of counsel prior to 

the interrogations. 

 

7. 

 

MOTION FOR DISCLOSURE OF ITEMS ARGUABLY SUBJECT TO 

SUPPRESSION AND PRELIMINARY MOTION TO SUPPRESS 

 

QUATRAVIS HULL respectfully requests that the prosecution provide the following: 

1.  All search warrants, affidavits and returns resulting from the execution of any search 

warrant.  This motion is made pursuant to the Constitution of the United States of America, 

Article I, Section I, Paragraph XIII of the Constitution of the State of Georgia, O.C.G.A. § 16-13-



46 (inventory following administrative searches), O.C.G.A. § 25-2-22.1 (inventory relating to 

inspection warrants), O.C.G.A. § 17-5-29 (written return of items seized during execution of 

search warrant), and O.C.G.A. § 17-5-32 (documents seized from attorney who is not a criminal 

suspect).  See also State v. Slaughter, 252 Ga. 435, 315 S.E. 2d 865 (1984). 

2.  A detailed description of all other items, including property and currency, obtained by the 

prosecution voluntarily, by seizure, or by process from QUATRAVIS HULL, pursuant to arrest or during the 

investigation of this case.  The state is required to maintain an inventory of any such property seized or acquired 

pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 17-5--2 (inventory of items seized without search warrant) O.C.G.A. § 17-5-50 (police 

required to maintain list of property taken form prisoners).  See also Phillips v. State, 167 Ga. App. 260, 305 

S.E. 2d 918 (1983) (under a warrantless search and seizure the burden of proving that the search and seizure 

was lawful is upon the state). 

The discovery of the above is necessary in order for the defendant to determine whether a motion to 

suppress evidence should be filed in this case.  See Thomas v. State, 118 Ga. App. 359, 163 S.E. 2d 850 (1968), 

cert. denied, 394 U.S. 943, 89 S.Ct. 1273, 22 L.Ed. 2d 477 (1969). 

The Defendant further moves the Court, in this preliminary motion, to suppress all evidence and 

statements which were obtained in violation of the Fourth, Fifth, or Sixth Amendments to the Constitution of 

the United States of America, Article I, Section I, Paragraph XIII of the Constitution of the State of Georgia and 

O.C.G.A. § 71-5-30. 

Since discovery has not been completed and the prosecution’s disclosure of the information sought 

above has not occurred, this motion is being filed in preliminary form.  This motion preserves QUATRAVIS 

HULL’s right to challenge the legality of any search and seizure of evidence that the State may introduce at trial 

against him. 

The Defendant requests that: 



1) Supplementation of this motion be permitted after the prosecution discloses the information sought in 

Paragraphs (1) and (2) above, or as additional facts become known to the defendant; 

 

2) That the Court hold evidentiary hearings on this motion, as appropriate; 

 

3) That QUATRAVIS HULL be permitted to file a brief subsequent to any hearing; and 

 

4) That the Court suppress all evidence obtained in violation of the constitutional and statutory rights 

enumerated above. 

 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

s/ Tracy S. Drake 
_________________________________ 

Tracy S. Drake 

Attorney for Defendant 

Georgia State Bar No. 679549 

9 Lumpkin Street, Suite 200 

Lawrenceville, Georgia 30046 

PHONE: (770) 910-9121 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF ATHENS-CLARKE COUNTY 

STATE OF GEORGIA 

 

STATE OF GEORGIA,   § 

Complainant,      §  

  vs.         §    INDICTMENT NO.: SU21CR0846 

QUATRAVIS HULL,                 §  

Defendant.      § 

 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

This is to certify that I have this day served the ATHENS-CLARKE County District Attorney’s Office in 

the foregoing matter with a copy of the following: 

 

1) Notice of Defendant’s Election to Proceed Under O.C.G.A. 17-16-1 Et Seq.; 

2) Requests by Defendant for Production of Discoverable Material; 

3) Motion to Set Dates For Production or Disclosure of Discoverable Material or Information; 

 4) Defendant’s Request for Information Described In O.C.G.A. 17-16-8; 

5) Motion for Pretrial Disclosure of Evidence of Independent and Separate Offenses, Wrongs or 

Acts; 

6) Motion for Discovery, Inspection, Production and Copying Of Evidence Favorable To The 

Accused And In Camera Inspection With Incorporated Authority; 

 7) Motion To Suppress Statements And For Jackson V. Denno Hearing; And 

8) Motion For Disclosure Of Items Arguably Subject To Suppression And Preliminary   Motion 

To Suppress. 

  

by mailing copies of the same with adequate postage affixed or by hand-delivery to: 

 

District Attorney 

Athens-Clarke County 

325 East Washington Street 

Athens, GA 30603 

 

This 27 of January, 2022. 

 s/ Tracy S. Drake 

 __________________________ 

  Tracy S. Drake 

Attorney for Defendant 

GA State Bar No. 679549 

9 Lumpkin Street, Suite 200 

Lawrenceville, Georgia 30046 

PHONE: (770) 910-9128 











IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF ATHENS-CLARKE COUNTY 
STATE OF GEORGIA 

 
 

STATE OF GEORGIA :  
 :  

VS : CASE NO. SU21CR0846 LL 
 :  
QUATRAVIS HULL, :  

DEFENDANT :  
 :  

 
 

MOTION TO SET BOND 
 

 COMES NOW Defendant, through counsel, to move this Honorable Court set bond in the above-
styled case. 
 
 Defendant, 16 years old, has been held without bond since September 23, 2021. 
 
 Defendant is a life resident of Athens and would live with his mother and return to high school.  
Defendant would follow any reasonable conditions. 
 
 THEREFORE, Defendant prays the Court grant relief by setting bond in a reasonable amount. 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 This is to certify that a copy of the foregoing MOTION TO SET BOND has been served upon the 
District Attorney’s office by electronic delivery to Gerald.Henderson@accgov.com. 

 
 Respectfully submitted, this 27th day of September, 2022. 
 

      
/s/ John Donnelly   
John Donnelly 
Attorney for Defendant 
GA Bar No. 225692 

 
Western Judicial Circuit Public Defender’s Office 
440 College Avenue, Suite 220 
Athens, Georgia 30601 
(706) 369-6440 
  

EFILED IN OFFICE
CLERK OF SUPERIOR COURT

ATHENS-CLARKE COUNTY, GEORGIA
SU21CR0846-LL

9/27/2022 10:25AM

BEVERLY LOGAN, Clerk



IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF ATHENS-CLARKE COUNTY 
STATE OF GEORGIA 

 
 

STATE OF GEORGIA :  
 :  

VS : CASE NO. SU21CR0846 LL 
 :  
QUATRAVIS HULL, :  

DEFENDANT :  
 :  

 
 

RULE NISI 

 Defendant having submitted for filing the above MOTION TO SET BOND, let said motion be filed.   

 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the District Attorney or one of her duly authorized assistants show 

cause before the Court at the _________________ County Courthouse, ______________, Georgia, at 

________ a.m / p.m., on the ________ day of ________________, 20_____, why the prayers of the 

Defendant should not be granted. 

 

 SO ORDERED, this ________day of __________________, 20____. 

 

 

_________________________________ 
LISA LOTT 
Judge, Superior Courts 
Western Judicial Circuit 
 

 
 

 



EFILED IN OFFICE
CLERK OF SUPERIOR COURT
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9/27/2022 2:00PM

BEVERLY LOGAN, Clerk
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Charlene W. Vinson
Official Court Reporter

Western Judicial Circuit
404.925.0455

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF ATHENS-CLARKE COUNTY 
 

STATE OF GEORGIA 
 
 
STATE OF GEORGIA,             )   
                              )            
Plaintiff                     )            
                              ) CASE NO. SU-21-CR-0 846           
vs.                           )   
                              )   
QUATRAVIS HULL,               ) 
                              ) 
Defendant.                    ) 
 

Motion to Suppress and Motion to Set Bond 

This the transcript of the above proceedings, held

before the HONORABLE JUDGE LISA LOTT, Judge of the

Superior Court of Athens-Clarke County, in the

Athens-Clarke County Courthouse, Athens, Georgia on  the  

3rd day of October, 2022, commencing at approximate ly

1:37 p.m.

 

A P P E A R A N C E S: 
 
FOR THE STATE:               MR. GERALD HENDERSON 
                             Assistant District Att orney                  
                             Western Judicial Circu it 
                             325 East Washington St reet 
                             Athens, Georgia 30601 

 
FOR THE DEFENDANT:           MR. JOHN DONNELLY 

                   MS. RACHEL WILLIAMS
                             Assistant Public Defen der  

                   Western Judicial Circuit
                             220 College Avenue 
                             Athens, Georgia 30601 
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Official Court Reporter
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P R O C E E D I N G S  

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Please be seated.  All righ t.

Good afternoon, everyone.  You ready, Ms. Satterfie ld?

COURT REPORTER:  Yes, ma'am.

THE COURT:  All right.  If anybody has a cell phone

in the courtroom, if you’d just make sure it’s in t he off

position.  Thank you.  All right.  The State of Geo rgia

versus Quatravis Hull, SU-21-CR-0846.  Mr. Hull is

present, good afternoon, represented by Mr. Donnell y and

Ms. Williams.  And the State is represented by Mr.

Henderson.  Do you have any witnesses in the courtr oom we

need to sequester?

MR. HENDERSON:  Your Honor, one witness in the

courtroom is my only witness, and I don’t believe w e need

to sequester them.

THE COURT:  All right.  Very good.  Is the State

ready?

MR. HENDERSON:  The State is ready, Judge.

THE COURT:  Is Defense ready?

MR. DONNELLY:  Yes.  Although I am filing a slight

amendment to --

THE COURT:  All right.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- the motion to suppress.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. DONNELLY:  If --
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THE COURT:  I’m going to put on the record it is a

motion to suppress and a motion to set bond, but th is is

an amended motion to suppress.  Have you seen this,  Mr.

Henderson?

MR. HENDERSON:  It was just handed to me, Judge.

THE COURT:  Are you ready to proceed on the amended

motion as well?

MR. HENDERSON:  I’m not.  I'm going to need a

different witness for that.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. HENDERSON:  So -- but we can reschedule on that .

THE COURT:  All right.  Are you ready to go forward

on the motion that you were prepared for?

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes, Judge.

THE COURT:  Mr. Donnelly, any objection to hearing

what we’re here today for and then continuing the m atter

to address your amended motion?

MR. DONNELLY:  No.  I mean, I just handed --

THE COURT:  All right.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- it to him.  I --

THE COURT:  Sure.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- acknowledge that the -- so the

motion to suppress that’s scheduled for this aftern oon is

targeted at the searches of the defendant’s cell ph one and

Instagram account.  What I just handed -- or filed here in
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open court as the amended motion to suppress is see king to

suppress the seizure of the phone itself.  So I don ’t --

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. DONNELLY:  Whatever the State’s and the Court’s

pleasure is as far as doing that at a later time, I

understand.

THE COURT:  All right.  Very good.  Thank you.  All

right, Mr. Henderson.  You may proceed and call you r first

witness.

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes, Judge.  Just to put on the

record, this is motion to suppress alleges that the re was

no probable cause, it’s not particularized.  We wil l call

Detective David Harrison.

MR. HENDERSON:  Sir, if you’d raise your right hand .

Do you solemnly swear or affirm the testimony you’r e about

to give is the truth, the whole truth and nothing b ut the

truth?

THE WITNESS:  I do.

Whereupon,  

DETECTIVE DAVID HARRISON 

was called as a witness herein, and having first be en duly 

sworn, was examined and testified as follows:  

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. HENDERSON:  

Q. Okay.  Please have a seat, sir.  Sir, can you sta te
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and spell your first and last name?

A. Yes.  First name, David.  Last name, Harrison.

D-a-v-i-d, H-a-r-r-i-s-o-n.

Q. And sir, where are you employed?

A. I’m employed with the Athens-Clarke County Police

Department.

Q. In what capacity are you employed there?

A. Currently I’m assigned to our Investigations

Division.

Q. And sir, I’m going to refer you back to September  of

2021.  Were you employed in the same capacity at th at time?

A. I was.

Q. Did you have occasion to be involved in an

investigation involving Mr. Quatravis Hull?

A. Yes.

Q. And as part of the investigation, did you pursue

search warrants?

A. I did.

Q. And as part of that, did you prepare an affidavit  as

part of those search warrants?

A. I did.

Q. And once you prepared that affidavit and that sea rch

warrant, where did you take it?

A. I met with a superior court judge here in Clarke

County.
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Q. Okay.  Do you remember which judge that was?

A. Judge Norris.

Q. Okay.  And did you present those search warrants with

the attached affidavit to the judge?

A. I did.

Q. At the time you presented the search warrant with  the

affidavits, did you include any oral testimony or g ive them any

additional information that was not contained withi n the four

corners of the search warrant affidavit?

A. No.

Q. And sir, specifically does that refer to a search

warrant of a phone, property of Quatravis Hull?

A. Yes.

Q. And did that also involve some social media?  Can  you

tell me what that was?

A. Yes.  It was an Instagram account we believed

belonged to -- to Mr. Hull.

MR. HENDERSON:  Judge, may I approach the witness?

THE COURT:  You may.

BY MR. HENDERSON:  

Q. I'm going to show you what’s been marked as State ’s

Exhibit Number 1.  Do you recognize what this is?

A. (Viewing) Yes.  This is the affidavit and search

warrant and return and property receipt for the sea rch warrant

for Mr. Hull’s phone.
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Q. And were you present when that was signed?

A. I was.

Q. Is that a fair and accurate copy of the search

warrant itself?

A. It is.

Q. Does it bear the signature of the judge who signe d

it?

A. It does.

Q. Does it have your signature on it as well?

A. It does.

MR. HENDERSON:  Your Honor, State seeks to admit

State’s Exhibit No. 1 into evidence.

THE COURT:  Any objection?

MR. DONNELLY:  I don’t know if this is necessarily an

objection, but it appears to have two copies of the  same

thing stapled together.  Did you intend that?  It’s  not

two copies stapled together?

THE WITNESS:  No.  It’s the affidavit and then the

search warrant.

MR. DONNELLY:  Can I just see it real quickly?

THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.

MR. DONNELLY:  Yeah, you're right.  Okay.  Never

mind.

MR. HENDERSON:  Okay.  State would seek to admit

State’s Exhibit Number 1, Judge?
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THE COURT:  Any objection, Mr. Donnelly?

MR. DONNELLY:  No.

THE COURT:  All right.  It is admitted.

(Whereupon, State’s Exhibit No. 1 was admitted into

evidence.)

MR. HENDERSON:  Okay.  And State’s Exhibit Number 2 .

I can turn that to the defense for their review.

BY MR. HENDERSON:  

Q. Sir, I show you what’s been marked as State’s Exh ibit

Number 2.  Do you recognize what this object is?

A. Yes.  This is a copy of the affidavit, search

warrant, return, and property receipt for the Insta gram account

for Mr. Hull.

Q. And were you present in person when the judge

reviewed that?

A. I was.

Q. Does it have your signature on it?

A. It does.

Q. Is this Judge Norris’?

A. Yes.

Q. And is this a fair and correct copy of it?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you give the judge any additional information  not

contained within the four corners of that search wa rrant,

affidavit, any oral testimony, et cetera?
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A. No.

Q. All right.  Okay.

MR. HENDERSON:  State would seek to admit State’s

Exhibit No. 2 into evidence?

THE COURT:  Any objection?

MR. DONNELLY:  No.

THE COURT:  It is admitted.

(Whereupon, State’s Exhibit No. 2 was admitted into

evidence.)

MR. HENDERSON:  State’s Exhibit No. 1 and No. 2.

Judge, I would tender these into evidence.  Do you wish to

give these to the clerk?

THE COURT:  Actually if you’ll give them to me.

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes, Judge.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Is this 1 and 2?

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes, Judge.

THE COURT:  All right.  Go ahead.

MR. HENDERSON:  And they are so marked.  Judge, I

have no further questions for this witness.

THE COURT:  Cross-examination, Mr. Donnelly?

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. DONNELLY:  

Q. Detective Harrison, you got these search warrants  at

the same time; is that right?

A. Yes, sir.
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Q. And that was on October 5th of last year, 2021?

A. Yes.

Q. And the -- well, you did not request any phone --

cell phone provider any phone records for any parti cular phone

in this case, did you?

A. No.

Q. Okay.  And you’ve done that before, haven’t you?

A. In other investigations, yes.

Q. Okay.  And so in that situation you don’t actuall y

need a search warrant; you just need a court order directed at

the phone service provider?

A. I guess in some situations you could get a court

order, but common practice would be to get a search  warrant.

Q. And those phone records though would show you eve ry

number that was called or texted, incoming and outg oing from a

particular number; is that right, that the phone co mpany could

provide?

A. Potentially.

Q. And at -- so on October 5th, the day that you got

these warrants, you had completed the bulk of your

investigation in this shooting homicide case; is th at right?

A. There was a lot of investigation that had been

completed.

Q. Including interviewing David Richard; is that rig ht?

A. Yes.
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Q. And also you interviewed the defendant here today ,

Quatravis Hull?

A. I was a part of some of the interview, yes.

Q. Who interviewed Mr. Hull?

A. Detective Black is the one that initially intervi ewed

Mr. Hull, and then I came in later in the interview .

Q. Okay.  And you were certainly though -- if you

weren’t present directly for the entire interview, you were

made aware of the contents of the interview?

A. Yes.

Q. And had access to review the recording of the

interview?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you review the recording?

A. I believe I did.

Q. And you were personally present during the entire ty

of the interview with David Richard, right?

A. That’s correct.

Q. And both of those interviews -- well, they were - -

both of them were arrested September 23rd, 2021; is  that right?

A. That’s correct.

Q. And that’s the same day of the shooting?

A. Yes.

Q. And Mr. Hull’s statement with Detective Black and

yourself was taken that night?
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A. That’s correct.

Q. And Mr. David’s statement was taken September 28t h --

I’m sorry.  Mr. David Richard’s statement -- and I’ m right -- I

always get this mixed up, but Richard is his last n ame?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.  So let me say that again.  Mr. Richard’s

statement was taken at the police department on Sep tember 28th,

2021; is that correct?

A. That’s correct.

Q. And Mr. Richard said, and you summarized this in your

affidavit, that he had a confrontation with Ketoria n Cooper in

which he, Mr. Richard, and Ketorian Cooper were bot h armed with

handguns; is that right?

A. He -- he did indicate it, yes.

Q. And he indicated that the fatal shot was fired fr om

his, Mr. Richard’s, handgun; is that right?

A. That is his statement.

Q. Okay.  And that he was carrying a Glock handgun w ith

him?

A. Yes.

Q. And he or his mother maybe -- he or his mother, o ne

of the two of them, turned over to the police the G lock

handgun.

A. Yes.  His mother turned that firearm over.

Q. Okay.  And in his -- in a search of his apartment ,
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you recovered ammunition that was consistent with t he type of

handgun that he turned over.

A. Yes.

Q. All right.  And -- but he was -- he said that

basically Ketorian Cooper appeared to be struggling  to take his

handgun from him, Mr. Richard, when the gun went of f; is that

right?

A. That is Mr. Richard’s take on the event, yes.

Q. Okay.  And that Mr. Richard said that that’s the way

it happened, that’s the way that the person was -- that Mr.

Cooper was shot in the head, correct?

A. That -- that is his statement, yes.

Q. Okay.  And he essentially -- well, said that Mr. Hull

-- he didn’t see that Mr. Hull was involved in this  struggle

over the Glock handgun.

A. Not specifically over the Glock handgun, but he d id

make a statement that he saw Mr. Hull grab Ketorian  Cooper’s

gun.

Q. And he said that -- he was very clear that he nev er

saw Quatravis Hull fire any handgun, correct?

A. He did not make a statement saying that he fired a

handgun.

Q. He -- well, he actually said Quatravis Hull did n ot

fire a gun, didn’t he?

A. I can’t remember his specific words, but he did n ot
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indicate it.

Q. And you got that handgun from the -- the Glock

handgun, has that been tested at the Crime Lab?

A. It has not.

Q. Did you request testing?

A. I have not.  We didn’t recover any spent shell ca sing

from the crime scene, so I’m not sure how it would be tested

other than maybe a function testing or something.

Q. Wasn’t there a projectile recovered during the

autopsy?

A. There was.

Q. And you didn’t ask for testing to be done to comp are

it to that?

A. I asked the Crime Lab to see if they could reason ably

conclude what caliber the projectile was, and that has not been

completed yet.

Q. So when did you make that request?

A. I --

MR. HENDERSON:  I’m going to object as to relevance ,

Judge, as to the search warrant affidavit.

THE COURT:  Mr. Donnelly, why is that relevant to

this hearing?

MR. DONNELLY:  Well, he has testified that he has

summarized his investigation in the affidavit to su pport

the search warrant, and I just want to see if this is
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information that was included or not included, if t here's

relevant information that was left out in the past.

THE COURT:  Well, I’m going to sustain the objectio n

because I don’t find it relevant, but you can ask h im that

question whether it was included or not included, a nd then

I’ll ask you to move on.

MR. DONNELLY:  Well, documents speak for themselves ,

and the Court when it reviews the documents will se e that

it’s not included.

BY MR. DONNELLY:  

Q. I’m sorry.  And you prior to this -- the search

warrants that are contained in State’s Exhibits 1 a nd 2, you

had already searched the residence of Mr. Hull and his mother;

is that right, at East Carver Drive?

A. Yes.

Q. No -- nothing of evidentiary value was located th ere;

is that correct?

A. That’s correct.

Q. Okay.  And again, you had also searched Mr. Richa rd’s

residence there in Bethel Midtown Village?

A. That’s correct.

Q. And that’s where you found ammunition and a Glock

9-millimeter magazine?

A. That’s correct.

Q. I don’t have any other questions right now -- wel l,
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yeah.

THE COURT:  All right.  Any redirect, Mr. Henderson ?

MR. HENDERSON:  No redirect, Judge.

THE COURT:  All right.  May this witness step down

and be excused?

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes, Judge.

THE COURT:  All right.  Detective, you are free to go

today.

THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

THE COURT:  Any other witnesses?

MR. HENDERSON:  No other witnesses, Judge.

THE COURT:  All right.  Do y'all want to make any

concluding statements or just continue this hearing  until

the next date?

MR. HENDERSON:  Judge, no concluding statements.  I

have no argument.  Actually I think the issue -- ev idence

as to the issue of the search warrant itself.  So - - and

we'd just rely the four corners of the document.  T here’s

no particular allegations in the motion itself.

THE COURT:  Mr. Donnelly, anything you’d like to ad d?

MR. DONNELLY:  Yes.  There’s nothing contained.  I

mean, do you want to hear my argument now?

THE COURT:  It’s -- that’s up to you --

MR. DONNELLY:  Okay.

THE COURT:  -- Mr. Donnelly.
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CLOSING ARGUMENT BY MR. DONNELLY 

MR. DONNELLY:  Yeah.  There’s nothing -- There’s --

so the -- it goes -- it should go without saying, b ut I’d

like to repeat it that we’re talking about one of t he very

few fundamental rights that the Constitution afford s us

and the defendant, Mr. Hull, and that the burden is  on the

State very clearly to prove to the Court that his

Constitutional rights were not pierced by the State

without following the proper procedures that the

Constitution outlines, which is that they provide a

neutral and detached magistrate or in this case Sup erior

Court judge with probable cause that the thing that

they’re looking for, contraband or whatever, is goi ng to

be found in the place of privacy of the defendant w here

they’re asking the Court to authorize a search.  An d in

this case, we know from -- I guess it’s Riley versu s

California from the U.S. Supreme Court that a cell phone

is much more than a phone, and that it’s got its ow n level

of privacy attached to it because it’s so personal and

that there’s so much personal information included in a

cell phone and that the courts require, you know, s pecific

search warrant for a cell phone.  And so there’s no thing

in the investigation that would lead the authorizin g judge

to conclude that yes, there’s evidence contained wi thin

the cell phone which would give me -- you know, all ow me
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to give you the authority to conduct such a private

search.  There’s nothing in there.  They have witne ss

statements, two of whom implicate Mr. Hull in the

shooting, Mr. Hull and Mr. -- basically four people  that

are referenced in the investigation and that have b een

interviewed in this affidavit, the affidavits are

essentially the same, and two search warrants.  Two  of the

witnesses implicate Mr. Hull being involved in the

shooting, two of them being Mr. Hull himself which maybe

that’s going to be discounted because maybe there’s  some

implication of self-serving.  But the fourth is ver y

important, that David Richard who is also charged w ith

murder, has not only implicated himself but said ac tually,

I don’t -- Hull was there, but I don’t -- he wasn’t  really

involved in the direct confrontation which led to m y gun

discharging into Ketorian Cooper’s head causing the  fatal

shot.  So there’s witness statements, and there is

exculpatory information regarding Mr. Hull, but the re’s

nothing saying that the phone was used to do anythi ng

regarding the shooting.  And so it’s one of these

situations where, well, in other investigations, I’ ve

found things on phones that could be relevant, so I  would

like to search his phone in this case to see if we can

find anything.  It’s really asking for a fishing

expedition, and there is nothing particularized.  A nd I

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



    20

Charlene W. Vinson
Official Court Reporter

Western Judicial Circuit
404.925.0455

have some cases that I could cite.

THE COURT:  That will be fine if you want to cite

them.

MR. DONNELLY:  And one of them is -- well -- so

Staley, S-t-a-l-e-y.  And that is 249 Ga. App. Page  207 

and that was -- Mr. Staley was charged with child

molestation, and they had -- he had been on probati on for

something similar, and they knew that he had taken

pictures of a child in the previous investigation, so the

police tried to get a search warrant for his home t o

search for pictures that he may have taken in this

allegation of child molestation.  And the trial cou rt,

which was affirmed by the Court of Appeals, said th at you

don’t have anything specific to link this investiga tion to

photographs -- improper photographs so, no, that se arch

warrant is not going to fly.

Miley versus the State.  It's from the Georgia

Supreme Courts.  It’s a murder case from 2005, 279 Ga.

Page 420.  Mr. Miley was the last person seen with the

victim before she died, and he was wearing a backpa ck in

the photograph or the -- I can’t remember if it was  a

photo -- a security photo or a witness statement th at he

had a backpack with the victim before she died, and  they

got a search warrant for the backpack.  And the Geo rgia

Supreme Court said that search warrant is not going  to be
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authorized just because there’s -- you don’t have a nything

specific enough to indicate that there is evidence of the

crime in that backpack.  Obviously, you want to sea rch it,

that’s understandable.  But you need to have some p robable

cause that some evidence of the crime is going to b e

contained within that.

Willoughby versus the State is 315 Ga. App. Page 40 1.

That was a vehicular homicide DUI case for medical records

that they thought could show blood alcohol content.   That

might be a little bit different, but the -- again, it’s

just the insufficiency of the outlining, the docume nting

probable cause and, you know, it should be obvious as to

why the police would want medical records from a ho spital

after a vehicular homicide DUI investigation to sho w what

they -- something that could support their case or maybe

exonerate the person.  But the point is in that cas e, they

were not precise enough to let the Court know and a nyone

who’s reading the affidavit that there’s probable c ause

that that evidence is going to be located in the do cuments

that they’re choosing to -- seeking to search and p ierce

the privacy of the citizen.

Medina-Hernandez versus the State.  That is Appeals ,

and that -- I don’t have the case number.  It’s fro m June

1st of this year, June 1st, 2022, and --

MR. HENDERSON:  I apologize.  Since there’s not a
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case number, can we -- can you give me the name aga in,

please?

MR. DONNELLY:  Yeah.  Here, you can have that copy.

MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you.

MR. DONNELLY:  And so this was a drug case.  They h ad

seen a couple making drug deals from a vehicle.  Th ey got

the -- they got an address.  Well -- then they saw the car

go to a residence and at least one of them went int o the

residence.  They got the registered owner of the ca r,

which they didn’t know if it was one of these two p eople,

had that address listed on their car vehicle regist ration,

and so they got a search warrant for the residence based

on that.  And the Court of Appeals found that that was

insufficient probable cause to support that warrant , that

they weren’t sure exactly if one of the occupants l ived in

that residence or had -- even though they’d seen th em go

into it, or -- and that if so, what exactly they ha d

stored in there.  There was a connection to the dru g

dealing that had taken place from the vehicle away from

the residence.  There was certainly some connection , but

there was not enough to allow the police to go in a nd

start rooting through someone’s home.

And then the last case I have, and this is

interesting.  This -- I think it applies to both th e

search warrants, but I think it’s maybe more partic ular to
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the Instagram -- the search warrant for the Instagr am

account because it involves Instagram.  And that wa s also

signed by the same judge that we have in this case,  Judge

Eric Norris, who -- no shade against Chief Judge No rris.

There’s -- and maybe in fact this proves that there ’s no

shame in a judge, you know, signing off on some of these

warrants that may actually be overbroad.  So it doe sn’t

mean that, you know, a necessarily a criticism of t he

judge’s abilities.  And that’s why we have this pro ceeding

to review these warrants, and that’s why the legisl ature

crafted the statute 17-5-30 to give us this opportu nity to

do this and that when we are not in the heat of the  moment

making an investigation in a homicide case that we can be

a little more dispassionate in reviewing the facts.   And

so this is U.S. v. Mercery, M-e-r-c-e-r-y.  It’s fr om the

middle district of Georgia, and it's from this year , from

the Federal Court, Federal Magistrate Court, and it

involves Ceddrick Mercery who was charged by the Fe ds, and

they -- Dana Frost got a search warrant for his Ins tagram

account because he’d actually seen public Instagram  photos

of Ceddrick Mercery posing with a gun and with cash  and

what looked to be drugs.  But the magistrate said, you

know, the -- you went overboard, and you can’t get,  you

know -- that you got all identity and contact infor mation,

all past and current username -- they basically got
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everything that could be stored in the account was listed

there in the search warrant.  And that -- you didn’ t know

what evidence there was of these other things, just  as in

this case, you know, they want, you know, videos on  the

phone or in the Instagram account.  There’s nothing  that

the officer had learned in his investigation at thi s point

that there would be any videos associated with the

shooting.  But yet, just why not ask?  Let’s ask fo r

everything.  I know that the phone could have an in ternet

search history.  Don’t know that he ever searched a nything

on the internet related to this case, but hey, let’ s just

ask for it because I know this -- that’s available.   And

-- but the magistrate in the Mercery case said, yea h, just

because it’s available and you suspect this person of

having committed a crime doesn’t mean that you can get a

search warrant to go into these private aspects of

someone’s life.  And so --

THE COURT:  Do you have a cite for the U.S. versus

Mercery?

MR. DONNELLY:  Wait, I think so.  It -- don’t think

it’s been reported yet, but it’s on -- and here, I’ ll --

THE COURT:  That’s all right.

MR. DONNELLY:  What I have is --

THE COURT:  Do you have anything on it?

MR. DONNELLY:  It was very easy to find, but I have
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number 3:21-CR-9.

THE COURT:  Sorry.  Go back and do that again.

Sorry.  You said something about 3?  Wait a minute.   Now

hold on.  Don’t --

MR. DONNELLY:  Okay.

THE COURT:  -- go anywhere.

MR. DONNELLY:  And it’s from from February 25th,

2022.

THE COURT:  Anything else, Mr. Donnelly?

MR. DONNELLY:  Not at this time.

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Henderson, any response ?

CLOSING ARGUMENT BY MR. HENDERSON 

MR. HENDERSON:  Judge, just very briefly.  As you

review the search warrant itself, make note that th e

paragraph, slash, that Mr. Richard admitted that an y

contact with Bill in the past to be a cell phone.  The

Bill was identified through the affidavit as Quatra vis

Hull.  But actually that just means, saying that wi thin

the four corners of the document, we believe there’ s

probable cause.

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  All right,

Counsel.  We’re going to continue this hearing unti l a

date in the near future so we can finish with Mr.

Donnelly’s amended motion, and I will issue an orde r with

regard to both motions at that time.  All right?
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MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you, Judge.

THE COURT:  Anything else with regard to this motio n?

MR. HENDERSON:  Nothing from the State.

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Donnelly, you have a

motion on the table for bond?  You may go ahead.

MOTION TO SET BOND 

MR. DONNELLY:  Let's see.  Let me call Ms. Collins,

Traneile Collins.

THE COURT:  If you’ll come and have a seat here rig ht

in the witness box.  Thank you.

MR. DONNELLY:  If you would raise your right hand,

please.  And do you swear or affirm that the testim ony

you’ll give in this matter involving the State of G eorgia

and Quatravis Hull will be the truth, the whole tru th and

nothing but the truth so help you God?

THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.

Whereupon,  

TRANEILE COLLINS  

was called as a witness herein, and having first be en duly 

sworn, was examined and testified as follows:  

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. DONNELLY:  

Q. And if you would state your name --

THE COURT:  You may lower your hand.

BY MR. DONNELLY:  
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Q. Put your hand down, and just then tell us your na me,

please, and spell your first name so the court repo rter can

make a record.

A. Traneile Collins.  First name T-r-a-n-e-i-l-e.

Q. Thank you.  And then Collins is the normal spelli ng.

A. C-o-l-l-i-n-s.

Q. Thank you.  And how do you know Mr. Hull?

A. He’s my little cousin, but I consider him my neph ew

because I done helped out with his mom since he was  born.

Q. Okay.  And how old are you?

A. Forty-five.

Q. And how old is he?

A. He’s 16.  He just turned 16 in July.

Q. So he was 15 when he was arrested last September?

A. He had just turned 15 two months before.

Q. And if he were -- well, were you the person who t ook

him to -- gave him a ride down to the police depart ment the

night he got arrested?

A. Yes, sir.  We actually went twice.

Q. You went twice?

A. Uh-huh (affirmative).

Q. Okay.  And if you’d say yes, or no.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Thanks.  And if he were to be allowed to be out o n

bond, could he stay with you?
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A. Yes, sir.

Q. And where do you live?

A. In Fourth Street Apartments.

Q. Okay.  And how long has -- have you lived in Athe ns?

A. Almost three years.

Q. And how long has Mr. Hull lived in Athens?

A. Oh -- oh, I’ve been in Athens my whole life.  I’m

sorry.  I thought you said that apartment.

Q. Oh.  So you -- okay.  So you’ve been -- thank you  for

clarifying that.  And so you’ve been in that apartm ent for

three years.

A. Three years, yes, sir.

Q. And has Mr. Hull also a life resident of Athens?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And does he have a number of family members that are

here in court today?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay.  And so does -- is there any obstacle, any

reason that he couldn’t be on an ankle monitor, ele ctronic

monitor, while he’s living with you?

A. No.  Because I know he’ll come to court.  I know he’s

not a threat to society or anything.  I know he’s n ot a flight

risk, and he’s not a danger at all.  So I would def initely love

for him to be able to come to my house.

Q. And he has ties to the community with his family and
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everything, right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay.  And as far -- it’s your understanding that

he’s been -- well, I’ll withdraw that.  That’s all I have right

now.  Thank you.

A. Okay.

THE COURT:  Any cross-examination, Mr. Henderson?

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. HENDERSON:  

Q. Hey, Ms. Collins.

A. Hey.

Q. You’ve indicated that Mr. Hull can stay with you.

Back when he was arrested, do you remember -- was h e staying

with you back then?

A. Off and on.  He wasn’t living with me, but he had

stayed at my house a lot.

Q. He stayed there?  And he was staying somewhere el se

as well?

A. Between my house and his mom --

Q. Okay.

A. -- or just -- you know, just out and about.

Q. Okay.  So you were actively involved in his life back

then?

A. Yes.

Q. All right.  Thank you very much.  No further
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questions.

THE COURT:  Anything else, Mr. Donnelly?

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. DONNELLY::  

Q. And -- well, just to clarify.  So his mother live s at

East Carver Drive; is that right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Is she here in the courtroom?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. That’s all.  Thank you.

THE COURT:  All right.  You may step down.  Thank

you.  Any other witnesses, Mr. Donnelly?

MR. DONNELLY:  No.

THE COURT:  All right.  Any argument?

MR. DONNELLY:  I guess I will.

THE COURT:  Go ahead.

CLOSING ARGUMENT BY MR. DONNELLY 

MR. DONNELLY:  Well, I -- just as far as the factor s

that the Court is to consider that from the -- you know,

predominantly from the Ayala case which I’m sure th e Court

is familiar with, that he has established that he h as ties

to the community, and the State would need to rebut  that

in order for the Court to deny him bond that with e vidence

that he is somehow a risk to either not return or t o do

something else, commit other felonies.  And we are asking
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the Court to set a bond that would be reasonable fo r --

within the means of his family.  We would ask the C ourt to

consider somewhere in the nature of a $30,000 bond.   And

with today’s technology, they could have him on ele ctronic

monitor.  Obviously, as the Court is aware and see his

whereabouts.  He’s been attending what is available  at the

YDC as far as classes, but he would -- certainly wo uld ask

that on the ankle monitor he would be allowed to at tend

school.  They have had a lot of turn over at the YD C.  I

don’t know how much -- consistent the educational p rogram

is, and --

THE COURT:  They're not going to let him back in

school here, not with a pending murder charge.

MR. DONNELLY:  Well, they’d have to make some

accommodation.  I mean, they’d have to.

THE COURT:  He’s 16.  I don’t know that they do.

MR. DONNELLY:  Okay.  Well, if --

THE COURT:  I’m not arguing with you, but I mean --

MR. DONNELLY:  Okay.  You’re --

THE COURT:  -- I think that’s the reality.

MR. DONNELLY:  You -- well, yeah.

MS. HULL:  Can I say something, please?

THE COURT:  Not yet, ma’am, unless Mr. Donnelly wan ts

to call you as a witness.

MR. DONNELLY:  No, and I -- just -- I know his moth er
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is very emotional and --

THE COURT:  I know.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- that’s why I wanted to call someo ne

who was a little less emotional to give the Court t his

information.  But in any event, whether he’s in sch ool or

on house arrest at home, he -- you know, I don’t be lieve

the State has any evidence to show the Court that b ond

should be denied.

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Donnelly.

Ms. Hull, if you would like to speak to the Court,

you may do so at this time, and you may stay right where

you are if you’d like to tell me something, you may  do so.

You don’t need to stand.  You have a little one on your

lap.  Go ahead.

MS. HULL:  Y'all just act like my son is so bad.  H e

in YDC.  He never got in trouble in that 12 months and 3

days -- well, a couple of days.  He's still getting  all

A’s and B’s when he was out.  He’s never got in tro uble,

period, never.  This is his first time getting book ed.  So

like y'all don't know him.  My son had did nothing,

nothing.  No evidence, no nothing.  What y'all witn ess

say?  Y'all ain’t got nothing on my son.  Y'all don ’t get

nothing on  my son, period.  I’m not letting you do

nothing to my son.

DEPUTY HENSON:  Calm down.
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THE COURT:  It's all right.

MS. HULL:  He ain’t did nothing.  Y'all know since

day one that -- I'm just talking.

THE COURT:  I -- hold on.  I’m going to hear from o ne

person.  Ms. Hull is his -- is Mr. Hull’s mother, a nd she

can finish telling me what she’d like to tell me.

MS. HULL:  Since day one, they knew who did it.  So

why is my son locked up?  He hadn’t nothing to do w ith

this, period.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MS. HULL:  So why he still locked up?

THE COURT:  Thank you.  I’ll address your concerns in

just a minute.

MS. HULL:  He gonna get a bond, or I’m going to sue

y'all.  So I’m not playing.

THE COURT:  Any other witnesses, Mr. Donnelly?

MR. DONNELLY:  No.

THE COURT:  All right.  Mr. Henderson, anything you ’d

like to say on behalf of the State?

CLOSING ARGUMENT BY MR. HENDERSON 

MR. HENDERSON:  Your Honor, we previously had a bon d

hearing in this case.  I will not revisit the fact with

the Court.  I believe the Court is aware.  The new

information we have now is that he would be staying  with

Ms. Traneile Collins.  Ms. Collins, of course, seem s like
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a fine person.  She was involved in his life before , and

he stayed there before.  There’s no indication that  this

is going to -- she’s going to be able to exercise t he

control or there'd be something different about his

situation why we denied bond originally.  So we ask  the

Court’s order to remain intact.

COURT'S RULING 

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.

All right.  With regard to the Ayala factors that M r.

Donnelly has indicated, certainly I agree with him that he

-- Mr. Hull as he does not pose a flight risk neces sarily.

There has been no evidence of that.  And he does ha ve very

strong community ties.  However, in October of 2021 , this

is what this Court found:  The Court found in Octob er of

2021 that the defendants in this case were denied b ond

because the nature of the charge in the alleged fac ts as

provided by the State convinced the Court that the

defendants pose a significant threat or danger to p ersons

in the community which is one of the Ayala factors.   The

very nature of the allegations and the nature of th e

evidence as has been presented to the Court indicat e that

those -- that particular factor in the Ayala factor s is

significantly not met, and I continue to find that today,

that the nature of this case indicates that this

particular defendant poses a significant danger or threat
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to the community, and I am going to continue to den y bond

in this case.

Mr. Donnelly and Mr. Henderson, we will schedule th e

rest of the motion --

MS. HULL:  How he a fucking threat?

THE COURT:  -- to suppress as soon as we can.

MS. HULL:  I don’t give a fuck.

THE COURT:  I’m going to ask --

MS. HULL:  -- fuck you.

THE COURT:  -- this side of the courtroom --

MS. HULL:  I don't give a damn.  Fuck all y'all.

That my mother fucking son.

THE COURT:  -- to leave now.

THE COURT:  And if this side would wait for just a

few moments, I would appreciate it.

MS. HULL:  Fuck y'all.

THE COURT:  Thank you very much.

MS. HULL:  Lock me the fuck up.  That my

motherfucking son.  Lock me up.  I’m right here.

DEPUTY HENSON:  Go.

MS. HULL:  How he a fucking threat?  Lock me up.

DEPUTY HENSON:  Go.

MS. HULL:  Lock me up.  Y'all lock him up.

UNIDENTIFIED VOICE:  Go.

MS. HULL:  Lock me up.
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DEPUTY HENSON:  Go.

MS. HULL:  Fuck y'all.

DEPUTY HENSON:  Go, go, go.

MS. HULL:  No.  You fucking go.

THE COURT:  I'm going to ask this side of the

courtroom to wait a few minutes, please.

DEPUTY HENSON:  Everybody else is fine.  It's just

the mother.

THE COURT:  Mr. Donnelly and Mr. Henderson, Ms.

Williams, I do want to ask you, does anybody know w hat the

status is of Mr. Richard’s court-appointed attorney ?

Anybody heard about that?

MR. HENDERSON:  It’s Mr. Swingle, Judge.

THE COURT:  He’s entered an appearance?

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes.

THE COURT:  Okay.  That I didn’t know.  That’s very

helpful to know.  All right.  Thank you.  The case was

originally on the October, obviously, 31st trial ca lendar.

Obviously, we’re not having it on that date, but in  the

future, we are going to have to talk about timing.  And I

didn’t realize Mr. Swingle was on the case, so I’m glad to

know that.

MR. HENDERSON:  I know we had a special set -- I’m

just -- I’m not to be ready the 31st.

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Well, I mean it was specially se t
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--

MR. HENDERSON:  Yeah, yes.

THE COURT:  -- when things were very different.  Ms .

Drake was on the case, and Mr. Jackson was on the c ase,

and neither counsel are here.  I mean I --

MR. HENDERSON:  We also continued a different speci al

set for Harris on that date as well.

THE COURT:  We did.  That’s true.

MR. HENDERSON:  So I just  --

THE COURT:  I mean, I don’t think anybody expected

this case to go to trial on October 30th.  Ms. Will iams is

looking at me.  Yes.

MS. WILLIAMS:  I mean, we want it to go as --

THE COURT:  I mean --

MS. WILLIAMS:  -- soon as possible.

THE COURT:  Sure.

MR. DONNELLY:  Given -- yes.  Given the anxiety tha t

the --

THE COURT:  Sure.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- the family is feeling, Mr. Hull’s

feeling, we don’t want to unnecessarily prolong it.

THE COURT:  I understand.

MR. DONNELLY:  But I think that given the posture

that we’re in -- we don’t even have a witness list,  first

of all.
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THE COURT:  Sure.

MR. DONNELLY:  And we have had a lot of trouble

accessing some of the interviews that the State has

provided in discovery.  It’s -- I’m not -- it’s -- I don’t

know what the problem is, but we’re getting -- we’r e

working through it.  So as it stands, I don’t see t hat we

could be ready on October 31st.  So I agree --

THE COURT:  Sure.  Okay.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- it’s probably the best thing to

just go ahead and remove it now, but up until recen tly I

was hoping that we could get ready.  But I -- espec ially

since now this second motion to suppress.  I apolog ize for

the late filing of that, but...

THE COURT:  Well, I mean, this is a complicated cas e,

and it’s very serious, and so --

MR. DONNELLY:  Okay.

THE COURT:  -- you know, I mean, had you all wanted

it at the end of October, I’m happy to do it, but I

certainly assume that --

MR. DONNELLY:  No.  It doesn’t seem realistic right

now.

THE COURT:  Go ahead, Mr. Henderson.

MR. HENDERSON:  I was just going to say previous --

private counsel had indicated discovery.  Last week , Mr.

Donnelly reached out to me --
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THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. HENDERSON:  -- and we have -- my chief

investigator is being their IT person.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. HENDERSON:  -- to play those videos.  I don’t

know how it’s going.  I’m not IT.  I'm not qualifie d --

THE COURT:  Sure.

MR. HENDERSON:  -- so we will try to get those

resolved --

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. HENDERSON:  -- and will assist in any way we ca n

to get them to play on their system.

THE COURT:  All right.  And then we can have some

sort of a conference whether in person or on the te lephone

to determine when you want to specially set.

MR. HENDERSON:  That would be perfect, Judge.

THE COURT:  I mean, I agree with Mr. Donnelly.  It

needs to be set as soon as we can.

MR. HENDERSON:  Yes.

THE COURT:  But there are too many counsel.  So I d o

want you all to know --

MR. DONNELLY:  Two on my side for the second --

THE COURT:  We’ll get --

MR. DONNELLY:  -- motion to suppress --

THE COURT:  --  that done this afternoon.
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MR. DONNELLY:  Yes.

THE COURT:  We’ll just have to find out.  I just wa nt

you to know I realize you didn’t call Ms. Hull as y our

witness.  Ms. Hull’s been here every single time we ’ve had

a case with Mr. Hull, obviously.  She is his mother .  She

wants to speak; I’m going to let her speak.  And sh e may

get out of control, and you know, that’s just the w ay it

is.  But I’m going to let her speak.  This is her s on --

MR. DONNELLY:  I --

THE COURT:  -- she wants to say something, and I’m

going to let her do it.

MR. DONNELLY:  I appreciate the Court’s patience wi th

her as you recognize how difficult that is.

THE COURT:  All right.  Anything else, Counsel?

MR. HENDERSON:  Nothing from the State.

THE COURT:  All right.  Everyone is excused.  We’ll

try to get that scheduled as soon as possible in th e next

couple of weeks.  All right.  Thank you.

MR. HENDERSON:  Thank you, Judge.

THE COURT:  And Deputy Henson, Deputy Forehand, can

you just let this side of the courtroom know when y ou feel

like it’s appropriate for them to leave?

DEPUTY FOREHAND:  As long as they don’t go out the

front of the building, it should be fine.

THE COURT:  I'm going to let you take care of that.
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Thank you.

(Whereupon, proceedings concluded at 2:27 p.m.)
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IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF ATHENS-CLARKE COUNTY 
 

STATE OF GEORGIA 
 
 
STATE OF GEORGIA,             )   
                              )            
Plaintiff                     )            
                              ) CASE NO. SU-21-CR-0 846           
vs.                           )   
                              )   
QUATRAVIS HULL,               ) Jackson Denno Hearing 
                              ) 
Defendant.                    ) 
 

 

This the transcript of the above proceedings, held

before the HONORABLE JUDGE LISA LOTT, Judge of the

Superior Court of Athens-Clarke County, in the

Athens-Clarke County Courthouse, Athens, Georgia on  the  

8th day of December, 2022, commencing at approximat ely

12:10 p.m.
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FOR THE STATE:               MS. DEBORAH GONZALES 
                             District Attorney                  
                             Western Judicial Circu it 
                             325 East Washington St reet 
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FOR THE DEFENDANT:           MR. JOHN DONNELLY 

                   MS. RACHEL WILLIAMS
                             Assistant Public Defen der  

                   Western Judicial Circuit
                             220 College Avenue 
                             Athens, Georgia 30601 
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P R O C E E D I N G S 

THE COURT:  All right.  We are now on the record.

This is the State of Georgia versus Quatravis Hull;  case

number is SU-21-CR-0846.  Mr. Hull is present in pe rson.

Good afternoon, Mr. Hull.  He is represented by Mr.  John

Donnelly and in the past by Ms. Williams.  Are you just

handling it today, Mr. Donnelly?

MR. DONNELLY:  Yes.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. DONNELLY:  She may be around --

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- but yes.

THE COURT:  She had sort of mentioned it.  I didn't

know if she was staying or not, but in any event, o f

course, Mr. Donnelly is here on his behalf.  Ms. De borah

Gonzales is here for the State.  Good afternoon.  W e are

here a Jackson-Denno hearing.  Ms. Gonzales, is the  State

ready?

MS. GONZALES:  Yes.

THE COURT:  All right.  Very good.  Mr. Donnelly?

MR. DONNELLY:  Yes.  I believe there are two

witnesses here from the police department.  I would  ask

that the rule of sequestration be invoked.

THE COURT:  The rule of sequestration is invoked.

Ms. Gonzales, who is your first witness?
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MS. GONZALES:  Detective Black.

THE COURT:  All right.  Detective Black, we're goin g

to have you remain.  Detective Harrison, if you'll remain

outside until you're called.  Mr. Donnelly, do you have

any witnesses that need to be sequestered?

MR. DONNELLY:  No.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Very good.  Ms. Gonzales, you ma y

begin.

MS. GONZALES:  Thank you, Your Honor.  The State

calls Detective Black to the stand.

THE COURT:  Officer Black, if you'll have a seat.

MR. DONNELLY:  Just -- I'm not planning on calling

her, but because Ms. Collins is present, just out o f

abundance of caution, I'm going to ask her to wait

outside.

THE COURT:  All right.  Where is Ms. Collins?  All

right.  Ms. Collins, if you would have a seat outsi de

please until you're called, if you are called, but thank

you.  Ms. Gonzales, you may swear in Detective Blac k and

begin.

MS. GONZALES:  Thank you.  If you'd raise your righ t

hand, please?  Do you swear and affirm that the tes timony

you are about to give to this Court on this matter is the

truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so help

you God?
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THE WITNESS:  I do.

MS. GONZALES:  Thank you so much.  Please take a

seat.

Whereupon,  

SCOTT BLACK 

was called as a witness herein, and having first be en duly 

sworn, was examined and testified as follows:  

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS. GONZALES:  

Q. Can you please state your name and spell it for t he

Court, please?

A. Scott Black, S-C-O-T-T B-L-A-C-K.

Q. And, Officer Black, where are you employed?

A. I work for the Athens-Clarke County Police Depart ment

as a sergeant under the robbery-homicide unit.

Q. How long have you been employed by the ACCPD?

A. Since 2001.

Q. And back in September of 2021, were you with the

ACCPD?

A. Yes.

Q. Were you assigned to investigate a shooting that

occurred in Bethel Homes in September of 2021?

A. I was.

Q. And what was your role in that investigation?

A. I was an assistant to the lead detective, which w as
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Detective Harrison.  I responded in capacity for a

robbery-homicide as an investigator.

Q. And during the course of your investigation, did the

name Quatravis Hull come up?

A. It did.

Q. Is this person -- or do you know if this person i s

known by any other name?

A. We knew him at that time as Bill until he came in  and

was identified as Quatravis Hull.

Q. Okay.  And pursuant to your investigation or

involvement in the case, did you have an opportunit y to speak

with the defendant, Mr. Hull?

A. I did.

Q. And do you remember what date and time it was tha t

you spoke with him?

A. I believe that was on the 23rd.  I couldn't tell you

exactly, but roughly what time he came in at.  Abou t 8 p.m.

Q. Thank you.  And where was that interview held?

A. That was at the East Side Police Department at 30 35

Lexington Road in the right interview room.

Q. And is that in Athens-Clarke County?

A. Yes, ma'am.

Q. And how long did that interview last?

A. I want to say it was about an hour and a half.  I 'm

guessing on that though.  I'm not real positive abo ut the exact
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length of that particular interview.

Q. Thank you.  And is that about the standard length  of

an interview that you would hold?

A. I really would hesitate in saying that there's re ally

any standard interview.  I've had some that are ove r in ten

minutes.  I've had some that have gone on for nine hours.  So,

it really just depends on the situation.

Q. Thank you.  And what were the circumstances

surrounding this conversation that you had with Mr.  Hull?

A. Well, Mr. Hull had been identified as being a sus pect

in the murder of the decedent in this case, Ketoria n Cooper.

Q. And can you describe a little bit about the room in

which you were having the interview with Mr. Hull?

A. The interview room is just kind of a small room.

It's got a table, some chairs, soundboards in the w all to help

with recording.  It does have a camera and it's got  audio and

visual recording capabilities.

Q. And did Mr. Hull arrive there voluntarily or was he

escorted into the room?

A. He arrived there voluntarily with his aunt.

Q. Was Mr. Hull, the defendant, physically restraine d in

any way when he came into the room?

A. No, not when he came into the room.

Q. Was he restrained -- at any point while he was in  the

interview was he restrained?
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A. Yes.  At one point, when he attempted to leave, w e

did take him into custody.

Q. Were there other people in the room at that point ?

A. Other people did come into the room and his aunt was

in the room, pretty much the entire time, with him.

Q. What is the name of his aunt?

A. I believe it's Trineela (phonetically) or Trinell a

(phonetically) Collins.

Q. Okay.  Thank you so much.  And were there any oth er

law enforcement officers in that room with you?

A. Eventually Detective Harrison entered the room an d

there was a couple other detectives that came in to  help take

him into custody at that time, but as far as the in terview

goes, after he was taken into custody, it was mysel f and

Detective Harrison.

Q. Okay.  And how were you and Detective Harrison

dressed when you when you were doing this interview ?

A. Wearing a typical kind of CID uniform, blue polo

shirt and pants.

Q. Okay.  Were you armed?

A. Yes.

Q. Was Detective Harrison armed?

A. I would presume he probably was.

Q. Okay.  Thank you.  Was the defendant under arrest  at

that time?
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A. I would say yes.  I mean, we already had establis hed

that he had been a person of interest and we'd actu ally already

established that he would be someone that we would be taking

into custody, because he'd been identified from a l ine-up prior

to that as being the shooter for this situation.

Q. And who had identified him?

A. Demiah Hood (phonetically).

Q. Okay.  Did you have any arrest warrants for Mr. H ull?

A. No.  Warrants had not been sworn out.

Q. But you still felt that he was in custody?

A. Yes.

Q. While you were questioning the defendant, did you

advise him as to why he was actually being question ed by you?

A. I'm trying to think if -- you know, I'm not real sure

if we started out with that portion.  I mean, he kn ew why he

was there.  The whole point of the conversation, wa s taking

about that encounter, so he would've known exactly why he was

there.

MR. DONNELLY:  I'm going to object to the speculati on

as to he knew why he was there.

THE COURT:  Ms. Gonzales, any response to objection ?

MS. GONZALES:  No.

THE COURT:  All right.  I'm going to sustain that

objection.

MS. GONZALES:  Thank you.

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



    10

Charlene W. Vinson
Official Court Reporter

Western Judicial Circuit
404.925.0455

BY MS. GONZALES:  (Resuming) 

Q. At any point, did you tell Defendant Hull why he was

there for the interview?

A. I'm sure I did.

Q. Would you have told him that it was about a murde r?

A. Yeah, I mean we -- the conversation that we had, the

whole discussion that we had, was regarding a shoot ing and

regarding the incident that happened that day that resulted in

the loss of life to Mr. Cooper.  I mean, we started  the

interview with a gunshot residue test, so clearly w e were there

to discuss a shooting and checking him and his invo lvement in

that shooting.

Q. And you did say that he went there voluntarily; h ow

did he know to go in to meet you for that interview ?

A. We had reached out to family members and they agr eed

to bring him up.

Q. Did you ever ask him if he wanted to speak with y ou?

A. I mean, I'm not sure if I directly said hey, do y ou

want to talk to me or not.  I'd have to review the actual video

and see the conversation.  I mean, we talked to him , read him

his Miranda rights at the start, and asked him if h e was -- if

he wanted to discuss the situation or if he wanted to talk to

us, and he did agree to speak with us.

Q. Okay.  When did you read him the Miranda rights?

A. We read him Miranda rights at the beginning of th e
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interview.  I read it to him.

Q. So before you started asking him questions?

A. Yes.

Q. Did he assume then, or do you believe that at tha t

point you had to read him the Miranda rights becaus e he was in

custody?

A. Yes, I was absolutely going to read him his Miran da

rights because he would not have been free to leave .

Q. Okay.  At that point that you say that you took h im

into custody, did you mention to him what he might be charged

with?

A. I'd have to, honestly, review the actual language  of

it.  I mean, we were, at some point -- I'm sure at some point

we did tell him this is what you're charges would b e.  I'm not

sure at the time when I actually put him in handcuf fs if I

said, oh, these are what your charges would be per se.  When he

was actually taken into custody is when he -- was a bout halfway

through the interview when he actually makes an att empt to

leave the interview room.  Prior to that, he was no t handcuffed

and we were just having a conversation in the inter view room

where he was not detained, but he was not free to l eave.

Q. Okay.  So you say you did give him his Miranda

rights?

A. Uh-huh.

Q. It was done orally; was there anything in writing  or
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a waiver?

A. Did not do a signed waiver.  Read him his Miranda

rights from a Miranda card.

Q. Why did you not do a waiver?

A. Honestly, we don't typically do waivers.  Typical ly,

we'll read the Miranda rights, make sure they under stand the

Miranda rights, and ask them if they will agree to speak with

us.

Q. And what did the defendant do that made you feel that

he understood what his rights were?

A. He stated that he understood his rights and he ag reed

to speak with us.

Q. Okay.  Did he continue to speak with you after th e

rights were read?

A. Yes.

Q. At what point did the defendant say he no longer

wanted to speak with you?

A. I don't know if he ever particularly expressed th at

he no longer wanted to speak with us.  He even spok e with us a

little bit even after he attempted to leave and was  put in

handcuffs.  It was about half-way though, I think, he started

asking that he wanted his mom there and then when h e got up and

said I'm going to go talk to my mom or something al ong those

lines is when he was actually stopped and then put in

handcuffs.  After he calmed down a little bit, we w ere able to
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talk to him a little bit more and it just kind of w ent from

there until we were done with the conversation.

Q. Okay.  Now, you said that he had arrived there wi th

his aunt?

A. Yes.

Q. At any time was the aunt involved in this

conversation?

A. She was there for the entire time.

Q. The entire time.  Did the aunt ever express that she

wanted you to stop questioning the defendant?

A. She expressed that maybe they should get an attor ney,

but she did not say -- she did not revoke rights fo r him and he

did not invoke any -- you know, stopping the interv iew for

attorney.  And as far as the aunt being there, we a ctually

asked him at the start, or I asked him at the start , you know,

do you prefer your aunt or your mom and his aunt wa s actually

the preference at that point in time that he wanted  to have in

there -- in the room with him.

Q. Was his mom outside of the room?

A. I believe she was in the front waiting room or

somewhere thereabouts.  I'm not entirely possible - - or I'm not

entirely knowledgeable where she was at that point.

Q. Do you recall how old the defendant was during th is

time?

A. I think he's 15 or was 15.
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Q. Okay.  Do you recall his level of education?

A. I think he said he might've been in high school.  He

-- I'm not sure exactly what grade level he was in.

Q. Did he appear to understand the English language?

A. Yes.

Q. Was he able to communicate to you in the English

language?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you have any difficulty understanding him whe n he

was communicating with you?

A. No.

Q. Did he appear to be under the influence of drugs or

alcohol?

A. No.

Q. Was he deprived of food, water, sleep, or access to a

bathroom?

A. No.

Q. Did he ever ask for a lawyer during this time?

A. No, not that I recall.

Q. Did you offer to the defendant, Mr. Hull, any of the

slightest hope of benefit in order to have him answ er some

questions for you?

A. No.

Q. Did you tell him that there was going to be a les ser

charge?
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A. No.

Q. Did you tell him that there would be less penalty  if

he spoke with you?

A. No.

Q. Did you say that there would be a lighter sentenc e

for any of the charges that might be pending?

A. No.

Q. Did you talk about anything at all about what he

might benefit from if he spoke with you?

A. No.

Q. Did you or anybody else who was in your presence --

you said Detective Harrison was there as well.  Do you know if

you did anything to induce him to answer any questi ons?

A. We did not.

Q. Did he, in fact, give you the statement?

A. Yes.

Q. Was that statement in oral or writing?

A. Oral.

Q. Was that statement recorded?

A. Yes.

Q. Did the defendant at any time express reluctance to

speak with you?

A. Only when he went to go leave, because he wanted to

go get his mom, but I would -- other than that, no.

Q. And that was the time that you put him into custo dy?
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A. Yes.

Q. Okay.  And again, he never asked for you to stop

questioning him?

A. Correct.

Q. But he did understand that he had the right to re main

silent?

A. Yes.

Q. That he did not have to answer your questions?

A. Yes.

Q. But he still did even after you retained him?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you make any attempt to record the conversati on?

A. Yes, it was recorded.

Q. Okay.  And did the recording become part of the c ase

file?

A. It is.

Q. How did the interview end?

A. I think he was transported to jail.

Q. Okay.  And what was your goal in talking to the

defendant?

A. To find out what happened.

Q. And do you see the defendant, Quatravis Hull, her e in

court today?

A. I do.

Q. Can you point him out and describe a piece of

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



    17

Charlene W. Vinson
Official Court Reporter

Western Judicial Circuit
404.925.0455

clothing that he's wearing?

A. He's at the defendant's table wearing the gray to p.

MS. GONZALES:  Your Honor, may it be recorded that

Quatravis Hull has been identified?

THE COURT:  The record so reflects.

MS. GONZALES:  Thank you.  Your Honor, the State ha s

no further questions.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Mr. Donnelly, any

cross-examination?

MR. DONNELLY:  Yes.  Thank you.

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. DONNELLY:  

Q. Detective Black, so you said that he -- your offi ce,

I don't know if it was you personally, but someone at the

police department reached out to Quatravis Hull's f amily --

A. Yes.

Q. -- earlier that afternoon or evening?

A. Yes.

Q. And that it's your understanding that his aunt dr ove

him down to the police department in response to th at?

A. Yeah, it was Trenella Collins.  In fact, it looks

like when we talked to the mom, she said that they actually had

already brought him there at one point and left.

Q. Right.  And so, yeah -- did you learn, I guess --  you

kind of answered that, but did you learn at some po int that
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family had brought Mr. Hull to the police departmen t about an

hour earlier before you spoke to him?

A. I did.

Q. Okay.  And then whoever greeted them didn't know,  I

guess, who to put him in touch with.  They left bri efly, came

back, and that's when you met with him around 8 p.m .?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Okay.  And so, it was actually just his aunt who

accompanied him at 8:00 when you met with him, righ t?

A. Yes.  That's the only person I had contact with.

Q. Okay.  And then his mother, Ms. Hull, showed up

sometime after the interview started.

A. I'm honestly not sure when she shows up, to be

honest, sir.

Q. Okay.  But if there's a place on the video record ing

where someone knocks on the interview room door and  tells you

that, would that --

A. That could be very likely, because I think at one

point she even comes in and talks to him later on, but I'm not

sure exactly when she shows up.

Q. And then -- but at some point during the intervie w,

he was made aware hey, your mother's out in the lob by.

A. That sounds accurate.

Q. Okay.  And you said that it was your understandin g

when you met with him at that point that he is a su spect, he's
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not leaving, you know, he's going to be arrested.

A. Yes.

Q. However this interview goes, we have enough --

A. Yes.

Q. -- evidence to -- probable cause to take out a

warrant?

A. That is correct.

Q. Even though the warrant hadn't actually been exec uted

or signed by a judge yet, that was the plan?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.  And so -- but he was not told that when he

came in the interview room?

A. That is correct.

Q. He wasn't told that he was a suspect either.

A. I don't know that we didn't tell him he was a sus pect

at that point in time, not at the start at least.

Q. And he certainly wasn't told that he's going to b e

arrested and charged with murder at some time that evening.

A. You know, I don't know if we told him that during  the

evening.  You said throughout the entire evening?  I don't know

--

Q. Well, at first, at the outset of the interview, h e

was not told that.

A. That is correct.

Q. Okay.  So, he wouldn't have any reason to think t hat
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he was detained until he actually walked out to see  his mother.

A. That is correct.

Q. Okay.  And it was about probably, I don't know, 3 0-45

minutes into the interview when he got up and said I want to go

see my mom.

A. That sounds accurate, yes.

Q. And it's when he got up and that's when you grabb ed

him by the shirt or the arm and said hold up, you'r e not -- you

know, that's not happening right now.

A. That sounds accurate.  Yes, sir.

Q. And then other officers, I think Detective Harris on,

maybe some -- another officer came into the room at  that point

to --

A. I think it was Detective Harrison.  I want to say

Detective Minshew and I think Detective Lister were  in the

doorway, standing by as well.

Q. And they came in, at least two of them.  I don't know

about if there's three, but at least two of them ca me in at

that point to make sure that, you know, there was n ot going to

be any disturbance or --

A. Yes.

Q. -- anything.  And before -- so we see on the

recording that you read him the Miranda warning ver y close to

the beginning of the interview, and then after that  is when you

did the gunshot residue test of his hands; does tha t sound
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right?

A. That sounds correct.  I don't know if I read them

straight away or if I did the gunshot before and th en read

them, but that's -- they were very close together e ither way.

Q. And then, you know, you asked him about what happ ened

earlier and he tells -- gives a statement.

A. Yes.

Q. And when -- around -- you know, like I said, I do n't

know exactly, but 20 or 30-45 minutes into the stat ement is

when you -- and he had denied any direct involvemen t in the

shooting up until -- well, he denied it entirely, b ut up until

the point where he wants to get up and go see his m other, his

statement had been I was present, but I didn't fire  a gun.

A. Yes.  So he used the, the kind of convenient I

blacked out for a lot of details up until that poin t.

Q. Well, he says that that was after the gun was fir ed

that he says I blacked out, that someone else fired  the gun and

not him, right?

A. That sounds accurate.

Q. And he doesn't say he was blacked out when the gu n

was fired, does he?

A. I'd have to review or watch to see exactly what h is

language is and the timing of it, but that sounds r oughly

accurate.

Q. Okay.  And at some point after you, sort of, let him

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



    22

Charlene W. Vinson
Official Court Reporter

Western Judicial Circuit
404.925.0455

speak and you ask some clarification questions and let him

speak some more and you go back and say well, what about this

and it's -- he's doing most of the talking initiall y for those

first, sort of, 40 minutes or so, right?

A. Yes.

Q. And then you put your pen down and you're like, o kay,

look, you're not telling me the truth and sort of c onfront him

and then you start doing a little pushing back on h is

statement.

A. Yes.

Q. And among that, you tell him that you've got vide o

that shows him shooting.

A. Yes.

Q. And that is not accurate; is that right?

A. That is correct.

Q. And that's when he and his aunt both ask to see t his

video, right?

A. Yes.

Q. And you said no, we're not doing that right now, or

something to that effect.

A. That is correct.

Q. And that he repeats, you know, that he was there and

that -- but that he did not fire a gun.

A. Yes.

Q. He repeats that several times and you say at one
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point why does David -- that would be referring to David

Richard, why does David say you fired, and that was  not true

either, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. David never said Mr. Hull fired the gun.

A. Yes, that is correct.

Q. Okay.  And at that point, I don't think you had e ven

spoken to David, had you?

A. No.

Q. Okay.  And it's around that point that he gets ve ry

upset and wants to talk to his mother and when you -- well, he

was getting upset when he gets up and wants to go t alk to his

mother; is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. And then when you restrict his movement in that w ay

and ask him, you know, basically -- well, when the other

officers come in at that point, I was about to say you sat him

back down, but you didn't.  The other officers came  in and put

him in handcuffs at that time; is that correct?

A. Yes, we handcuffed him.

Q. Okay.  And then that's when he got real upset.

A. Yes.

Q. Just, like, crying and -- and it was around that

point, and this would be around 9 p.m., that his au nt mentions

that they should get a lawyer or something to that effect; is
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that right?

A. That sounds accurate.

Q. Okay.  And -- but he never said he should get a

lawyer.  That was just his aunt, right?

A. Correct.  He did not invoke his rights.

Q. And he -- you continued to talk to him and he tal ked

for a few more minutes until it ended?

A. Yes.

MR. DONNELLY:  And I would like to -- because that

could be an important point for the Court's determi nation

about the aunt's raising the idea of counsel during  the

interview.  I would like to play just, you know, a couple

minutes of the interview.  I mean, it's over an hou r, so I

don't want -- most of it is not really at issue, bu t -- is

there a mechanism where I can do that in here?

THE COURT:  Yes.  So, what do you -- you have a zip

drive?  Well.

UNIDENTIFIED VOICE:  I have a laptop.

THE COURT:  Who we really need probably is Mr.

Thompson.  He knows -- Ms. Gonzales, are you famili ar

enough with this system to be able to get the video  on?  I

know Mr. Thompson's in this courtroom a lot.  Okay.   We

may need to find -- are you?

MS. GONZALES:  No.

THE COURT:  Okay.  You're in this courtroom a lot,
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too.  I don't mean to put the burden on you.

MR. DONNELLY:  And I know we've done this before in

other -- I don't know about with Your Honor, but we 've

done it with other -- in other courts and other -- in

situations.  If it's preferable -- I mean, I'm fine

waiting to --

THE COURT:  Sure.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- play it, but if it's preferable

that I just introduce this and let -- and identify the

times --

THE COURT:  Sure.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- that I would like the Court to

review we can do that.

THE COURT:  Well, I mean, that's certainly up to yo u.

I mean, I will say for both parties that I do want to see

the entire video.  I mean, I have a responsibility to

determine whether any statement is free and volunta ry,

regardless of a motion filed by a party, and so I d o need

to see the entire video.  So whether it's on that a nd you

want to admit it or whether the State has it for me  to

review.  I'm not going to do it today in front of

everybody.  I mean, I'll review it in chambers and review

the transcript and things of that nature, but I am going

to want to see the whole thing.  If you would like for me

to hear a portion of it now, we can definitely make  that
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happen.  I'll leave that up to your decision.

MR. DONNELLY:  No.  If the Court's planning on

reviewing the entire thing anyway --

THE COURT:  I mean --

MR. DONNELLY:  -- then --

THE COURT:  -- it hasn't been entered into evidence ,

but I mean, I will say to both parties I do want to  see

the entire video.  I don't think the Court can make  a

determination about voluntariness of any statement without

seeing the recording, and so I'll just throw that o ut

there.

MR. DONNELLY:  I think that's a good idea.  I wasn' t

-- yeah.  I was just going to play that one part th at I

thought was probably more important, but it's proba bly

safer for the Court to review the whole thing and I  -- if

the State doesn't have an easily -- something in a form

where we can introduce it, I'm happy to introduce m y copy.

They --

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- put it on this flash drive for me

--

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- because we couldn't access it on

the case system.  So I --

THE COURT:  Okay.
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MR. DONNELLY:  -- you know, can either just make an

assurance to the Court that it's not deleted or if you

want to review it first, but this is what we got fr om the

DA's Office.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Ms. Gonzales, any response to --

are you -- you want to go ahead and tender that?

MR. DONNELLY:  Yes.  I'll --

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- ask that this be marked Defendant 's

Exhibit 1 --

THE COURT:  All right.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- unless.

THE COURT:  Ms. Gonzales, any comment on that?

MS. GONZALES:  No, no comment.

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Well, then it's

admitted without objection.  So if you want to just  give

me that copy.

(Whereupon, Defendant's Exhibit No. 1 was admitted

into evidence.)

MR. DONNELLY:  And that's the only thing on here.

There's not any other --

THE COURT:  Okay.  So the entire --

MR. DONNELLY:  -- flash drive.

THE COURT:  The entire interview is on there is wha t

you're saying.  Not --
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MR. DONNELLY:  Yes.

THE COURT:  -- the portion you were trying to

introduce.

MR. DONNELLY:  Right.  The entire interview's --

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- on here, but nothing -- I'm sayin g

nothing else from the case.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Very good.  Thank you.  All righ t.

You may continue.

MR. DONNELLY:  Well --

THE COURT:  And, Mr. Donnelly, do you want to play a

part of it now, or you just want to wait until the Court

takes a look at it?

MR. DONNELLY:  No.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. DONNELLY:  Yeah, that's fine.  I think --

THE COURT:  All right.

BY MR. DONNELLY:  (Resuming) 

Q. Just given that, that the Court is going to revie w

the video, you would agree that if, you know, you g ot something

out of sequence or for giving the best summary of - - that you

could give from your memory of this over a year ago  that the

recording would be more accurate; is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay.  And -- so the characterization that Ms.
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Collins gave as far as the possibility of getting c ounsel for

Mr. Hull, that would be more accurately reflected o n the video

than the way you described it?

A. Yes.  I mean, obviously, it would be accurately

represented.  However, she brought it up, but like I said, she

brought up getting attorney.  He did not invoke his  rights.

She cannot invoke his rights for him.

Q. Well, I -- that is a legal point that, I guess, t he

Court would have to decide, but --

A. Exactly.

Q. And I think there's case law to the contrary abou t

what you said, but we'll raise that in argument.  A nd then,

just to clarify, there was no other -- you didn't h ave any

other contact with Mr. Hull after -- so once the re cording

concludes -- I just want to make sure for the recor d there's

nothing additional about the statement that you too k from him.

A. Yeah, I don't know -- double check and make sure we

didn't go and talk to him at any other time, but I don't think

we did.  Yeah, I don't -- I don't think we did, no.

Q. Yeah, I didn't see any mention of that.  And -- h ang

on a second.  Okay.  That's all.  Thank you.

THE COURT:  All right.  Detective Black, I actually

have some questions to ask you.

THE WITNESS:  Sure.

THE COURT:  And I know, obviously, I'm going to loo k
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at the video and it may answer some of the question s, but

I wanted to kind of clarify some things you had men tioned.

You -- what was your understanding, if there was an y, of

how Mr. Hull got to the police station, or was brou ght

there; what were the circumstances to your understa nding?

THE WITNESS:  So my understanding is they come up

there initially, I'd say 30-40 minutes, maybe even an

hour, prior to us reaching out to his mom, and -- b ecause

when I -- when we reached out to his mother, she ha d said,

you know, he's already been there and talked to an officer

who basically said you can go.  They met with some patrol

officer who, I guess, was not familiar with the inc ident

at all or know that we're looking for this person, so they

did leave.  Placed the phone call; they then brough t him

back up there and it was his aunt who comes in with  him --

THE COURT:  Okay.

THE WITNESS:  -- to bring him back to the police

department.

THE COURT:  So let me ask you a question.  Did you

call his home or did somebody else?

THE WITNESS:  I don't recall if it was me who calle d

or if it was someone else who called and talked to his

mom.

THE COURT:  And what was your impression about

whether the interview would happen after the phone call to
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the mother?  Did you have an impression?

THE WITNESS:  About whether it was going to happen?

We were --

THE COURT:  Right.

THE WITNESS:  -- told that they were going to bring

him back up, that they were going to bring him back  to the

police department to speak to us.

THE COURT:  And do you know who made that comment?

THE WITNESS:  I believe that was Laquinta

(phonetically) Hull, this mother.

THE COURT:  Okay.  What was your understanding, if

there was any understanding, of why the aunt was wi th him

in the interview room as opposed to somebody else?

THE WITNESS:  That was his preference.

THE COURT:  Okay.

THE WITNESS:  Because when I actually asked him tha t

in the beginning, who do you prefer to have in here  --

THE COURT:  Okay.

THE WITNESS:  -- do you prefer to have anyone in

here?  Do you want your mom in here?  Do you want y our

aunt in here?  And he had said that he preferred hi s aunt.

I think his aunt said that she had been, basically,  around

him since he was three weeks old, so.

THE COURT:  Okay.  And do you have a limit of who

comes into an interview room with a suspect, or an
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interviewee?

THE WITNESS:  I mean, there's no hard and fast rule

of a limit.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Did you ask Mr. Hull how old he

was?

THE WITNESS:  Yeah, I know I got his date of birth.

I --

THE COURT:  Okay.

THE WITNESS:  I might've asked him how old he was

specifically.  I know we had a brief conversation a bout

going to school and things like that.

THE COURT:  What do you recall about the conversati on

about school?

THE WITNESS:  Just very casual conversation.  You

know, what are you going to school for, what do you  want

to be.  I recall him telling me, I think, he wanted  to be

either a football player or design clothing when he  was

grew -- when he was older.

THE COURT:  Did you determine from that conversatio n

what grade he was in, or do you remember?

THE WITNESS:  I don't recall that.

THE COURT:  Okay.  You -- before the objection was

sustained, you indicated that you felt that Mr. Hul l

understood why he was there.  Can you explain to me  what

you mean by that?
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THE WITNESS:  Read him his rights at the very start .

I asked him if he understood them.  He nodded that he did.

I asked him if he wanted to speak to me and he agre ed to

speak with me.

THE COURT:  Did you have any other reason to believ e

that he knew why he was there?

THE WITNESS:  Oh, yes.  I mean, he already had told

us -- he told me during the conversation that peopl e were

already calling him, asking him if he did it and wh at his

involvement was.  So he was well aware that the com munity

itself was saying that he was involved in the shoot ing.

THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.

Ms. Gonzales, any questions based on my questions o r

any further redirect?

MS. GONZALES:  I do have one --

THE COURT:  Go ahead.

MS. GONZALES:  -- question that I wanted -- 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS. GONZALES:  

Q. When you were talking about it was the defendant' s

preference to have his aunt and not his mother; do you consider

the legal guardian of the defendant or an individua l to be more

the mother than the aunt?

A. Oh, that just depends on the situation.  I'm not sure

who his legal guardian is.  That's just who he said  he was more
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comfortable with.

Q. Okay.  Did you take the aunt to be a parental fig ure

or just there for support or there -- who would hav e capacity

to be able to consent?

A. My impression is she was more like a parental-typ e

figure for him.  That was just my impression, the w ay they

communicated and their involvement.

Q. You also answered Mr. Donnelly's question about w hat

you might have been thinking when he first came int o the

interview, if you might be taking him into custody later on.

Did you make that decision before interviewing?

A. Yeah, we already had him identified out of a line -up

as being the person who shot Ketorian Cooper.

Q. Okay.  Thank you.  No further questions.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Any recross, Mr. Donnelly?

MR. DONNELLY:  Yeah, just to follow up very briefly

on the aunt-mother questions.

RECROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. DONNELLY:  

Q. So his aunt brought him to the interview room.  H e

asked that she remain with him during the interview , right?

A. Yes.

Q. And then at some point during the interview, y'al l

were told, oh, his mother's out front in the lobby,  I guess?

A. I mean, that sounds accurate.
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Q. And then you asked him, you know, hey, do you wan t to

get your mother in here?  And he said no, that's fi ne.

A. That sounds -- that could be very accurate, yes.

Q. And that in sort of the beginning, sort of the

introductory questions, his aunt, Ms. Collins, said , you know,

he lives with me when -- you know, things aren't th at great at

his mother's home, so he usually -- he stays with m e, to that

effect.

A. That sounds accurate.  So my impression is she is

more of kind of a parental kind of person for him.

MR. DONNELLY:  That's all.

THE COURT:  All right.  Anything else, Ms. Gonzales ,

of Detective Black?

MS. GONZALES:  No further questions.  Thank you.

THE COURT:  Any objection, Mr. Donnelly, to Detecti ve

Black being excused?

MR. DONNELLY:  No.

THE COURT:  You are free to go, sir.  Thank you.

THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

(Whereupon, the witness exited the courtroom.)

THE COURT:  You want to call your next witness, Ms.

Gonzales?

MS. GONZALES:  The State calls Detective David

Harrison.

THE COURT:  All right.  Could you get Detective
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Harrison?  Thank you.

MR. DONNELLY:  So, even if Detective Black has been

excused, I guess I should clarify that I would ask that

the rule still remain in effect.

THE COURT:  The rule is still in effect.  Thank you .

You are free to go, sir.

(Whereupon, Detective Harrison enters the courtroom .)

MS. GONZALES:  Good afternoon, Detective Harrison.

THE WITNESS:  Good afternoon.

MS. GONZALES:  Would you raise your right hand,

please?  Do you swear and affirm that the testimony  that

you are going to give to in this courtroom today is  the

truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so help

you God?

THE WITNESS:  I do.

MS. GONZALES:  Thank you so much.  Please take a

seat.

Whereupon,  

DAVID HARRISON 

was called as a witness herein, and having first be en duly 

sworn, was examined and testified as follows:  

DIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MS. GONZALES:  

Q. Can you please state and spell your name for the

Court?
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A. Yes.  First name David, D-A-V-I-D.  Last name

Harrison, H-A-R-R-I-S-O-N.

Q. And where are you employed and in what capacity?

A. Currently employed with the Athens-Clarke County

Police Department, specifically assigned to our cri minal

investigations division or persons crime unit, also  known as

the robbery-homicide unit.

Q. And back in September '21, were you with the ACCP D?

A. I was.

Q. Okay.  Were you assigned to investigate a shootin g

that occurred in Bethel Homes in September of 2021?

A. I was.

Q. And what was your role in that investigation?

A. I was assigned the case as the lead investigator.

Q. So the lead investigator.  And how did Detective

Black assist?

A. He assisted by interviewing witnesses and suspect s in

the case.

Q. In the course of your investigation, did the name

Quatravis Hull come up?

A. It did.

Q. And was he known by any other name?

A. He was also known as Bill.

Q. Okay.  And how did his name come up?

A. There were witnesses of the incident itself that
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provided details and his name.

Q. And was there a reason why Detective Black headed  the

interview even though you were the lead detective?

A. I was out at Bethel Homes conducting the

investigation, trying to do follow-ups, and look at  the crime

scene itself.

Q. Thank you.  And pursuant to this investigation, d id

you have a chance to talk to the defendant?

A. I did.

Q. Okay.  When did you talk to the defendant?

A. It was the date of the incident.  I -- when I got

back to the police department, he was already being  interviewed

by Detective Black, and then I went into the interv iew room at

some point and interviewed.

Q. And where was that interview room?

A. It was at the Athens-Clarke County Police Departm ent.

Q. Okay.  And do you know where in Athens?

A. On Lexington Road, 3035 Lexington Road.

Q. Okay.  When you -- you weren't there for the enti rety

of the interview?

A. That's correct.  I was not.

Q. Okay.  At what point did you go into the

conversation?

A. When Mr. Hull became upset and tried to leave the

room and then I went in to assist Detective Black a t that
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point.

Q. And what did you do to Mr. Hull while you were th ere?

A. I placed him into handcuffs.

Q. Did you read him any Miranda rights?

A. I did not.

Q. Okay.  Was he resisting when you placed the handc uffs

on him?

A. He was no longer resisting.  He had his hands beh ind

his back and Detective Black had him secured.

Q. Okay.  But did you ask the defendant questions or  was

it all Detective Black?

A. I did ask questions once I remained in the interv iew

room.

Q. Okay.  At that point, he was still in handcuffs?

A. He was.

Q. He was sitting down?

A. Yes.

Q. Was there anybody else in the room?

A. Yes, it was a family member.  Ms. Collins was in

there.

Q. Okay.  And who is Ms. Collins?

A. I believe she's an aunt.  I just know she's a fam ily

member.

Q. Okay.  Were you armed when you were in that room?

A. I was.
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Q. Was Detective Black armed?

A. I believe he was.

Q. Okay.  Did you consider that the defendant was un der

arrest at that time?

A. He was not free to leave at that time.

Q. So he was in custody?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you have any arrest warrants for him?

A. I did not.

Q. Did you question -- or when you questioned the

defendant, did you advise him why you were question ing him?

A. I did not.  I mean, I think it was very clear.  W e

were talking about a shooting that occurred in Beth el Homes.

Q. Did he say at any point that he no longer wanted to

speak with you?

A. He did not.

Q. And did he tell Detective Black that he did not w ant

to speak with him?

A. He didn't -- not that I'm aware of, no.

Q. Do you know if he was advised of his rights befor e

you spoke with him?

A. I did not know before I spoke with him.

Q. When did you discover that he had been advised of  his

rights?

A. When I reviewed the interview recording.
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Q. Okay.  And when was that?

A. It was sometime after that date.  I'm not sure wh en I

-- exactly I first reviewed it.

Q. Okay.  When you reviewed the tape of him getting his

Miranda rights, were they done orally, were they sp oken to him,

or were they given to him in writing?

A. It was done orally.

Q. Thank you.  Do you believe that the defendant

understood what he was doing there?

A. Yes.

Q. Do you believe that he understood why he was bein g

questioned?

A. Yes.

MR. DONNELLY:  Objection, speculation.

THE COURT:  I'm going to overrule that objection.

You may continue.

BY MS. GONZALES:  (Resuming) 

Q. When you saw the defendant, did you have an idea of

how old he would be, or how old he was?

A. I think I had an idea.  I think somebody had

mentioned to me he was a high school age.  So somew here in the

high school age, yes.

Q. Okay.  Did he appear to understand English?

A. Based on the recording, yes.

Q. And when he was responding to you and your questi ons,
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did it seem that he understood what you were asking  him?

A. Yes.

Q. Did the defendant seem to be under the influence of

drugs or alcohol?

A. He didn't appear that way to me, no.

Q. Was he, at any point, deprived of food or water,

sleep or access to a bathroom?

A. No.

Q. At any point, did the defendant say that he wante d to

remain silent?

A. He did not, no.

Q. Did he answer -- did he, at any point, ask for a

lawyer?

A. He himself did not, no.

Q. And you said he himself; did somebody else in the

room ask for a lawyer?

A. Later on in the conversation, Ms. Collins referen ced

that maybe they should get a lawyer.

Q. But they didn't ask for a lawyer, they just

referenced that maybe they should?

A. Yes.

Q. They never asked for a lawyer?

A. Not that I can recall, no.

Q. Okay.  Did you -- as you were sitting there in th e

interview with the defendant, at any point, did any body offer
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him anything in exchange for his interview question ?

A. No.

Q. Did anybody tell him that he would get a lesser

sentence if he spoke?

A. No.

Q. Did anybody tell him that he would maybe even get

charges dismissed if he spoke with you?

A. No.

Q. Okay.  Was there any talk about reducing charges if

he spoke to you?

A. No.

Q. Do you know if he was at school at the time -- in

school?

A. After reviewing the recording, I learned that he was,

but at the time I spoke with him, I did not know th at.

Q. Did you, at any time, try to induce him to answer

questions?

A. No.

Q. Did anybody in the room try to induce him to answ er

questions?

A. No.

Q. Did the defendant actually give a statement durin g

that interview?

A. He did.

Q. Was this interview recorded?

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



    44

Charlene W. Vinson
Official Court Reporter

Western Judicial Circuit
404.925.0455

A. It was.

Q. Have you seen the recording?

A. I have.

Q. Did he express, the defendant, any reluctance in

talking to you?

A. Not that I can recall, no.

Q. Did he ask to stop speaking -- to stop being

questioned?

A. He did not directly ask to stop speaking with us.

Q. How did the interview end?

A. Like I said, I think Ms. Collins, at one point,

referenced they wanted to get, you know, a lawyer a nd so at

that point, it was kind of clear that the interview  was going

to end at that point, and so that's how it ended.

Q. Do you see the defendant, Quatravis Hull, here?

A. I do.

Q. And can you point him out and describe what he's

wearing?

A. Yes.  He's sitting at the defense table over here , in

khaki pants and it looks like a gray color sweatshi rt with a

black mask on.

MS. GONZALES:  Your Honor, may the record reflect

that Mr. Hull has been identified?

THE COURT:  So reflects.

MS. GONZALES:  Thank you.  No further questions at
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this moment.

THE COURT:  All right.  Cross-examination, Mr.

Donnelly?

MR. DONNELLY:  Thank you.

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. DONNELLY:  

Q. Detective Harrison, let's see.  So, you had been

investigating the shooting since the afternoon when  it was

called in, right?

A. Yes.  Yes, sir.

Q. And so that was around, I want to say, 4:30 in th e

afternoon, something like that?

A. That sounds about right.  Yes, sir.

Q. Okay.  And then this interview with Mr. Hull star ted

around 8 p.m.; does that sound right?

A. Yes.

Q. So in those few hours in between though, you had been

investigating?

A. Yes.

Q. And that included pulling security video from the

complex there at Bethel Midtown Village?

A. At that point, I had not gotten video, no.

Q. Okay.  And talking to witnesses?

A. Yes.

Q. And you mentioned that there was two young women who
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were questioned at the police department and that w as the

source of Mr. Hull becoming primary suspect?

A. Yes.

Q. And then the other person of interest was David

Richard; that developed that afternoon, right?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And had -- he had not been taken into custody by 8

p.m. when Mr. Hull was interviewed; is that right?

A. I don't believe he was in custody at that point, no.

Q. And certainly, he had not been questioned or give n a

statement at that time?

A. At that time, no.

Q. A couple days later, he gave a statement, admitti ng

that he was the shooter, right?

A. Yes, a couple days later, he did come in and prov ide

a statement.

Q. But at that time, he had not given a statement, o n

September 23rd?

A. No.  We sat down with him, but he elected not to give

a statement that day.

Q. Okay.  And that was later that night?

A. It was.

Q. And so, the -- I guess, asserting on -- at 8:30 p .m.

on September 23rd, 2021, that Mr. Hull was on video  firing a

gun; that would have been false, right?
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A. Can you explain that again?

Q. Did you have video at the time of his interview

showing that he fired a gun?

A. No.

Q. Okay.  So anyone who was asserting that would -- that

would have been false?

A. They may have believed that there was video, but at

that time, I did not have video.

Q. But if they asserted that they had seen it and th at's

why they thought he was the main suspect because he  was on

video firing a gun, that would be false, right?

A. Potentially.

Q. And certainly, asserting that David Richard had g iven

a statement that Mr. Hull fired the shot, that woul d have been

false as well, right?

A. At that point, yes.

Q. And -- well at any point, he never said that Mr. Hull

fired the shot, did he?

A. Can you repeat that?

Q. Did David Richard ever say that Quatravis Hull fi red

the shot?

A. No.

Q. Okay.  But I understand that detectives in

interviewing suspects or witnesses in cases are giv en leeway to

what you can say to a suspect in an interview, righ t?
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A. Right.

Q. And that -- and so, you -- it's a very -- a commo n

interview technique to, perhaps, bolster the streng th of the

evidence in order to try to get the person that you  suspect is

guilty to make admissions; is that right?

A. Yes.

Q. And you're told -- you're trained that you can ev en

lie to a suspect during an interview; is that right ?

A. Yes.

Q. And so you don't think there's anything -- or you r

training doesn't tell you that there's anything irr egular or

improper about lying to a suspect during an intervi ew?

A. No.

Q. Okay.  And is that training that you receive thro ugh

Athens-Clarke County Police Department, or is that training

that you had received at P.O.S.T.?

A. That would be training, for me, through Georgia

Public Safety Training Center.

Q. Okay.  And does Athens-Clarke County Police

Department have policies and procedures on intervie wing

suspects in a shooting case?

A. I believe they have a policy on interviewing

suspects.  I'm not sure if it's specifically about shooting

cases though.

Q. Does the policy on interviewing suspects differ a t
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all for juvenile suspects?

A. Not that I can recall.

Q. And what about your training though P.O.S.T., doe s

that dist -- when you're training that you're allow ed to, you

know, lie to suspects during interviews; does that distinguish

between adult suspects and juvenile suspects?

A. No.

Q. I don't have any other questions.  Thank you.

THE COURT:  All right.  Any redirect, Ms. Gonzales?

MS. GONZALES:  No redirect, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  All right.  May Detective Harrison be

excused?  Any objection?

MS. GONZALES:  No objection.

THE COURT:  Mr. Donnelly?

MR. DONNELLY:  No objection.

THE COURT:  All right.  Detective Harrison, you're

free to go, sir.

(Whereupon, the witness exited the courtroom.)

THE COURT:  Do you have any other witnesses, Ms.

Gonzales?

MS. GONZALES:  I do not.

THE COURT:  All right.  The evidence is closed from

the State.

Mr. Donnelly, are you presenting anything today oth er

than argument?
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MR. DONNELLY:  We are not presenting any evidence.

THE COURT:  All right.  The evidence is closed.  Ms .

Gonzales, would you like to make a closing statemen t?

CLOSING ARGUMENT BY MS. GONZALES 

MS. GONZALES:  Yes.  Thank you, Your Honor.

The State believes that it has met its burden of

showing by preponderance of the evidence that when the

defendant was not in custody at the time he made th e

statements, and that when he was in custody he had waived

by being read his Miranda rights and understanding them.

But I'd also like to bring to the Court's attention

Supreme Court case 273 Ga. 865, Bowman v State, tha t is

quoting Allen v State, 283 Ga. 304.  Just want to m ake

sure that the Court is on notice about what this ca se is

talking about, whether a parent is present or not i s not

dispositive to your finding, but it's just another factor

that gets weighed in the determination of whether t he

statement was given willingly and voluntarily by th e

defendant.  And so, we would want that the Court wo uld

deny the defendant's motion to suppress at this tim e.

Thank you.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Mr. Donnelly?

CLOSING ARGUMENT BY MR. DONNELLY 

MR. DONNELLY:  So, the -- I just have a couple case s

that I point the Court towards, and one is a very r ecent
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case, State versus Powell, and that was from the Su preme

Court of Georgia from October 25th, 2022.  So I don 't have

a citation because it just came out, but that discu sses

the -- that's really, I think, states a rule that t he

defendant -- or in that case it's his mother, and t his is

a 15-year-old suspect -- or his mother can exercise  the

right to speak with counsel.  And also if the Court  might

want to look at Boyd, B-O-Y-D, v State, 315 Ga. App ., page

256.  That's also from earlier this year and it's a bout

interviewing juvenile -- the difference between

interviewing juvenile suspects as opposed to adults .

THE COURT:  Do you have any -- I know you don't hav e

a -- you said you didn't have a citation for the Oc tober

case, but do you have a --

MS. ELLIS:  I have it.

THE COURT:  -- any sort of -- you found it?  All

right.  Never mind.  Ms. Ellis already found it.  I  was

going to ask you if you had the E number.  All righ t.  Go

ahead.

MR. DONNELLY:  Well, that's --

THE COURT:  Or the letter.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- I -- we don't dispute the Miranda

was read and that he acknowledged his understanding  and

agreed to speak.  The -- but, what's, I guess, sort  of

goes against some of the language in these cases, y ou
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know, or the factors that are to be considered, and  I

think the State has touched on a lot of them in the ir

questions, but one of them is whether, you know, he 's told

-- and this may be one of the differences between

interviewing adults as opposed to children, but why  he's

there exactly, you know.  Detective Black knew he's  not

leaving here; he's going to be charged with murder.   But

Mr. Hull didn't know that in the interview room, an d it

was very clear that he is very naive to that when h e gets

up and says I want to go see my mother, and he -- h is

reaction is, you know, very telling that he did not  know

that because he gets very upset.  And it's also, I think,

concerning that the police are essentially lying to  him,

saying that we have you on video committing that --  you

know, a murder basically, when they don't and, you know --

so there is some deceit involved in what they're te lling

him.

THE COURT:  Do you think that's different for a

juvenile than an adult defendant?

MR. DONNELLY:  I don't think it's right for an adul t

either, but yes, I definitely think that it's more

improper with a juvenile, and that -- then they als o say

and your -- you know, the other guy says you did it , too,

which is not true either.  And it's -- it has an --  I

mean, you'll see when you watch it, an impact on hi m and
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his aunt are both very disturbed, like what, wait, you

know, and they're -- it's telling, again, their rea ction

and they ask to see the video and there's not, obvi ously

because there is no video, but -- And then, there's

probably not much said after this.  There's just ma ybe a

few minutes after the aunt raises the idea of getti ng a

lawyer.  I would contend it's a little more clear t han the

way Detective Black characterized it, but obviously  the

Court is going to watch how that played out.  He di d not

make that request.  I will -- I don't dispute that,  but,

you know, we think that where the aunt has the auth ority

to do that, that there should've been more of the i nquiry

into it at that point, rather than just letting him

continue to talk.  So -- that's all.  Thanks.

THE COURT:  Okay.  I'm going to ask you a question,

Mr. Donnelly, and, Ms. Gonzales, I'll certainly let  you

respond.  So, my first question is do you, right no w, have

any case law to support the comment you made in res ponse

to my question, which was whether was -- which was related

to law enforcement's tactics in questioning an adul t

versus a juvenile.

MR. DONNELLY:  So I -- in my review of the case law

with interviewing juveniles, I hadn't see one exact ly that

--

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



    54

Charlene W. Vinson
Official Court Reporter

Western Judicial Circuit
404.925.0455

MR. DONNELLY:  -- says that, but there is -- and I

can -- I don't have this in front of me, but I can get it

to you before the end of the day, case law that say s lying

to a suspect is okay --

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- and it's from the Georgia --

THE COURT:  Right.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- Supreme Court.  Lying to a suspec t

is okay as long as it's not designed to elicit a fa lse

statement or false confession.  So there is a limit  to

that tactic that police are allowed to use in

interviewing, and I would say that just given the - - you

know, there are, I guess, you know, five or six thi ngs

that a Court is supposed to look at when the State wants

to admit an incriminating statement of an adult, bu t

there's, you know, twice as many factors that the C ourt is

to consider when considering, you know, the admissi on of

an incriminating statement of a juvenile, and so I would

say that it's common sense that that limitation on the use

of false statements by the police in the interview would

be amplified in the case of a juvenile and that the y

should be more cautious without, you know, the poss ibility

that they're going to get a response that is design ed to

fit what they have just falsely told the juvenile t hat

their evidence already shows.  So --
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THE COURT:  Let me ask you this sort of -- thank yo u.

Let me ask you this sort of question, Mr. Donnelly.   Do

you -- what is your position on the entirety of his

statement?  So, for example --

MR. DONNELLY:  Yeah.

THE COURT:  -- right.  You have a statement here

broken up by the suggestion that the request for co unsel

was invoked; what's your position on that?

MR. DONNELLY:  We'd leave that to the Court's

discretion.

THE COURT:  All right.

MR. DONNELLY:  I mean, I'm really just kind of --

filed this motion to put it out there.  I know --

THE COURT:  Sure.  I understand, it has to be done.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- it has to be done before trial an d

-- but I would certainly -- you know, I really don' t have

an argument.  I'm not waiving anything, but I reall y don't

have an argument up until, say about 8:50 is the ti me on

the thing, about 8:50, but from -- and it starts ar ound 8

or a couple minutes after 8, that that portion is

inadmissible.  I don't have any good argument to ma ke, but

it's really -- at that point is when Detective Blac k

starts giving him this other -- essentially lying t o him

about the strength of the State's evidence and then  he

gets upset and they -- you know, the only thing the y do to
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calm him down, rather than letting him see his moth er, is

put him in handcuffs and it kind of makes things wo rse 

and --

THE COURT:  So your position is that at the 8:50 ma rk

-- regardless of not waiving anything else, your po sition

at the 8:50 mark is that whatever happens at 8:50 a nd

beyond is inadmissible?

MR. DONNELLY:  Well --

THE COURT:  Based on what you've just talked about.

I mean, I know you're asking for the entire stateme nt to

be excluded.

MR. DONNELLY:  I would say that there is -- I'd say

there's a much stronger question of voluntariness o f the

statement.  I mean, we're not talking about Miranda  --

THE COURT:  At 8:50 and beyond.

MR. DONNELLY:  We're not talking about compliance

with Miranda.  The whole --

THE COURT:  I understand.

MR. DONNELLY:  The whole statement would be the

question of voluntariness and so yeah, and I think it just

gets stronger or less -- you know, as it goes from 8:50.

THE COURT:  I see.

MR. DONNELLY:  I don't -- I don't have the time

marked when Ms. Collins, you know, mentions about g etting

counsel.
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THE COURT:  But 8:50 is a moment to you that sugges ts

that the voluntariness is --

MR. DONNELLY:  That's kind of the like --

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- okay, now we need to start, I

think, paying a little closer --

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- attention to --

THE COURT:  I just want to make sure I understand

what you're saying.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- what's going on with the dynamic in

this room and when -- at some point does it become

involuntary.

THE COURT:  Okay.  I just wanted to make sure I

understood what you were saying.  All right.  Thank  you,

Mr. Donnelly.

Ms. Gonzales, do you -- would you like to respond t o

any of the questions that I posed to Mr. Donnelly?  You

don't have to.  I just certainly give you the oppor tunity.

MS. GONZALES:  No.  I would like to point the Court

to Chapman v State, 273 Ga. 865, that states -- tha t

quotes Riley v State, 237 Ga. 124, about the waiver s and

the different factors that the Court is supposed to

consider, and I think as we go through those factor s, like

age of the accused, the education of the accused, t he
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knowledge of the accused as to what they were actua lly

there to talk about, and although they did not spec ify

particular charges, I think they made it very clear  that

the defendant knew the substance of the conversatio n that

they were having.  He was not held incommunicado.  He was

able to consult with his relatives.  His aunt was t here if

they needed to speak.  The length of the interrogat ion, as

you see, he said it was about an hour and a half.  It

wasn't extremely long, in that way, and so you'll b e able

to see the entire interview, and I think if look at  the

different factors that are listed here for the Cour t to

review, you'll see that it is not an issue for us a nd that

they were waived.  Thank you.

COURT'S RULING 

THE COURT:  Thank you.  All right.  Thank you,

Counsel.  I am going to, obviously, look at the int erview,

the entire thing, and I will prepare an order.  If either

party wanted to submit some case law -- I know, Mr.

Donnelly, you just mentioned you had something you wanted

to provide the Court.  You certainly can do that.  I'll

give you until Monday at noon to send it to me by e mail.

It doesn't have to be formal.  You don't have to.  If

there's something that you feel like is important f or me

to look at, you certainly can do that.

Mr. Donnelly, you wanted to say something?
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MR. DONNELLY:  Yes, just about --

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- the exhibit that we introduced.

THE COURT:  Yes.

MR. DONNELLY:  So that -- like I said, we couldn't

get it to play on the case and so they burned it fo r us on

--

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- the flash drive, but that's my on ly

copy.  So I was wondering if -- could I maybe keep it

until I make myself a copy.

THE COURT:  Absolutely, and just deliver it to our

office.  That's fine.

MR. DONNELLY:  Okay.

THE COURT:  I'm not going to get to it today.  You

can ask Ms. Carter and Ms. Williams the reason for that.

They have the entire calendar.  So, I'm not going t o get

to it today.  So if you want to take it and go make  a

copy, I have no -- that would be great.  Thank you.

MR. DONNELLY:  Who should I deliver to your office?

THE COURT:  Do you think you're going to be able to

do that this afternoon?

MR. DONNELLY:  It'll be by tomorrow at the latest.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So --

MS. ELLIS:  We're in Oconee tomorrow.

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25



    60

Charlene W. Vinson
Official Court Reporter

Western Judicial Circuit
404.925.0455

THE COURT:  We are in Oconee tomorrow.

MR. DONNELLY:  I will get it today.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, I mean --

MS. ELLIS:  We have a case with Ms. Williams tomorr ow

in Oconee.

MS. WILLIAMS:  Yeah, I'm there in the afternoon --

THE COURT:  Okay.

MS. WILLIAMS:  -- so I can bring it.

THE COURT:  You can give it to Ms. Williams if you

don't mind doing that and just handing it to us; th at

would be helpful.  If you can get it today, great.  If

not, she'll deliver it.  Thank you.  All right.  If

there's nothing else, then court is adjourned.  Tha nk you.

And, Counsel, we're going to adjourn until --

MR. DONNELLY:  I just --

THE COURT:  I'm sorry.  Okay.  Hang on just a minut e.

Mr. Donnelly, go ahead.

MR. DONNELLY:  We do -- sorry.  I --

THE COURT:  You have something else?

MR. DONNELLY:  Well, yeah.  Just as far as this cas e

going forward.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. DONNELLY:  I mean, obviously, the Court's going

to make its ruling, but we -- I was looking and of course

--
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DEPUTY FOREHAND:  Make sure you delete that.  You

can't take pictures inside of a courtroom.  She's t aking

pictures, just to let you know.

MR. DONNELLY:  We --

THE COURT:  Okay.  Hang on just a minute.  It is --

DEPUTY FOREHAND:  Yeah, but you can't take pictures

inside of a courtroom.

THE COURT:  Okay.  That's all right, but I do want to

explain to everybody who's sitting here that there is the

ability under the law to record circumstances in a

courtroom, but there is a very specific way to get

permission from the Court to be able to do that.  I t's --

we call it the Rule 22.  It is a -- Rule 22, handed  down

by the Supreme Court, and there are certain things that

somebody has to go through in order to get permissi on to

do that, and if that's not done, then you cannot re cord or

take pictures inside of a courtroom, and so I just want

you to understand that and I would ask that you del ete

that picture or whatever it is that was taken.  Tha nk you.

Go ahead, Mr. Donnelly.

MR. DONNELLY:  I --Yeah.  So going forward --

THE COURT:  Yes.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- you know, I think this is sort of

the last pretrial evidentiary issue that --

THE COURT:  Okay.
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MR. DONNELLY:  -- from our point of view.

THE COURT:  All right.

MR. DONNELLY:  There may be -- you know, there's a

co-defendant, so we may file a motion to sever.  Th at

would be a very brief, you know, 10-15 minute argum ent not

involving any witnesses that I would anticipate.

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. DONNELLY:  But other than that, we would ask th e

Court to set it on the January 30th trial calendar.   He's,

you know -- he was 15 when he was arrested.  He's t urning

16 in the -- at the YDC and, you know, it's -- at t hat

point, it'll be close to a year and a half, and, yo u know,

frankly, I can't stand here and say I'm ready this moment,

but --

THE COURT:  Sure.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- we certainly will be because it's

not fair to him.

THE COURT:  All right.

Ms. Gonzales, any response to the defense's request

to put it on the January trial calendar?  And we do  have a

co-defendant, so we need to talk about that.

MS. GONZALES:  Yeah.  I would need to take a look a t

the other trials that are scheduled in that timefra me

before I can give a response.

THE COURT:  Okay.  Let me ask this question, becaus e
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I don't have the other file in front of me.  Who's

representing Mr. David [sic]?

MS. ELLIS:  Mr. Richard.

THE COURT:  Or Mr. Richard?  I always get it

backwards.  I don't mean to do that.

MS. ELLIS:  Mr. Swingle.

THE COURT:  Mr. Swingle.  That's what I thought.  I

have not heard from Mr. Swingle about scheduling an y

motions.  Has the State heard from him about schedu ling

anything?

MS. GONZALES:  Nothing, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Are you going to file a motion to sever ,

Mr. Donnelly, or you don't know yet?  It's possible .  You

don't have to commit to it.

MR. DONNELLY:  I assume that I am and I could

withdraw it, but I --

THE COURT:  Okay.

MR. DONNELLY:  -- I'll do that.

THE COURT:  All right.

MR. DONNELLY:  And -- yes.

THE COURT:  All right.  I agree with you, Mr.

Donnelly.  This case needs to be put on a trial cal endar

very soon.  No question about it.  And I have been

thinking about it.  I didn't want to have the conve rsation

necessarily yet because I need to hear from Mr. Swi ngle,
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but knowing that you are, at the moment, filing an oral

motion to dismiss -- I mean, to sever.  And I don't  know

your response, Ms. Gonzales.  I'm not going to ask you for

one today.  I mean, I know you're coming into the c ase

late too and certainly give you time to consider wh at your

response is going to be, if any.  This is what I'd like to

do.  Mr. Donnelly, if you are going to file that mo tion,

if you can get that motion filed as soon as you fee l like

you need to, I'll get it scheduled as soon as possi ble.

It's not going to get scheduled until the beginning  of

2023.  I hesitate to put it on the January 30th tri al

calendar for lots of reasons.  I need both sides to  have

enough time to get ready, but I certainly am not

overruling that request.  The next trial calendar w e have

after January is February 20th, a little less than a month

from January 30th, and that is certainly another

possibility.  The next trial calendar we have after  that

is March 20th.  So, I'm going to reach out to Mr. S wingle,

find out what his status is.  If you want to go ahe ad and

file that motion, I will take your request under

advisement.  Ms. Gonzales, if you can get back to t he

Court and let me know sort of what your position is  about

scheduling the trial.  You can send an email to me and

include Mr. Donnelly, and we can maybe take it from  there.

Go ahead.
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MS. GONZALES:  Thank you.

THE COURT:  Yes, ma'am.  All right.  Anything else,

Mr. Donnelly, on behalf of Mr. Hull?  All right.  M s.

Gonzales, anything else on behalf of the State?

MS. GONZALES:  No.  Thank you.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  All right.  Court is

adjourned, and we are going to start back up an hou r

afternoon session in a half an hour.

 (Whereupon, the proceedings concluded at 1:19 p.m. )
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